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U.S.-CHINA ECONOMIC AND SECURITY REVIEW COMMISSION

OCTOBER 14, 2003

The Honorable TED STEVENS,

President Pro Tempore of the U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C. 20510
The Honorable J. DENNIS HASTERT,

Speaker of the House, Washington, D.C. 20515

DEAR SENATOR STEVENS AND SPEAKER HASTERT:

On behalf of the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission, we are
pleased to transmit the record of our hearing on September 25, 2003, on “China’s
Industrial, Investment and Exchange Rate Policies: Impact on the United States.”
These issues are at the forefront of U.S.-China economic relations, particularly in
light of the impact that China’s exchange rate and industrial policies are having on
global investment trends and on U.S. manufacturing and trade deficits. We are
aware that both the Executive Branch and Congress are examining initiatives to ad-
dress U.S. concerns in this area and therefore we outline here several of the Com-
mission’s key findings and recommendations arising from our hearing and research
activities to help inform Congressional deliberations.

As you know, the Commission is mandated by law (P.L. 108-7, Division P) to ex-
amine, among other areas, China’s economic policies and the United States trade
and investment relationship with China, including assessing the qualitative and
quantitative nature of the shift of United States production activities to China. This
latter charge includes examining the relocation of high-technology, manufacturing
and R&D facilities to China and the effect of these transfers on United States eco-
nomic security, employment and the standard of living of the American people.

At our September 25 hearing, the Commission heard testimony from a number
of Members of both the House and Senate, including the principal sponsors of var-
ious Congressional initiatives designed to address China’s exchange rate practices.
Representing bipartisan Congressional concerns, these Senators and House Mem-
bers have introduced differing bills aimed at providing appropriate incentives to the
Chinese government to end its apparent mercantilist trade policies, most particu-
larly its artificially undervalued currency, as well as other unfair trade practices
such as export subsidies, dumping, and other WT'O-inconsistent practices. The Mem-
bers testified that such practices by China amounted to a forced redistribution of
trading and investment balances that violate the principles of free and fair trade
embodied in China’s WTO accession obligations as well as in its bilateral trade ar-
rangements with the United States and other international agreements, such as the
IMF charter. One result of China’s unfair trade practices has been its rapid accumu-
lation of foreign exchange reserves, now totaling some $355 billion, the second high-
est in the world after Japan.

Exchange rate policies. Based on our examination of this issue, it appears clear
that China continues to follow a policy of one-way market interventions by the gov-
ernment to maintain its currency at a level that economists estimate is between 15—
40 percent undervalued. In this regard, China is purchasing U.S. dollars at an esti-
mated rate of $120 billion per year to prevent appreciation of its currency against
the dollar. In assessing causes of the worsening U.S. trade deficit and loss of U.S.
manufacturing jobs, some hearing witnesses argued that the lack of net new savings
in the U.S. economy, the global mobility of factors of production and/or low labor
costs in China were the principal factors. In any event, based on the evidence pre-
sented, we believe the inappropriate exchange rate between the Chinese yuan and
the dollar is negatively impacting the competitiveness of U.S. manufactured goods
and is contributing to a migration of world manufacturing capacity to China and
an erosion of the U.S. manufacturing base.

Section 3004 of the Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act of 1988 (22 U.S.C.
Sec. 5304) requires annual reports from the Department of Treasury on foreign
countries’ exchange rate policies and requires the Secretary to enter into negotia-
tions on an expedited basis with countries found to be manipulating their currencies
to gain an unfair competitive trade advantage. Past reports from the Treasury on
China have sidestepped this conclusion, which appears now to be inescapable. The
Commission believes it is clear that China, in violation of both its IMF and WTO
obligations, is in fact manipulating its currency for trade advantage and therefore
finds it imperative that the Treasury immediately and forcefully enter into negotia-
tions with the Chinese government to resolve this matter. China’s continued mainte-
nance of an undervalued exchange rate with the U.S. dollar will continue to promote
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major distortions in the flow of trade and investment, to the detriment of American
companies and workers, and therefore requires decisive action by Washington.

Recommendation: The Treasury Department should make a determination in
its foreign country exchange rate report to Congress that China is engaged in ma-
nipulating the rate of exchange between its currency and the U.S. dollar to gain
an unfair competitive trade advantage and immediately enter into formal negotia-
tions with the Chinese government over this matter. Should these efforts prove
ineffective, the Commission urges the Congressional leadership to use its legisla-
tive powers to force action by the U.S. and Chinese governments to address this
unfair and mercantilist trade practice. For the near future, continued vigorous de-
velopment of such legislative initiatives as were outlined by Members of Congress
during our hearing, linking China’s performance on its exchange rate policies to
its continued full access to the U.S. market, appears essential to ensure the ap-
propriate level of effort by both governments to this matter.

China’s Investment and Industrial Policies. China has attracted a total of over
$400 billion of foreign direct investment (FDI), most of it in the last six years. This
compares with $1.3 trillion for the U.S., $497 billion for the U.K., $482 billion for
Belgium-Luxemburg, and $480 billion for Germany. As FDI flows to China are now
expanding by over $50 billion per year, China will soon have accumulated the sec-
ond largest stock of FDI in the world.

Our hearing indicated that China’s undervalued currency is just one of several
factors behind that country’s success in attracting massive inflows of FDI, particu-
larly into its manufacturing sector. Our hearing examined the extent to which Chi-
na’s industrial policies have played a role. In this regard, we learned that:

e China has pursued industrial policies that have catalyzed its growth as a manu-
facturing powerhouse, particularly in increasingly higher-technology production.
The Chinese government has designated a number of “pillar industries” and
pursued a strategy of “picking winners” among China’s emerging high-tech or
industrial enterprises.

e Manufacturers in China are supported through a wide range of national indus-
trial policies, which include: tariffs; limitations on foreign firms’ access to do-
mestic marketing channels; requirements for technology transfer by foreign in-
vestors; government selection of partners for major international joint ventures;
preferential loans from state banks; privileged access to listings on national and
international stock markets; tax relief; privileged access to land; and direct sup-
port for R&D from the government budget.

Recommendation: The United States Trade Representative and the Department
of Commerce should identify whether any of China’s industrial policies are incon-
sistent with its WTO obligations and engage with the Chinese government to
mitigate those that are significantly impacting U.S. market access. Appropriate
Congressional Committees should be fully briefed on the actions the agencies are
taking to resolve these issues.

Recommendation: The Commission believes it is essential that U.S. policy-
makers have a clearer, more comprehensive, and timely picture of global invest-
ment and R&D flows to China, particularly in the manufacturing sector. The
Commission’s 2002 Report to Congress urged Congress to consider establishing an
enhanced, mandated corporate reporting system to capture better this information
by requiring firms to report “their initial investments in China; any technology
transfer, offset, or R&D cooperation agreed to as part of the investment; the shift
of production capacity and job relocations resulting from the investment, both
from within the United States to overseas and from one overseas location to an-
other; and contracting relationships with Chinese firms.” We believe the need for
such a system has only increased in urgency since our 2002 Report and again
urge Congress to consider taking such action.

Impact on U.S. Economy. In his September 15, 2003 prepared remarks at the De-
troit Economic Club, Commerce Secretary Don Evans reports that “the President be-
lieves that our economic and national security require a stable, robust manufacturing
sector that produces sophisticated and strategically significant goods here, in the
United States.” Manufacturing employs 14 percent of the American workforce, but
has accounted for nearly 90 percent of all the job losses since total U.S. employment
peaked in March 2001. Over 2.7 million American factory jobs have been lost over
the past three years, roughly one in every six manufacturing jobs.

At our September 25th hearing the Commission heard testimony that supported
a conclusion that China’s undervalued currency and government investment strate-
gies are having a deleterious effect on the competitiveness of U.S. manufactured
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goods and contributing to a migration of world manufacturing capacity to China,
with a concurrent erosion of the U.S. manufacturing base.

Recommendation: The Commission believes that the President’s pending Manu-
facturing Initiative should include provisions that strengthen the competitiveness
of U.S.-based manufacturers in light of the growing shift of production to China,
especially high-tech and R&D. The Initiative should address de facto Chinese gov-
ernment subsidies, particularly those not covered under the WTO, such as tax in-
centives, preferential access to credit, capital, and materials, and investment con-
ditions requiring technology transfers.

It is the hope of the Commission that the results of this hearing will contribute
to the fashioning of legislation by the Congress which will help to illuminate the
economic impact that China is having on U.S. producers, better identify unfair Chi-
nese trade practices, and steer Chinese economic practice into more sustainable and
fairer channels.

Yours truly,

Roger W. Robinson, Jr. C. Richard D’Amato
Chairman Vice Chairman
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CHINA’S INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND
EXCHANGE RATE POLICIES: IMPACT ON
THE UNITED STATES

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2003

U.S.-CHINA ECONOMIC AND SECURITY REVIEW COMMISSION,
Washington, D.C.

The Commission met in Room 124, Dirksen Senate Office Build-
ing, Washington, D.C. at 8:54 a.m., Commissioners Patrick A.
Mulloy and June Teufel Dreyer (Hearing Co-Chairs), presiding.

OPENING REMARKS OF CHAIRMAN ROGER W. ROBINSON, JR.

Chairman ROBINSON. We would like to begin this morning at this
time. This is the third hearing of our second year reporting cycle
at the Commission. Today’s subject, as you know, is China’s Indus-
tSrial Investment and Exchange Rate Policies: Impact on the United

tates.

We are delighted that Representative English is with us today,
and we’'d like to hear from him and other Members first. Accord-
ingly, I'd like to turn it over to our Vice Chairman, Dick D’Amato
and then to our Co-Chairs.

The Co-Chairs of our hearing today will be Commissioners Pat-
rick Mulloy and Dr. June Teufel Dreyer. Commissioner Mulloy will
preside over the morning session. Dr. Dreyer will be taking the
gavel this afternoon.

I'm now pleased to turn over our deliberations to Commission
Vice Chairman Dick D’Amato for a brief statement, and he in turn
will move it to the Co-Chairs. Thank you.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Chairman Roger W. Robinson, Jr.

Today the Commission holds the third in its series of hearings during the 108th
Congress.

Our first two hearings, in June and July, focused on the important topics of media
control in China—specifically how it played out during the SARS outbreak—and on
China’s behavior with respect to the critical issue of the proliferation of weapons of
mass destruction and ballistic missiles, with a focus on China’s pivotal role in the
ongoing nuclear crisis with North Korea.

Today we will be examining issues on the economic security side of our portfolio,
namely China’s exchange rate policies and industrial and investment strategies and
their impact on the U.S. economy, particularly our manufacturing sector. These
issues are currently receiving substantial media attention, but have been in our
{nalllndate and on our research agenda from the first year of the Commission’s estab-
ishment.

Indeed, in quoting one of the findings from our first annual report to the Congress
in July 2002, “Continuing trade surpluses, vast investment inflows, and very high
foreign exchange reserves are evidence that China is manipulating its currency by
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holding down its value thereby gaining an unfair trade advantage that increases the
U.S. trade deficit.”

In America, people in varying capacities—business, labor, academia, the media
and government—have come to better understand the almost tectonic economic
forces now shaping the U.S.-China economic relationship. With increasing sophis-
tication, China has become a manufacturing powerhouse. Its central and local gov-
ernment policies have supported development of key industrial sectors. In the
1990’s, China became embedded in what has become a global supply chain for many
traded products and saw its share of global trade in manufactured goods triple.

In the meantime, there is increasing unease in the U.S. over the declining share
of manufacturing output and employment in our overall economy. And this is hap-
pening while China’s currency—the yuan—remains pegged to the U.S. dollar at a
rate set by government fiat nine years ago. What are the causes and effects here?
What are the key linkages? Are there steps the U.S. should be pursuing to remedy
these challenging and, in some cases, debilitating circumstances?

Today we will be exploring these and other important questions with a distin-
guished group of panelists. We are particularly honored that we will be joined by
several Members of the House and Senate, from both sides of the aisle, who will
lead off the hearing by giving us their perspectives on these crucial matters. The
Congress is profoundly concerned about the issues we are discussing today, and a
number of Members have introduced thoughtful legislation to address these con-
cerns. We look forward to working with the Congress as it moves forward in its con-
sideration of appropriate remedies.

The co-chairs of our hearing today will be Commissioners Patrick Mulloy and Dr.
June Teufel Dreyer. Commissioner Mulloy will preside over the morning session and
Dr. Dreyer will take the gavel after lunch. I am now pleased to turn the hearing
over to Commissioner Mulloy and our distinguished Congressional guests.

OPENING REMARKS OF VICE CHAIRMAN C. RICHARD D’AMATO

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman,
and I thank Commissioners Mulloy and Dreyer for organizing this
important hearing.

I want to welcome Congressman English for coming before us
this morning on this very important matter. I want to commend
you for the legislative actions you are taking with others to address
modern Chinese mercantilism, now pouring tens of billions of dol-
lars of U.S. investment technology and manufacturing resource un-
fairly in many ways into China. This distorted transfer of U.S. eco-
nomic treasury to Beijing is now so big that Congress has told this
Commission to evaluate the implications for U.S. national security
and identify what tools we have to put the brakes on this transfer.
We look forward to your thoughts on what tools are now necessary
to address this problem, as we explore the options that are avail-
able to us.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Vice Chairman C. Richard D’Amato

Thank you, Mr. Chairman and I thank Commissioners Mulloy and Dreyer for or-
ganizing this important hearing today. I welcome Congressman English, Senators
Schumer, Dorgan, and Graham, Congressmen Manzullo, Stenholm and Levin, other
Members, and commend you for the legislative actions you are taking to address
modern Chinese mercantilism, now pouring ten’s of billions of U.S. investment, tech-
nology and manufacturing resources unfairly into China. This distorted transfer of
U.S. economic treasure to Beijing is now so big that Congress has told this Commis-
sion to evaluate the implications for U.S. national security, and identify what tools
we have to put the brakes on it. We look forward to your thoughts on actions that
are now necessary, and explore the options that are available to us.

The creation of this Commission in the winter of 2000, during the debate over giv-
ing China most favored trade status on a permanent basis was predicated on sev-
eral important assertions. First, the Clinton Administration stated that granting
such status and admission to the WTO was predicated on the assumption that
China would play by the rules of the international trade game, certainly not pro-
mote permanent unfair subsidies or mercantilist practices. Second, the National Se-
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curity Advisor, Sandy Berger, stated repeatedly that it was in America’s “vital na-
tional security interests” for China to be granted these important trade concessions.
A third assertion was that increased economic growth and higher standards of living
in China would lead to democratic reforms, and the eventual extinction of wide-
spread tyranny practiced at home by the Communist rulers.

So far, these assertions do not appear to be playing themselves out. China still
has a poor record of honoring its promises and agreements, and this hearing focuses
on one of the most important and glaring: artificially pegged exchange rates cal-
culated to give China across the board highly unfair advantages vis-a-vis its so-
called trading “partners.” Second, this Commission has been created to examine the
questions of the national security implications of the policies practiced by both the
Clinton and Bush Administrations vis-a-vis China on trade. The large scale and in-
creasing sophistication of U.S. resources being transferred, with increasingly impor-
tant high technology components, is adversely effecting our basic economic founda-
tions from a strategic perspective. Third, democratic reforms have been squelched
in China, after some brief flicker of hope in connection with the SARS health crisis.
Openness is still treated as an enemy of the governing regime. The regime main-
tains tyrannical practices in a widespread gulag against its own people.

Given these realities, the question today is what actions Congress should promote
to push these trends in healthier directions for our own national interest.

OPENING REMARKS OF COMMISSIONER JUNE TEUFEL DREYER
HEARING CO-CHAIR

Co-Chairman DREYER. Our focus this morning is on the yuan’s
value, China’s exchange rate policies, and relevant policy options
for the U.S. Government.

This afternoon we will shift focus, first to look at the dynamics
of China’s strategies for attracting foreign investment and chan-
neling both domestic and foreign resources into key industries and
technologies. Many observers of China believe this topic, and not
just the exchange rate question, is key to assessing the overall im-
pact of China’s economic policies and development on the U.S.
economy.

I look forward to hearing the testimony of our panelists. Thank
you.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Commissioner June Teufel Dreyer
Hearing Co-Chair

Our focus this morning is on the yuan’s value, China’s exchange rate policies, and
relevant policy options for the U.S. Government.

This afternoon we will shift focus, first to look at the dynamics of China’s strate-
gies for attracting foreign investment and channeling both domestic and foreign re-
sources into key industries and technologies. Many observers of China believe this
topic, and not just the exchange rate question, is key to assessing the overall impact
of China’s economic policies and development on the U.S. economy.

This afternoon we will be considering the factors behind the remarkable growth
of manufacturing capacity in China, now labeled the “workshop of the world” for the
21st century, and what the implications are for the U.S. economy. One obvious driv-
ing force is the global search for low-cost production of quality goods, which has led
to increased domestic and foreign investment in expanding such production capacity
in China. Low-cost labor is often the determining factor here. But other factors in
this growth in capacity may stem from the Chinese government’s own industrial
policies—for example its designation of so-called “pillar industries”—as well as pol-
icy and financial support for key manufacturing, infrastructure, S&T and R&D
projects. Other factors may be more related to globalization in general than China
in particular, such as the way transnational corporations operate globally integrated
manufacturing and distribution networks with China as an important node embed-
ded in this web of production. Another key factor at work here is the speed with
which Chinese manufacturing and R&D are moving up the value chain to encom-
pass more technologically advanced products and research.

We will first hear from three expert witnesses who have studied the development
of China’s export-oriented manufacturing sector and its connection to the global sup-
ply chain. Professor Peter Nolan of Cambridge University has written extensively
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about China’s connection to what he calls the Global Business Revolution. Professor
Ed Steinfeld of MIT has researched China’s industrial policy and done case studies
of large Chinese firms’ performance in the domestic and global marketplace. Kate
Walsh, Senior Associate of the Stimson Center, has done field research and written
a recent monograph on the growth of foreign-funded research and development ac-
tivities in China. Each panelist comes at the question of China’s industrial and in-
vestment priorities and strategies from a different angle, and I expect we will obtain
a good three-dimensional picture from their testimony and follow-on discussion.

In the second and final panel of the afternoon, we will hear testimony from four
witnesses with differing perspectives on the question of how the U.S. economy is
being affected by China’s exchange rate, industrial and investment policies and
trends. Our panelists will be: Frank Vargo, of the National Association of Manufac-
turers; Thea Lee, of the AFL-CIO; Paul Craig Roberts, Chairman of the Institute
for Political Economy and a former Assistant Secretary of the Treasury; and Willard
Workman, of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce. I expect their statements and follow-
up dialogue with Commissioners will reveal a broad range of views and different
emphases on policy prescriptions.

OPENING REMARKS OF COMMISSIONER PATRICK A. MULLOY
HEARING CO-CHAIR

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman English, thank you very
much. As a fellow Pennsylvanian, I am delighted that you are here
with us. Please go ahead.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Commissioner Patrick A. Mulloy
Hearing Co-Chair

I am very pleased to have been asked by Chairman Robinson and Vice Chairman
D’Amato to co-chair, along with Commissioner June Teufel Dreyer, a noted China
scholar, this hearing on China’s exchange rate, industrial, and investment strategies
and their impact on the U.S. economy.

This bipartisan commission was created by the Congress in October 2000. It is
composed of 12 Commissioners, three of whom were appointed by each of the Con-
gressional leaders in both the House and Senate. It issued its first report to the
Congress in July 2002 by a vote of 11-1, which signifies our bipartisan consensus
on the key issues in U.S.-China relations within the Commission’s mandate.

One of the tasks we have been given by the Congress is to “analyze and assess
the qualitative and quantitative nature of the shift of United States production ac-
tivities to China, including the relocation of high technology, manufacturing, and
R&D facilities.” We were also asked to examine the effect of such transfers on
United States economic security, employment, and the standard of living of the
American people. In addition, Congress asked us to assess “the need for corporate
reporting on United States investments in China and incentives that China may be
offering to United States corporations to relocate production and R&D to China.”

In keeping with this mandate, today’s hearing will focus on the increasingly com-
plex and dynamic factors in the U.S.-China trade and investment relationship.
These issues rise amidst concerns in our country over the large loss of manufac-
turing jobs in our economy in recent years, the continued shrinking of manufac-
turing output as a percentage of U.S. total production, and the ongoing shift of in-
vestment capital and manufacturing employment abroad, notably to China and
other Asian countries.

We look at these issues in the context of Commerce Secretary Evans’ statement
of September 16 that “the President believes that our economic and national secu-
rity require a stable, robust manufacturing sector that produces sophisticated goods
here in the United States.” The Commerce Department is leading the Administra-
tion’s effort to craft a manufacturing strategy to help meet the current challenge
posed by the ongoing erosion of our manufacturing sector, and we will be following
these developments closely.

I would like to note that we extended invitations to both the Treasury and Com-
merce Departments to participate today and share their perspectives with us on the
Administration’s exchange rate discussions with China and its manufacturing sector
initiatives. Unfortunately, the key officials on these matters were unable to attend,
but both Departments will be submitting statements for the record. The Commerce
Department has committed to testify before the Commission on its manufacturing
strategy later this year and we hope to hear directly from the Treasury on its
progress with China on exchange rates at a later date as well.
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At today’s hearing we are fortunate to be able to hear from a bipartisan group
of distinguished Members from both Houses of Congress to give us Congressional
perspectives on the issues before us. Among those we will hear from are Senators
Dorgan of North Dakota, Schumer of New York, and Graham of South Carolina and
Congressmen Manzullo of Illinois, Chairman of the House Small Business Com-
mittee, Levin of Michigan and Stenholm of Texas. We very much appreciate their
taking time to be with us today and look forward to their testimony.

On our second panel this morning we will hear from some of the top experts in
the country on China’s exchange rate policies. We will hear differing and sometimes
conflicting views on whether China’s effort to peg its currency, the yuan, at about
8.3 to the dollar, constitutes an unfair trade practice, and whether such pegging has
a positive or detrimental effect on the U.S. economy. These experts are:

C. Fred Bergsten, Director of the International Institute for Economics;
David Hale, Chief Economist and Founder, Hale Advisors, LLC;
Ernest Preeg, Adjunct Fellow, the Hudson Institute; and

Stephen Roach, Chief Economist, Morgan Stanley

My co-chair, Dr. Dreyer, will preside over and introduce the two afternoon panels,
but let me provide a preview.

In the first panel after lunch we will hear from three noted experts on China’s
efforts to attract foreign investment to help build its industrial and research and
development base: Prof. Peter Nolan of Cambridge University; Prof. Ed Steinfeld of
MIT; and Kate Walsh, Senior Associate at the Stimson Center in Washington.

The last panel of the day will explore the concrete impact of our economic engage-
ment with China on the U.S. economy. The four panelists will be: Frank Vargo, Vice
President for International Economic Affairs at the National Association of Manu-
facturers; Thea Lee, Chief International Economist of the AFL—CIO; the Honorable
Paul Craig Roberts, Chairman of the Institute for Political Economy and a former
Assistant Secretary of the Treasury; and Willard Workman, Senior Vice President
of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce.

We hope the knowledgeable views brought together in this hearing room today
will contribute to the research and debate now taking place in America as we try
to devise appropriate strategies to deal with the economic challenges presented by
China’s fast-growing economy.

CONGRESSIONAL PERSPECTIVES

STATEMENT OF PHIL ENGLISH
A U.S. CONGRESSMAN FROM THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA

Congressman ENGLISH. I want to thank the Members of the
Commission and the Co-Chairs. It is a real privilege to be able to
appear today and offer my views on U.S.-China trade. This is per-
haps the single largest economic issue in my district right now. It
is an issue where I believe Americans, and particularly people who
work for a living, demand a quick resolution and serious action
from Washington.

Your hearing and the focus of this Commission are particularly
important in that process and in that debate. The topics this hear-
ing will assess are of critical importance to me and of my district
in Northwestern Pennsylvania, which has a large concentration of
manufacturing jobs.

When President Clinton approved China’s entry into the WTO in
1999, many believed a new era of opportunity for U.S. businesses
and workers had opened. Those in Congress like myself, who were
a little skeptical, viewed this opportunity as potentially one fraught
with risks. Yet we voted to grant permanent normal trade relations
to China as our piece of moving that process forward, but only after
insisting that special safeguards relating to Chinese imports be in-
cluded. I want to particularly thank my colleague, Mr. Levin, for
leading that fight and making sure those provisions were included.

Looking back to China’s accession to the WTO, I want to deliver
to you a very clear message. Few of the benefits that had been in-
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tended for America have been realized because China has not abid-
ed by the terms of their international commitments. While the cur-
rent Administration has developed some steps to develop a com-
prehensive strategy to ensure China plays by the rules, these steps
must be broadened, accelerated and strengthened. This is where I
believe Congress and the Administration must be prepared to work
in unison. Congress has already provided many of the tools the Ad-
ministration needs to apply leverage to encourage Chinese compli-
ance with their international obligations. It is up to Congress to
maintain a watchful eye so that those tools are fully and properly
used, and every time they are needed in order to provide U.S. man-
ufacturers and agricultural producers a level playing field.

Congress must strengthen the Administration’s hand, but if the
Administration does not act, we also need to move forward to force
their hand.

The U.S. trade deficit, frankly, Commissioners, has doubled since
1998 vis-a-vis China and it has exceeded $100 billion for the second
year in a row. This is a serious concern to Congress because it re-
flects a large number of distortions that China employs to place
U.S. employers and workers at a growing disadvantage.

I hear a lot of rhetoric in Washington about free trade, but I am
here to say to you that Chinese State-sponsored mercantilism is
not free trade, and we need to be prepared to act to make sure that
in the international trading system China, as it enters, it enters it
with the understanding that it must follow the rules. While I un-
derstand that participation in an open and fair global economic sys-
tem is essential to U.S. economic growth and job opportunities,
when China breaks the rules the U.S. suffers the consequences.
There are many reasons I suspect domestically why China feels
that they have to do the things that they do, but whatever prob-
lems China has in their economy they should not be permitted to
export to our economy.

I would like to mention very briefly, Mr. Co-Chairman, a couple
of the specifics that concern us about China. Under the heading of
currency manipulation, this is widely seen as providing an unfair
advantage to Chinese producers. Even though China joined the
WTO and nominally embraced a rules-based regime, they still see
it in their interest to pursue a policy of state-sponsored mer-
cantilism that is most importantly grounded in a manipulation of
their exchange rate.

To correct this destructive WTO illegal trade distortion I have in-
troduced H.R. 3058, the China Act. While there have been three
bills and one resolution introduced in Congress on this topic, this
legislation enjoys the most robust co-sponsorship, currently it is co-
sponsored by over 60 Members of the House of Representatives.
The premise of the legislation is straightforward. It requires the
Secretary of the Treasury to determine if China is manipulating its
currency to gain an advantage in trade. If the Secretary finds ma-
nipulation is occurring, then he is directed to impose a tariff equal
to the degree of distortion being imposed.

Chinese currency manipulation beggars Chinese consumers. It
also beggars our producers. Ultimately it is something that econo-
mists will say is unsustainable, but in the short term, given the
large foreign reserves that China is holding, they appear to be able
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to get away with it, and at our expense. In other words, our bill
would create a countervailing duty mechanism to deal with cur-
rency manipulation, an issue that is not dealt with adequately
within the WTO dispute resolution process. This is a measure that
actually levels the playing field. It strips China of their ability to
give themselves an arbitrary advantage. It is a flexible tariff and
it can be adjusted to meet the actual extent of the distortions from
the artificial undervaluation of the yuan.

In addition we need to address the non-tariff barriers that China
has been imposing on our products. China’s non-tariff barriers con-
tribute to the enormous trade imbalance by strangling U.S. exports
to China. Chinese non-tariff barriers affect every sector of the U.S.
economy. A complete lack of transparency exists as China transi-
tions to a rules-based economy. China provides only fleeting win-
dows for public comment if any at all. No uniformity exists between
localities for licensing requirements or import permits.

Furthermore—and this is very important—China’s value-added
tax policies are designed to favor domestic products at the expense
of imports, and China’s border trade policy places U.S. producers
at a disadvantage by providing a tax break to neighboring coun-
tries simply by virtue of being neighbors. This is a clear violation
of the WTO standards.

Perhaps the most egregious non-tariff barrier is the complete dis-
regard for intellectual property rights. U.S. licensed trademarks
are routinely used illegally on Chinese manufactured goods, costing
U.S. producers billions of dollars annually.

Also, I would note there is widespread evidence that subsidies
are still a major part of China’s means of doing business. State-
owned enterprises engaged in the production of sensitive or stra-
tegic goods are particularly large beneficiaries of government sub-
sidy. All of these issues have the effect of putting our products at
a competitive disadvantage. I believe that it is critical that Con-
gress and the Administration act now to address these problems.

I have further testimony, but I would like to submit it for the
record. If I could field any questions, Mr. Co-Chairman?

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Congressman English, Senator Lindsey
Graham is also here. If Senator Graham would want to come up
and perhaps join you, and then if he wants to make his statement,
and then if you both have time, we would open it up to a few ques-
tions.

STATEMENT OF LINDSEY GRAHAM
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Senator GRAHAM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I guess my comment would be amen to what Phil said. There is
no use restating all the facts and figures given to you. You know
those better than I. I just come here from South Carolina, and one
thing I have learned in the last couple of years is that everywhere
I go the manufacturing community at home keeps bringing up one
topic, Chinese competition.

We have lost 2.7 million jobs in the last three years. 2.6 million
of them have been manufacturing. Something is going on out there.
I do not believe that our workforce is lazy. I do not believe that we
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are intellectually inferior, and I certainly do not believe that about
the Chinese people. We have a clash of theories here.

He has described to you the trade balance has doubled. The Chi-
nese exports to the United States have doubled in the last five
years. In ’97 to 2002 they have gone from 62 billion to 125 billion.
We have been able to increase our exports to China from 13 to 19.
Something is going on.

Let me tell you what is going on at home. We have lost 250 tex-
tile plants. I know a lot of people say, well, that is high-intensive
labor type production and you are just not going to make it in the
21st century. Well, if we do not make it, so be it. I just do not want
to not make it because other people cheat. China cheats. We have
a clash of theories here. The theory of free trade is a great theory.
It only works if the other people will buy into that theory. We have
a clash of theories of how you run your government. It is hard to
have free trade if you do not believe in free speech. Somebody in
our government has got to come to grips with the idea that we are
dealing with a country that cheats. And it is a communist dictator-
ship, and what do you expect?

Other problems exist. The European Union I think unfairly re-
stricts market access in the agricultural arena because of genetic
manipulation arguments. In Mexico they do the same. Other coun-
tries play around with the rules, and maybe we do at time, but the
difference between the European Union, Mexico and other parts of
the world, and China, is that China is set up in a totally different
manner. It is hard to get a government to buy into being a member
of the world of nations when that government is so out of sync with
everything else that goes around free trade. Democracies will be
able to work these problems out. The only way you are going to get
China’s attention in my opinion is to be hard and to ask for one
thing, fairness.

I have introduced a resolution with Senator Schumer, and if you
got any doubt about the political spectrum this covers, Lindsey
Graham and Chuck Schumer on the same bill.

That does not happen a lot in the Senate. Chuck and I see things
very similar. South Carolina and New York are a world apart in
many ways, but we buy into the basic value system that holds this
country together, and we have come together to understand that
our companies in this country will not be able to long survive if we
do not deal with China in an aggressive fashion, and that is the
only thing that country will understand.

Steel. There are two steel plants in my State that are about to
go under. The Chinese steel market has doubled to 20 percent of
the world market share in the last 10 years, and the way they have
been able to do that is that the government subsidizes the steel in-
dustry. It is pretty hard to convince somebody in South Carolina
they are going to be okay if they are competing with a Chinese
competitor and the government in China pays the power bill, be-
cause we are not going to pay their power bill.

So I implore you to speak as freely and as openly as you can, call
it as you see it. The currency valuation problem is what we are
talking about with Chuck Schumer. It is only the tip of the iceberg.
It is something that is readily obvious to most people who are a lot
smarter than I am, that they are cheating when it comes to manip-
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ulating their currency. But it goes deeper. The fundamental prob-
lem is that China is trying to get an advantage and they do not
have many rules in their own country, and the rules that they do
have are pretty harsh. To expect them to play by the rules without
pushing back is going to be absolutely impossible to achieve, and
the most disturbing thing is that the growth in the Chinese econ-
omy is not being shared by its people, because one of the reasons
we are losing jobs is because you can build a plant in China and
people work for a dollar a day. There is no OSHA. There are no
minimum wages. China is taking advantage of trade regimes. They
are cheating and they are taking the money to build up their mili-
tary. It is lose-lose.

It is time for us to stand up and do something about it. We need
your help. Thank you very much.

With that, I am going to have to leave, and Phil can answer the
questions far better than I can anyway. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Senator, thank you very much.

Senator GRAHAM. Thank you.

Discussion, Questions and Answers

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman English, both you and Sen-
ator Graham have introduced bills that would put tariffs on the
Chinese if the Treasury determines that they are a currency ma-
nipulator.

Congressman ENGLISH. Yes.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Senator Graham implied that the issues
with China though are not just currency, that there are a lot
broader things going on here. So even if the bills were passed and
the tariffs were put on, what are the other priority issues that you
think that the U.S. has to go after in terms of putting more balance
in this economic relationship?

Congressman ENGLISH. Mr. Co-Chairman, I must tell you that I
think even if China floats its currency, which many economists be-
lieve is absolutely essential for it to offer a level playing field, with
what we calculate to be a 40 percent distortion in the price of Chi-
nese products exported to the United States, a 40 percent under-
valuation just because of the currency factor. Even if we were to
deal with that and China were to accede to our wishes, they would
still have a range of core issues that I think they would have to
address even for a level playing field with the comparative dis-
advantages that Mr. Graham has described.

One of the issues that I do not think attracts enough attention
has to do with distortions that are the result of China’s tax regime,
which has been evolving rather slowly. They have put in place a
value-added tax that gives their products a competitive advantage
because of the way it is applied. What is particularly disturbing is
that that includes an explicit preference for neighbors.

For example, American chemical companies cannot compete with
Russian chemical companies for products that are not specialized
because we are talking about a product with a relatively thin profit
margin typically, something that is generally available and is
mass-produced, a typical manufactured product. With a product
like that, a relatively modest price differential makes a huge dif-
ference, and for chemicals produced in the United States to be
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shipped into China, they have imposed on them not only a substan-
tial tariff structure, but also a layer of taxation that is not applied
to competitors coming in from Russia. This puts many of our prod-
ucts, products that we expected to be able to sell in China at an
enormous competitive disadvantage.

There are others. I mean there are tariff laws that China im-
poses on top of everything else that I think are unfair, but those
are things typically that can be negotiated down over time.

I think, as Senator Graham pointed out, there is a real concern
about intellectual property rights. Many American companies go
into China—and a number have shared this concern with me—they
find that if they sell their product to China, they are likely to face
that product being produced as a knock-off in direct competition
with them within a few years. There have been cases, we believe,
where American products have been sold to China, and then
through reverse engineering, the Chinese have been able to dupli-
cate the production process, steal the technology and then sell
those products in third markets in direct competition with the
original U.S. producers.

For many U.S. companies there is no obvious remedy. Going into
China and filing a lawsuit is simply not an option. For many of
these companies competing in third markets and chasing down
these competitor products is much too expensive a process. The
level of protection to intellectual property rights, which is envi-
sioned in the WTO simply does not exist in China, and without
that it is very hard to picture our having a healthy trade relation-
ship with them in the long term.

Those are just a couple of the very large concerns that I think
would still be in place even if China were willing to float its cur-
rency.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Do you have time to stay for another?

Congressman ENGLISH. I can certainly stay for a few minutes,
and I appreciate the opportunity.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you, Congressman.

Commissioner Wessel, you had a question, and then Commis-
sioner Dreyer.

Commissioner WESSEL. Yes. Thank you, Mr. English. It is a
pleasure to have you here, and your insightful testimony and true
leadership on this issue with Congressman Levin, as you men-
tioned, and many others.

This is not a partisan issue, as you and others have pointed out,
and clearly this Administration and the past Administration had a
somewhat similar approach on China in terms of embracing trade.
You have talked about some of the tools, your legislation and other
tools we might use. The Administration has many of these tools in
its quiver right now, arrows in its quiver. The business community
and the AFL-CIO are talking about a 301 action which could be
self-initiated by the Administration. And there is some frustration
I guess that many in the private sector, both business and labor,
have that many of these tools are not being used.

As Senator Graham just said, the time is coming for us to act.
When do we say that enough is enough and move forward on ac-
tion, not just the rhetoric of all this, but how quickly do we need
to act?
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Congressman ENGLISH. Commissioner, I think we need to act
very quickly. If Mr. Levin would point out, many of the anti-surge
implements that were built into the enabling legislation that went
along with the entry of China into the WTO have not been acti-
vated. There have been at least several instances where we believe
the Administration could have stepped in and could have aggres-
sively used these tools to confront the Chinese. I believe it’s very,
very important that the Administration, having clearly focused on
a number of aspects of the problem, having recently directly en-
gaged the Chinese on currency manipulation, I think it is very im-
portant that the Administration make clear that these mechanisms
are not a dead letter and be prepared to use them aggressively
against Chinese products where it is warranted, and we believe
there have been a number of instances where it has already been
warranted.

I think the Administration inherited a policy, which in turn the
prior Administration had inherited, that has been a longstanding
policy to encourage trade with China. But what we have discovered
in recent years is that increasingly that relationship is lopsided.
The volume of trade I think is requiring us to adjust our thinking,
and I believe—and I have sought to engage the Administration on
a number of different levels on this issue—I think it is very impor-
tant that the Administration act quickly to signal a significant
change in our attitude toward Chinese trade.

Beyond that, I think it is also very important that the Adminis-
tration maintain the sort of relationship with China that will allow
them to engage the Chinese and push them in the right direction.
Whether we like it or not, China is now part of the WTO and is
going to be part of this overall international apparatus. I think we
have some obligation to make sure that they follow those rules, and
that is going to take steady pressure from the Administration that
is not—how do I want to put this—is not subject to veto by diplo-
matic concerns.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Dreyer.

Co-Chairman DREYER. Congressman, first let me congratulate
you for that very diplomatic turn of phrase.

I have a concern. I spend a lot of time every day reading the
Asian press, and also the American press speaking about Asia, and
I have noticed that there is a claque within the United States of—
I guess conservatives would call them “panda-huggers,” and also
within the Asian press. And they say this is an unwanted attack.
This is China bashing. And what can you expect? There is an elec-
tion year coming up and these Members of Congress and the Ad-
ministration are taking out on China the deficiencies of the Amer-
ican economy. We cannot keep up, yadda, yadda, yadda, and it is
all going to go away after the election.

How would you answer the charge that, yes, in the United States
we subsidize our agricultural producers among others, and that we
are in fact attacking the Chinese for something we do, and further-
more, it is just election year hoopla?

Congressman ENGLISH. I think that is a very easy myth to knock
down. We have the most open economy in the world. We clearly are
engaged in protecting certain sectors. But I know Mr. Becker would
agree with me, sometimes we wish that we provided the sort of
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support for, say, the steel industry and other manufacturers that
we do for some segments of our agricultural industry.

But having said that, I think the record is fairly clear on this,
the U.S. has been a strong advocate of free trade. What we are
combating here is not free trade. The practices I have outlined are
unfair trade. The criticism here is coming from nontraditional
sources. I have been in Congress for many years, and I have never
been identified as a China basher. I come from a community, Erie,
Pennsylvania, that going back to the late *70s has had a sister city
on the Chinese mainland and has benefited from regular cultural
exchanges. Yet in the downtown of our city on Labor Day this year,
perhaps 400 people showed up for a rally against unfair Chinese
trade practices. This is a dramatic change because we have seen
more and more of our jobs at risk, not from fair competition, not
from competition based on differences in the terms of trade of com-
petitive advantage, but jobs potentially lost due to aggressive mer-
cantilism on the part of the Chinese.

I would also say to those who are skeptical of criticisms of Chi-
nese practices, that I do not think we do China or Chinese con-
sumers any favors by pulling our punches on this issue. It is impor-
tant that China evolve into a modern economy with property
rights, with labor rights, with proper human rights, that we be pre-
pared to engage them where they go astray. The policies that are
being set here are maybe beneficial in the short term for some as-
pects of Chinese society, but by papering over China’s problems
and some of China’s weaknesses, and creating a very unhealthy
trade imbalance, I think in the long run the status quo is not
where China needs to be, and I think we do them a favor by being
frank with them at this point.

I do not believe that this is a phenomena that is associated with
one election cycle. I think the pressure is building because of the
imbalance in this trade relationship is going to be with us for many
years.

And I fear also that it runs the risk of undercutting the argu-
ments for our participation more broadly in the global trading sys-
tem. I think unless we get trade with China right, we are very
much at risk of seeing many of our other trade policies and trade
relationships go sour as well. So I find that some of the editorial
comments that I have seen that are similar to what you have de-
scribed are I think particularly shortsighted.

Co-Chairman DREYER. Thank you.

Congressman ENGLISH. Thank you, Commissioner.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Reinsch.

Commissioner REINSCH. It is good to see you again, Mr. English.

Congressman ENGLISH. Thank you, sir.

Commissioner REINSCH. Let me say first, as someone who
worked for John Heinz for a long time, I am delighted to see some-
one else from Pennsylvania pick up the trade portfolio as thought-
fully and articulately as you have.

We are going to have testimony later on today from some people
on all sides of this issue, obviously, and some of them are going to
say that the exchange rate issue may be a problem, and others will
have different views on that, and will say that the real problem is
investment, that is, the investment of U.S. multinational compa-
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nies in China and the production that ensues, that then comes
back here in the form of Chinese exports that both enlarge the
trade deficit that we have and also moves jobs over there.

Have you considered that and thought about that, and if so, do
you have a comment on the extent to which that is the problem?

Congressman ENGLISH. I think it is a very serious component of
the problem. I began to focus on some aspects of this issue because
of local problems. You will appreciate from your prior work how big
a component of the American tool and die industry exists in North-
western Pennsylvania.

We asked the ITC to do a 332 study, which they did, on what
was going on with tool and die, and gave us a remarkable snapshot
a couple of years ago of what was going on. The impression from
a lot of producers was that they were under direct pressure from
Chinese trade, direct foreign competition.

That turned out to be a less significant problem than the fact
that their customers were shifting, along with a significant part of
the U.S. manufacturing base, to China, based not merely on dif-
ferences in the terms of trade, but also on the fact that China has
contractual means by which it coerces companies that are seeking
to do business in China into locating production facilities there.
This is a significant part of the problem as well.

My insight is that this is a very broad problem. This again is
classical mercantilism on the part of China, and my sense is that
until we directly engage that and make it a part of our agenda as
well, challenging China’s right to pressure American companies di-
rectly to move jobs onto the mainland, then I think we are going
to continue to see many of these other indirect effects, and I think
we are going to continue to see a significant loss of our manufac-
turing base here.

Commissioner REINSCH. I see another victim has arrived, so I
will not follow up, but thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman Stenholm of Texas has
joined us, Congressman English.

Congressman Stenholm, would it be appropriate for you to give
your statement now and then if Congressman English can stay,
fine. Otherwise, we will focus on what you have to say.

Congressman ENGLISH. Mr. Co-Chairman, if I might, I do have
a couple of pending engagements on the House side. I would love
to be excused, but would welcome another opportunity to engage in
the future.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Congressman English, thank you very
much for sharing your thoughts with us.

Congressman ENGLISH. Thank you so much.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman Stenholm.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES STENHOLM
A U.S. CONGRESSMAN FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Congressman STENHOLM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thank all
of you for affording me this opportunity to be with you this morn-
ing and to share just a few ideas and views regarding the subject
for which you are convened.

I had the privilege of visiting China for the first time with Con-
gressman Don Manzullo, a CODEL in which we spent a fascinating
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ten days in that country. It was an education for me. It shed a lot
of new light on that country, China, and that whole area and this
whole subject, which we are now talking about, and that is, com-
petition in an international marketplace and what constitutes fair
competition.

I also was in Cancun for four days and watched the WTO break
up because of the inability of 148 nations to come together and to
agree unanimously on anything.

But the subject today is China and currency manipulation. Let
me put it in this perspective, if I might: I am the ranking Democrat
on the House Agriculture Committee. I'm used to getting beat up
about our farm subsidies. It’s something that our own press de-
lights in criticizing, that which we do. And there’s always some
merit in what they say. But as one of the prime architects of the
2002 farm bill, we said it was important for America to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our producers in the international mar-
ketplace, with the full recognition that negotiations are necessary,
that you have to sit down in the marketplace—if I'm buying and
you're selling, we have to come to an agreement. And usually, if I'm
asking a hundred and you’re willing to give 50, you usually come
together at 75. That’s usually the way negotiations go.

But if you have an advantage, as certainly we use the Europeans
as the biggest example, when they subsidize their farmers $323 an
acre and we subsidize 30, that’s not a level playing field.

Now, there are other subsidies, and currency manipulation or
having your currency cheaper gives you the direct effect of the
same thing that a tariff would give you. And one of the messages
that we attempted to deliver to our Chinese friends when we were
there is I don’t know how long America can continue to run $500
billion fiscal deficits, $500 billion trade deficits, without the law of
economics or politics taking over. And we made the point. When
you've got a currency advantage that’s causing the problems that
you’re causing with American manufacturing, as we say in Texas,
that dog won’t hunt forever.

Therefore, we have to sit back and say, okay, it’s important to
take a look at it, and not just take a look at but deal realistically
with that advantage. And so I was happy to join with Congressman
Don Manzullo, Baron Hill, and Mike Rogers on the House resolu-
tion in which we’re not suggesting protectionism; what we’re sug-
gesting is it is time to deal openly and honestly with, in this case,
currency manipulation.

But as I said when the Ambassador from China came to my of-
fice after some of our comments, I said, when we voted—and I
voted, and I am one that has voted for every trade bill, I believe,
that has come in the House of Representatives for 25 years because
Ilbelieve in trade. Trade is what will make the world a better
place.

Free trade, I try to avoid that term because, being practical, I
don’t think we’re going to see total free trade in my lifetime. But
the closer we come to it, the better everyone will be.

And when I voted for trade promotional authority, passed by one
vote—I can take the credit or get the blame for that, but with Chi-
na’s accession into the WTO, all we said to them and continue to
say, when you agree to do certain things, it’s important to live up
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to it. And when you fudge on whether or not you are, in fact, going
to do what we think you have agreed to do, that’s creating prob-
lems. And then you have the currency manipulation factor on top
of that, it becomes a real problem.

So I think you’re seeing a growing indication in the House of
Representatives, and I will conclude with this brief final statement.
I think it is absolutely critical that we have the kind of negotiation,
in this case specifically with the Chinese, but I say it with all coun-
tries of the world, that goes back to the practical effect of saying
let’s look at the issues as they are, let’s realize we've all got prob-
lems. And I recognize the problems of China, et cetera. But we
can’t keep doing business like we’re doing it and continue to de-
stroy the manufacturing base in the United States. We can’t do
that.

So I appreciate the opportunity to be here and welcome any ques-
tions you might have.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman Stenholm, thank you.

We've been joined by Senators Dorgan and Schumer, and it
would be my hope, if we could have Senator Dorgan’s statement
and then Senator Schumer’s, and then if people have time, we
could take questions across the board, if that would work for you,
Congressman.

Senator Dorgan. And thank you very much for being here, Sen-
ator. We really appreciate it.

STATEMENT OF BYRON L. DORGAN
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

Senator DORGAN. Well, Commissioners, thank you very much. I
don’t know what has been said prior to my arrival, and I hope I
don’t duplicate it.

Let me make a couple of comments. You have the charge of hold-
ing a hearing on something that is incredibly important because it
relates to the question of what kind of industrial base, what kind
of a manufacturing base this country maintains in the years ahead.

China is a very large trading partner of ours. They have in re-
cent years developed a very, very large trade surplus with us, or
we a deficit with them. We’ve become a cash cow for China’s hard
currency needs, and we in this country are a market for their trin-
kets, their trousers, their shirts, their shoes, and all their produc-
tion moving like a sponge into our marketplace. And yet we dis-
cover that even two years after we did a bilateral agreement with
China, a trade agreement—which I would have voted against had
we the opportunity to vote on it here in the Congress. Two years
after that, in the areas that I’'m especially keen to, that is, grain
and wheat, for example, even then a short time after the bilateral
agreement China was not abiding by the terms of that agreement.

There are several things that, it seems to me, you ought to con-
sider. One you can’t do a lot about, and that is that we negotiate
fundamentally incompetent trade agreements. I don’t know who ne-
gotiates them. I wish I could put a name and a face to the nego-
tiators and put a jersey on them that says “USA” so they could oc-
casionally look down and see who they work for.

But the negotiations have been fundamentally incompetent, and
I'm talking then about you put a blindfold on, the murmurs coming
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from these negotiators couldn’t distinguish between one political
party or the other. It’s just incompetence, and that doesn’t know
partisanship.

Let me give you one example of that. Perhaps other expert wit-
nesses can explain this. The bilateral with China said, by the way,
after a lengthy phase-in, we would agree with respect to auto-
mobile trade for you to have a tariff that is ten times higher in
China on U.S. cars going to China than we would have on any Chi-
nese cars potentially sold in our marketplace.

Now, a country with a $103 billion surplus with us, we say it’s
okay in the future for your 1.4 billion people to be treated to a tar-
iff that is ten times higher on U.S. automobiles sold in their mar-
ketplace? I mean, excuse me, I think that’s nuts. I don’t know who
negotiated it, but that’s just the tip of the iceberg of the funda-
mental incompetence of the negotiators in these trade agreements.

But aside from that, you’re going to talk today, I suspect, about
currency fluctuations. I've talked about this for decades. In Con-
gress, I've talked about trade for many, many years, both in the
House and the Senate. I've always said you cannot have a trade
agreement that is an effective instrument creating free and fair
trade between countries unless you have a shock absorber dealing
with currency fluctuations. If you don’t have it, you lose.

We negotiated at great length with Mexico and reduced tariffs of
Mexico somewhere in the 10 to 15 to 20 percent range, and then
Mexico devalued the peso, 50 percent. So we're 30 percent farther
behind. Does it pass the laugh test at some point for us to be doing
all of this, albeit incompetently, but still doing it, and then discov-
ering that currency fluctuations wipe out whatever minuscule gains
you make in negotiating lower tariffs? The answer clearly is no.
You must deal with this.

But in deference to my friend, Chuck Schumer from New York,
while I support, I fully support the effort he makes dealing with
the issue of the Chinese currency manipulation that is not the only
issue, and perhaps not even the most significant issue. No matter
what the value of the currency in China, at 3 cents an hour or 13
cents an hour for 12-year-old kids, for 7 days a week at 14 hours
a day, it’s hard to compete, probably impossible to compete.

My colleague the other day pointed out that the Huffy bicycles
he used to buy made by 1,100 good workers in Indiana, you can
still buy those Huffy bicycles—and, by the way, they still sell at the
same price in American outlets, except those 1,100 people don’t
make them in Indiana. They’re now made in China. That is sym-
bolic of the movement of the manufacturing base.

You will have testimony—I see my friend Fred is about ready to
testify, and he and I have discussed this over the years, not so re-
cently but discussed this over many years. Look, I believe expanded
trade is important to this country. I do not believe creating walls
of protectionism enhances this country in any way. But I do believe
this country has the economic strength to demand and insist on
fair trade.

I want to just finish with this. Let me just get this through the
lens of wheat because wheat is very important. Historically, it has
always been important. Thomas Jefferson early on in the formation
of this country suggested that legislators be paid in wheat. They
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did not adopt that, but had that been the case, perhaps wheat
prices would have been better for family farmers.

But wheat, China used to buy $500 million worth of U.S. wheat
10 years ago, 12 years ago. Now $25 million a year in wheat. The
Chinese Agriculture Minister, after having an 8.5 million metric
ton tariff rate quota on wheat, implying in the bilateral that that
quantity of wheat could come into the Chinese marketplace at low
tariffs, the Chinese Agriculture Minister went to southern China,
I think Guangzhou, and I think in the South China Post or the
South Asia Post was quoted as saying, “You know that 8.5 million
metric tons?” Now, he was speaking to his constituency. “You know
that 8.5 million metric tons? Don’t worry about that. That’s just
theory. That doesn’t mean that’s what’s going to come into China.”
And guess what? We've had two years of experience, and it ain’t
coming into China, not from this country.

I'm really glad you’re doing what you’re doing. I hope that you
have an opportunity to listen to all sides and conclude what I have
concluded, and I think what my colleague from Texas has con-
cluded and my colleague from New York has concluded. This coun-
try needs a good, stiff vitamin B12 shot, industrial strength, that
gives it the energy and also a backbone and some will to stand up
and say this country demands and insists on fair trade relation-
ships. And if not, send all your trinkets, trousers, shirts, and shoes
to sell in Zambia and see what kind of market exists there.

There is no substitute for the American marketplace on the face
of this Earth—none. And the fact is we have the capability to de-
mand fair trade between us and our trading partners. We have
never had the will or the backbone or the strength to do it. And
I hope this Commission is able to sort through all this and come
up with some recommendations that enhance the opportunities
that those of us who are concerned about this have been talking
about here in the Senate.

Thank you for taking the time this morning.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Senator Dorgan, thank you very much for
being here, and thank you for all your support of this Commission
and its predecessor commission that was looking at the whole con-
cept of the current balance of payments deficit as well, which was
another thing that Congressman Stenholm mentioned. This is a
huge $500 billion problem, and it’s growing at a very rapid rate.

Senator Schumer, thank you very much for being with us as
well.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you.

Congressman STENHOLM. Mr. Chairman, might I interrupt? I've
got a meeting with Secretary Veneman and Ambassador Zoellick on
this subject right now, so if I might be excused?

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Congressman Stenholm, thank you very
much for sharing your time with us, and we hope to stay in touch
with you and your staff as we go after these issues.

Senator DORGAN. Mr. Chairman, I, too, am going to depart. I'm
going to leave for China with a bushel of wheat.

Seriously, thank you for the opportunity to address a very seri-
ous issue.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you.
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Senator DORGAN. And my colleague speaks for many of us in the
Senate with respect to this concern about currency fluctuations.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. And we’ll keep you and your staff fully in-
formed of what we’re doing, Senator.

Senator DORGAN. Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES E. SCHUMER
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK

Senator SCHUMER. Commissioner, thank you, and I want to
thank my colleagues here and every one of you who is serving your
country, and I very much appreciate your being here and the talent
and intelligence on this Commission, as well as the importance of
it.

Now, I think first I would say to you, Commissioners, we've
reached a crossroad in Congress on the issue of free trade, and I
think these hearings could not come at a better time. I'm not going
to address the broader issue, but I will tell you this: The consensus
for free trade in this Congress is rapidly eroding.

I voted for every MFN for China. I lost the AFL-CIO endorse-
ment when I was in the House a few times because of my views
on free trade. And it’s just getting us nowhere. And it’s not just
that we’re losing low-end jobs. We're losing high-end jobs. When
IBM, Intel, and Goldman Sachs say that they’re moving their top-
end people overseas, you've got to ask yourself: What’s going to be
left here? Manufacturing is leaving. Agriculture has left. Well, at
least we had high-tech service jobs. They’re going like that [snaps
fingers].

I'm just going to share with you one story. A head of a major
New York investment bank told me the following: He said, “We
have 800 people in New York who do computer software program-
ming.” Very complicated stuff. These are derivatives and stuff like
this. He said, “Over the next three years, those 800 will lose their
jobs in New York.” Oh, they make an average of $180,000 a year.
These are not middle-level or service jobs. He said that in the next
three years they are all going to China and India. He said, “We can
hire engineers just as capable, just as competent there for $18,000
a year.” Eighteen thousand.

Now, I'm not blaming his company. They’re doing what a capi-
talist free market company does. But what’s left here? What is
going to be left here?

The theory of free trade is comparative advantage. If we don’t
have comparative advantage in computer software programmers
who make $180,000 a year, what do we have?

Someone else told me radiology will not be practiced in the
United States in ten years, that because of instantaneous commu-
nications, a patient will walk in, a technician will take the picture
here, and it will be sent to China or India because a radiologist
there is capable, except maybe if it’s very complicated, you’ll have
an expert here.

Interns will stay here, internists, because they have to look at
you. But anything where they don’t have to do it right to the cus-
tomer is going there.

So I am wondering what’s left. That’s a general comment not re-
lated to this. But I hope the Commission will look at that.
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The economists and the editorial boards stick to the doctrine of
free trade from Ricardo—comparative advantage. It’s worked for a
long time. It’s created discombobulation, but it’s worked. But we
have never had a situation where communication and transpor-
tation is instantaneous. And you have 200 million well educated,
from an American point of view, highly underpaid people, mainly
in China and India, who can take just about any job. And that’s
something we’re all going to be grappling with. I’'ve talked to some
very smart people who are wondering about this.

When I talk to the economists—I don’t know if we have any free
trade economists on the Commission. But when I talk to them, they
say, well, it will eventually adjust itself. It will, in about three gen-
erations when the wealth of America and the wealth of all these
other countries is about even.

I ask you, I ask my colleagues, I ask our President, I ask the
American people: Is that a good enough answer for us? No. Okay.

That’s just the context here. Let’s just talk within the context of
free trade. Within the context of free trade, every economist will
tell you part and parcel of free trade and open borders and com-
parative advantage is to let currencies float. China doesn’t. Japan
to an extent doesn’t as well. But International Trade 101 teaches
that an open and free system of trade demands that international
exchange rates be set by the free flow of currency and goods be-
tween countries.

Government interference in the market by hoarding currency or
pegging currency rates distorts the trade system and harms coun-
tries that play by the rules. That’s why we have international
agreements on free trade.

But, unfortunately, despite agreeing to play by these rules when
it joined the WTO two years ago, China has shown itself to want
all the advantages of free trade and none of the responsibilities.
And their currency by general consensus is undervalued. Some put
it as low as 15, some put it as high as 40.

Even if you still assume the theory of free trade, which I said I
have my doubts about these days, even if you assume it, you've got
to let the currency float. You can’t undervalue it. It means that
every American export to China costs 15 to 40 percent more than
it should and every Chinese export to America costs 15 to 40 per-
cent less than it should.

I have seen manufacturers of high-end, excellent products
throughout New York, and they say, “We can even compete with
the low-paid Chinese labor force. But you add another 40 percent
on top of that and we’re dead.”

Now, the Chinese are thumbing their nose at us. It was amazing.
Before Secretary Snow got off the plane in China and discussed
this, the Chinese said, “We’re not touching it.” So we’ve tried diplo-
macy, and it is not working. And I have to tell you, the Bush Ad-
ministration has shown a disappointing lack of leadership on this
issue until recently, and now theyre not doing enough either.
They’re beginning to talk about the issue. Talk isn’t going to bring
the jobs back that are unfairly lost and not coming back, and those
are manufacturing jobs. We've heard about those losses, but it’s
also beginning to be service jobs.
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I'll tell you one more thing. Why are the productivity numbers
so high? Well, it may be in part because our companies here are
more productive because they’re sending all the jobs over there
where you can do the same job at one-tenth the cost. Our produc-
tivity figures are through the roof. And I don’t think it’s just be-
cause they’re applying more computers and technology and faxes
here. It’s just too high. I think a little bit of it and more and more
in the future is going to be because of the export of even these
high-end jobs.

So I'd say that this Administration has shown a disappointing
lack of leadership. The rules of the WTO allow the U.S. to file a
dispute against China for its unfair trade practices. The Adminis-
tration refuses to do it. All the verbiage in the world will not sat-
isfy most of us, a bipartisan coalition in Congress, until some ac-
tion is taken.

There is word that labor and businesses together will file such
a case, and that’s good. But we need the Administration to do
more.

So what we’ve seen on China is a lot of talk and no action. So
that leaves us with only one option to save whatever’s left of free
and fair trade with China. And that is for us to take action in the
Congress ourselves.

And so Senator Graham, Senator Dole, and Senator Bunning—
Members of the Republican Party—Senator Bayh, Senator Durbin,
and myself have filed a bill which would say that we will put a
27.5-percent tariff on every Chinese import, 27.5 because that is
halfway between 40 and 15.

It is bipartisan. We don’t want to politicize the issue—this is too
important to give to one party or the other for advantage. We want
to make this happen. And this does what the Chinese won’t. It
brings their currency to a right level. It would be better if they'd
let their currency float.

Now, let me just say by the way, that maybe it won’t—in fact I
hope it doesn’t pass. I hope by the time it starts moving—and it’s
going to move—China acts on its own. You mark my words. No one
is paying attention now. When Senator Graham and I put this bill
on the Senate floor, it’s going to pass. And we’re going to put it on
the Senate floor before we leave. And it’s going to send a shot
across the bow around this world, and then maybe the Chinese will
do something, and then maybe the rest of the world will help.

Now, there are a few arguments against it. There is no doc-
trinaire argument. They’re all practical arguments.

One, the Chinese hold a huge amount of American currency,
bonds, and if we do this, they’ll let those go and it will hurt our
bond rates. Who’s going to buy them?

I heard this. I have experience in this. Japan would not open
American markets for financial firms in the mid-1980s. That was
very important to my city and State of New York. If you were Mer-
rill Lynch, you couldn’t get a seat on the Japanese stock exchange.
If you were Citibank, you couldn’t open up an ATM machine—even
though we were much better at those things than the Japanese.
And everyone said, well, we’ll talk about it. And we talked and we
talked and we talked.
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Then I put in a bill that said they can’t sell their stuff here if
we can’t sell our stuff there. It was horrible, all the economists
said. They made the same argument. Japan won’t buy our bonds.
They had as many of the U.S. bonds and treasuries in the late
1980s as—China has more, I think—than China has now. And I
said, forget it, they’re not going to sell the bonds, cut their nose to
spite their face, decrease the value of one of the largest assets they
have. No country or businessperson would do that.

And they said it will create a trade war. Well, lo and behold. The
bill passed the House. I was in the House then. And all of a sud-
den, Japan opened up its financial markets. They had said there
was no space on the Tokyo stock exchange, and then suddenly they
found space. They said there were all sorts of restrictions. And
that’s what I hope would happen with our legislation. I don’t want
it to pass. I'd rather it importune people to do the right thing. But
I'll tell you, we’ll keep pushing it if it doesn’t—if it won’t pass, be-
cause it’s a better alternative.

And the other thing they say is the Chinese banking system is
so weak that this will send it downward. Well, it’s not going to get
better by keeping a fixed rate. It’'s not going to get better. It will
get worse as China gets bigger.

And T’ll tell you this: When are we going to look out for the prob-
lems we have? The Chinese are screwing up their banking system.
We should worry about that, but why should we make it more im-
portant than us losing all our jobs? Unfairly, not through any the-
ory of comparative advantage.

So we’re going to push this legislation. It’s quiet now because the
economists say—they’re living in the old world. They don’t see
what’s happening. And when I ask them what’s going to take the
place of these high-end service jobs that are leaving, they say, well,
something will. Well, maybe it will. But no one has suggested any-
thing yet.

And so this is indeed a shot across the bow. It’s legislation that
we believe will correct a real injustice. It will force China to live
up to its responsibilities. It will make the Chinese banking system
better. But it will also, if you believe in free trade—and I guess
there’s division on this panel—it’ll save it, if it’s worth saving. And,
again, as I said, five years ago I would have said by all means it
is. Today I'm not so sure.

So I hope you’ll pay attention to what this legislation is all about.
I'd be interested in your thoughts and comments on it, not today
if that’s not appropriate, but down the road. And I'd be interested
in what solutions you come up with if this is no good, because so
far there has been none.

Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Senator Schumer, we very much appre-
ciate the comments and your leadership. And I think, as you men-
tioned earlier in your testimony, this is a much broader issue than
just the exchange rate issue, and this country has to do some very
serious thinking about how we’re engaged in the global economy.
We're trying to do that somewhat today to get it going and think
about it.

Senator SCHUMER. It’s a great job you’re doing, a great service.
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Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman Manzullo, could you give us
a chance to have one or two questions with Senator Schumer and
then make your statement?

Congressman MANZULLO. Go ahead and finish.

Senator SCHUMER. Great. Thank you.

Discussion, Questions and Answers

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Commissioner Wortzel, you had a ques-
tion.

Commissioner WORTZEL. Well, I did. One, of course, was an-
swered by the Senator’s explanation of how he arrived at 27.5 per-
cent. I appreciate that.

Senator Schumer, I'm also interested in your views on the fact
that China, whose citizens have such a high savings rate, doesn’t
allow the freedom to let those citizens put their money in any bank
they want, and whether the freeing of capital controls in China,
would also help address some of these problems.

Senator SCHUMER. The Wall Street Journal editorial page sort of
knocked our legislation, or if not our specific legislation, they said
it would be a lot better if the average Chinese citizen could buy a
stock or buy a bond here in America. I agree. But when I look into
the eyes of the hundreds every week of manufacturing jobs and
now service jobs that are being lost, some of it, at least—not all;
I don’t want to overclaim, through this unfair advantage. I say why
are we waiting—if the Chinese have a better solution, you know
what I'd say? Pass this. Then maybe they’ll do that.

They, again, want all the advantages and none of the liabilities.

Congressman MANZULLO. Or responsibilities.

Senator SCHUMER. Or responsibilities. That’s a better word.
Thank you, Congressman. That’s what they want. You can’t do it
halfway.

And, by the way, if we stick to this system, it will screw up the
world trade mechanism even worse, because it'll get so big it’ll
burst. And this legislation is intended to force some rational transi-
tion out of it, because my guess is, again, if it passes the Senate
and begins to pass the House, maybe they’ll come up with a plan
and say let us get to where you’re saying over five years. I'd look
at something like that, although I even hate to admit that because
five more years of unfair advantage, who knows what will happen?
But, still, at least that’s a light at the end of the tunnel. Right now
there’s no light at the end of the tunnel.

And it’s easy for economists and editorial page writers to say, the
Chinese should do this, it’s a better solution. But I'm not a Chinese
legislator. They don’t have a Chinese legislator who has any power
to do anything.

So what’s the alternative? Yes, there are better ways to do it. I
don’t know any better way that we can control here in the United
States. That’s the question, not “are there better solutions.” Are
there better solutions that we, that the President, the Congress,
the American people can implement?

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner D’Amato.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Senator, thank you very much for your
testimony and the argumentation underlying it. I think the legisla-
tion that you’ve introduced is very important.
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This Commission took the position last year that if we’re going
to change Chinese behavior, we have to at least threaten to take
away some of the things they hold dearly, which, of course, in the
case of your legislation is access to the American market.

Senator SCHUMER. Exactly.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. We also suggested that they are begin-
ning to hold dearly access to our equities market, another area
where, if you were to impose some penalties, that would get their
attention.

Senator SCHUMER. Yes.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. I have two very quick questions. The
letter that you sent with many of your colleagues to the President
on July 31st, I just wondered if you have received an answer yet.

Senator SCHUMER. I think we’ve gotten an answer from Sec-
retary Snow, but not from the President. We wrote to Snow as well,
and he did send us a letter, but it was just, well, we’re trying to
do something.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Yes.

Senator SCHUMER. That was about the thrust of the letter. And
they are talking about it more, which they didn’t do six months
ago. And maybe the Commission helped push them in that direc-
tion. But talk is not enough.

And when the Chinese—I mean, that was insulting that before
the Treasury Secretary got off the plane, they said, “We’re not
changing our currency.” You know what? That was the best thing
that happened for my legislation.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. One other question relating to the ar-
gument now being used to justify going soft on the Chinese in this
area is the argument that for the first time the Chinese have been
engaging actively on the diplomatic front on the North Korea issue.

Senator SCHUMER. Right.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. And that in order to encourage them
to continue to take a leadership role and support us there, we’ve
got to go soft on the trade front.

Senator SCHUMER. Yes, you're right. That’s outside the economic
realm, and that’s really the job for the President to sort of inte-
grate. And if we pass through all these other arguments, we’ll ulti-
mately get to that one.

Well, if tomorrow North Korea announced that it was getting rid
of nuclear weapons, well, then, maybe they’d have a discussion
about it. Again, I still look into the eyes of workers in Syracuse
who are losing their jobs through unfair advantage. It’s hard to
make the tradeoff, but that’s what Presidents are paid to do. But
I haven’t seen the progress yet. I see the jobs being lost. I haven’t
seen the progress with North Korea, and I don’t even think our Ad-
ministration says we’re making progress with North Korea.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you, Senator.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Wessel, and then Commis-
sioner Robinson, and then we’ll probably let you go, Senator.

Commissioner WESSEL. Thank you. Thank you, Senator. I appre-
ciate your being here, and Mr. Manzullo and the others who have
been here. And while Mr. Stenholm was testifying earlier, I was
thinking of a term he taught me many years ago, and it seems to
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apply to the President, that he’s all hat and no cattle, as we look
at this problem

Senator SCHUMER. We don’t use that one much in Brooklyn, but
I know what you mean.

Commissioner WESSEL. I'm from White Plains, so I understand.

You said earlier that the time for action is now. Clearly, the Chi-
nese have not responded to our pleas for many years, and you have
to admit they’re pretty smart not to because they’re winning the
battle right now.

In your discussions with the Administration, have they taken a
position on your legislation? Are they welcoming it? Are they ignor-
ing it?

Senator SCHUMER. Well, publicly, they are not supporting it. I
don’t know if they’ve actually put out a letter in opposition yet, be-
cause, frankly, we're just starting. People are saying, oh, this is
just some kind of—they don’t realize how dead serious I am, and
I just refer people to look at what happened with Japan. It’s almost
the same exact scenario. And I am dead serious, and the Senate
gives you the ability to add legislation—Senator Graham and I—
from the other party. Senator Graham and I have—so it’s bipar-
tisan. That’s the only point I wish to make. We've agreed we're
going to add this legislation to something in the Senate before we
leave. So then we’ll start getting some real talk about this. So far,
not yet. But it’s beginning to make—it’s beginning to make its stir.

Commissioner WESSEL. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Robinson.

Chairman ROBINSON. Senator, thank you so much. I think that
your remarks have been provocative and thoughtful.

I just wanted to make a comment more than anything else, or
an observation on the basis of what Vice Chairman D’Amato men-
tioned concerning the argument that Beijing’s assistance, which is
purported to be very substantial, in defusing the North Korean nu-
clear crisis is of such a critical nature that it has to supersede the
very important issues that we’re discussing today.

It might be interesting for you and others to have a look at the
transcript of a hearing we held on July 24 on Chinese proliferation
practices, and particularly their role, which is a pivotal one, on the
Korean Peninsula. It turns out that in the extensive research done
by our staff and the expert testimony we received in the course of
that hearing, that, in fact, China, does have very substantial lever-
age.

Senator SCHUMER. It’s the only country that does.

Chairman ROBINSON. Eighty to 100 percent of the oil, depending
on which estimate you’re listening to, and about 40 percent of the
food. But as you know Beijing is focused on facilitating the six-
party talks. Diplomacy is important and that is a net positive
movement by the Chinese. But when you talk about serious lever-
age being exercised by them to defuse what could be the end of
global nonproliferation regimes and reprocessing that could provide
North Korea in the next year a nuclear arsenal of some 10 to 13
weapons that they can sell or test, and afford to do so because they
have a sufficient number, many of us that have looked at Beijing’s
role are very skeptical as to how serious Chinese take this crisis.
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So it’s something to keep in mind when we hear that the cur-
rency valuation issue and the U.S. manufacturing job losses have
to take a second seat. I think that policymakers need to take a
hard look at the level of cooperation that, in fact, China is exhib-
iting in respect to the Korean nuclear crisis.

Senator SCHUMER. And it’s also—I mean, they should be doing
both. They want to be part of the family of nations. They're going
to have a lot of advantages. Look at the prosperity and growth in
China. They have to live up to the responsibilities. And it’s respon-
sible to deal with North Korea, and it’s responsible to really be a
free trader.

It’s almost like if we have to make that choice, losing all our jobs
or having a nuclear North Korea, it’s like what they do in Utah,
death by firing or hanging. It’s not the kind of choice you want to
have to make.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Senator Schumer, thank you again for
your time and your leadership.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. And we hope to stay in close touch with
you and your staff.

Senator SCHUMER. I appreciate it very much.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. We’re very privileged now to have the
Chairman of the House Small Business Committee, who has played
a leadership role in bringing to the attention of the country the cri-
sis in manufacturing and the loss of manufacturing jobs and what
that means for our total economy. We are also fortunate in having
the Ranking Member of the Trade Subcommittee of the House
Ways and Means Committee, Congressman Levin, with us, as well.

So, Chairman Manzullo, if you could give your remarks.

STATEMENT OF DONALD A. MANZULLO
A U.S. CONGRESSMAN FROM THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, AND
CHAIRMAN, HOUSE SMALL BUSINESS COMMITTEE

Congressman MANZULLO. Thank you very much for the oppor-
tunity to be here. The bottom line is this. We have been losing an
average of 70,000 manufacturing jobs in this country for about the
past 38 months, and there are about 40 to 50 Congressional dis-
tricts out of the 435, plus the five territories and the District of Co-
lumbia, that really have a significant manufacturing base.

But it wasn’t until an astounding article appeared in Business
Week this past February that talked about the tremendous loss of
high-value white-collar jobs. At that point, it brought in people
such as Jerry Nadler, who doesn’t have much manufacturing there
in Manhattan but obviously has a lot of white-collar jobs. Jerry has
become a member of the Manufacturing Caucus, which Congress-
man Tim Ryan and I founded just a few months ago, and we are
already at over 50 members that belong to that.

But the problem that we have seen is the manipulation of the
currency taking place in China.

Here is what it means in practical terms. For every item that an
American manufacturer wishes to sell to China, it’s the equivalent
of a 15 to 40 percent tariff to get the goods into China. And it’s
also the equivalent of everything that the Chinese want to sell us,
which they obviously do because of a low wages: it’s the equivalent



26

of an additional 15 to 40 percent discount on the existing low price
of what they’re selling back to the United States.

I think that’s how we have to couch the terms of the argument
with regard to the significance of the pegging of the RMB to the
U.S. dollar ever since 1994. When currencies do not float against
each other, the currencies are rigged and rigged currencies do not
evidence any indication that this is, in fact, a free trade situation
that is taking place. That’s the purpose of Senator Schumer’s bill.

Now, I'm not on his bill. We sent out a joint letter that Senator
Schumer and I signed to the Senators and the Representatives say-
ing there are six bills out there that deal with this. Representative
Jim Walsh from Syracuse, N.Y. has a bill that says unless a com-
pany has at least half their workers in the United States, they get
no government contracts. That is Jim Walsh’s bill. He is being
murdered up there.

The bill that I'm on, working with NAM that says, look, there are
several remedies out there that could be used. There’s Section 14
of the WTO. There’s the IMF. You could use the Equalization Sta-
bilization Fund. There’s Section 301. And there’s just hard-nosed
politics that, dang it, we should not be in the position of having to
give away our jobs to the Chinese as some type of incentive for
them to get moving on the North Korean issue.

You cannot tie in the loss of our manufacturing jobs with politics
around the world, because guess who loses every single time on
that. It is us. And as much respect as I have for Senator Schumer’s
bill, 'm opposed to the steel tariffs that were imposed because they
were imposed politically. It killed manufacturers here in the United
States, actually sent some of my manufacturers overseas.

That is one of the problems with tariffs. Tariffs should be im-
posed only in those situations where you’ve gone through an adju-
dicatory process, such as on a 301 case or the various stages of the
WTO or the IMF. It’'s a more deliberative process. It’s a little bit
slower, but it follows a rule of law in there.

But what we did was, Senator Schumer and I sent out this “Dear
Colleague” and said, look, you may feel comfortable with one or
three of the bills that are out there. This is your particular choice
depending on your particular philosophy. But what’s important
about it is that it’s people of all philosophies may get on one or
more of those bills to show how important this has come to the at-
tention of the American people.

Now, NAM estimates China has over $300 billion in foreign cur-
rency reserves, and here’s the story on it. This is really shameful
on what is taking place in the United States.

Number one, we lose manufacturing jobs to China all the time,
and I'm at 11.3 percent unemployment in the second biggest city
in Illinois. In 1981, Rockford led the nation at 24.9 percent. We
know what it is like to take a hit. It’s the tool and die center of
the world. Whenever sales go down on tool and dies, that is the ca-
nary in the coal mine. For three years, I've been screaming that
this economy is in the tubes and all we do is have people in Wash-
ington listen to the economists.

Listen to my machinists, not the economists. The economists
don’t know what a pink shop rag is that you use for wiping ma-
chine oil. And that’s the barometer in this country as to the health.
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If you don’t have any orders for new tools and equipment, that
means there’s no new orders for new products that are being man-
ufactured. That means the economy is going into the dumps.

And so we’ve been spending so much time on this Small Business
Committee trying to educate Washington finally. The Financial
Services Committee held an astounding hearing with Chairman
Greenspan. I also sit on the Financial Services Committee. The
Chinese have 450 million people in their employment force. They
add ten million each year. They must grow their economy by 8.6
percent just to bring in the new people. Their manufacturing is up
16.9 percent and their exports are up by almost a third.

I said, in our country, if you listen to the NAM statement—NAM
is a very responsible organization—they said, if we continue to lose
manufacturing jobs at this pace, then we will lose the leverage we
have in the world for innovation. Then Americans will have to get
used to a lower standard of living.

I said, “Do you agree with that statement?” Chairman Greenspan
said, “Misguided.” I said, “Tell me why.” He said, “Well, what you
lose in the manufacturing sector, you gain in the high-end white-
collar sector.” I said, “Those jobs are leaving.” What is it going to
take Washington to wake up?

And then with these huge reserves, the Chinese come over and
they manipulate our debt market by buying the Treasuries, and
then their argument is, well, if you get hard on us with the trade
imbalance and with the fixed RMB, we, because we buy so much
of your bonds, can be responsible for you having to increase your
interest rates and driving up the cost of living. No nation should
be held hostage by that type of foreign currency manipulation.

And I want to tell you something. I've been working on this thing
for years and I am hot that the United States economy is being
bound by the Chinese and that is going to stop. It is going to stop
now. The bleeding is oppressive in manufacturing.

If you don’t have agriculture, manufacturing, and mining, you be-
come a third-world nation. When you go back home—you know,
what people want back home, Commissioner Bartholomew? Do you
know what they want? They want to be able to live in the same
town as their grandkids. What you’ve got going on in America
today is six or seven centers in America where all the kids run off
to the jobs and the beautiful little towns are desolated because the
little shops could no longer compete because somebody says we
can’t criticize the Chinese too much because of the currency manip-
ulation. It’s got to come to an end.

And Senator Schumer is right over there. It’s significant what he
said. He introduced a bill that he doesn’t want to pass because he
knows it’s the only way that you can gather the attention of the
United States Congress and the people and the policymakers.

We found out about a year and a half ago that the Fed thought
that the recession was over. I said, well, that’s interesting, and,
therefore, getting ready to raise interest rates. And I said, hello. So
we held a hearing in the Small Business Committee and brought
in Dr. Roger Ferguson, a marvelous man, deputy to Greenspan.
And T said, “Dr. Ferguson,” I said, “manufacturing is 16 percent of
GDP.” He said, “Well, it’s only 16 percent.” Now it’s down to about
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12 or 13 percent. Only ten percent of all the jobs in America are
manufacturing now, we're losing them so fast.

And I said, “Have you ever smelled the sweet smell of machine
oil on your hands?” He looked at me and he said, “No, but I will
be there.” And the next day his office called and he came out and
we took him into a tool and die shop where you make the molds.
We have a constituent back home, Don Metz, who actually makes
the molds for the Oscars. Remember when a bunch of those got
swiped or lost in Chicago? Well, they got a hold of Don and said,
“You keep your mold. That’s proprietary.” And then he took it down
and put solid gold in or whatever—it couldn’t have been solid gold,
but whatever it was, put some metal in there and made up these
20 or so Oscars that had been lifted overnight.

And we showed Dr. Ferguson and he said, this is the beginning.
This is the first step from the mind of the inventor. And then we
took him over to Dial Machine, and as a result of that, Eric
Anderberg has gone on to the unofficial board of the Fed in Chicago
as a manufacturing advisor to give testimony as to the Beige Book.
We found out that the Fed was never using the machine tool index
as an indicator to manufacturing in this country. Hello. You don’t
find machines within the beltway of Washington, D.C.

So we got involved in this and formed this coalition. We have
been working with Treasury Secretary Snow, who is an absolute
godsend to this country. This man understands exactly what is
going on. He has a transportation background at CSX, and people
that move things think differently. That’s just the genre of their
minds and it’s been great.

From the beginning, in fact, it started with Secretary Evans a
couple of months ago where he just let out a blast. He said, “We're
going to send someone over there every month until you do some-
thing about it.” And Snow went over there and raised all kinds of
cain with China. Then he met in Dubai with the G—7 countries and
they went in there and they started rattling the cages. Of course,
the stock market went down.

But you know what? You could have interest rates at zero. It
doesn’t mean anything if the people don’t have jobs. And as I go
across my Congressional district, we are heavy into manufacturing,
heavy into agriculture and value-added agriculture, and heavy into
growth in the Chicago suburbs, and a lot of those people coming
out of the Chicago suburbs into my Congressional district are work-
ing in the financial market.

So what are the suggestions that we have to do? First, is H. Con.
Res. 285, which encourages the Administration to continue with
these actions while pursuing other options, too. Currency moves by
emotion. Don’t ask me how that works, but it does. It works by
pressure. We must vigorously enforce laws that provide remedies
that counteract foreign currency manipulation. That’s what’s avail-
able in the WTO, the 301, the IMF.

Second, the U.S. must continue to encourage harmonization of an
international exchange rate policy of freeing foreign exchange rates
based on market forces. The G-7 said, look, what’s more important
to us than a stable currency rate is one that floats.

And third, the U.S. must enable the dollar and other currencies
to move towards equilibrium rates by correcting market imperfec-
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tions, countering foreign currency manipulations, and seeking co-
operation within major countries, and seeking coordinated actions.
And then, of course, again with 301.

But there are other problems that we have on our side. We have
been working with different agencies to make it possible—listen to
this—for the Chinese who want to buy our high-end stuff, just to
get a visa to come to America to shop. Now, you think about that.

We complain about the fact that we have this trade imbalance,
and then our own policies, and sometimes, excuse me, but the over-
emphasis upon homeland security, that every Chinese person is
somehow a terrorist and treated like one because it takes some-
times a year to get a visa, they just give up on us and they go to
another country to buy their stuff.

So is that the Chinese’s fault? No. That’s our fault. And we held
a hearing on this in the Small Business Committee, and that hear-
ing, as a result of that, Matt Symanski, who is my Chief of Staff,
who has been to China seven times in the past year and a half,
has been trying to meet with the different agencies that are very
reluctant because of orders coming from the top, and the great peo-
ple we’re working with, to work with the businesses.

So we sit here saying, Sandy, we have people in our districts that
want to sell to the Chinese but we can’t bring them over. So we
pick up the phone every time and make a special request in order
to get them in. That’s pure stupidity on the part of the American
government. Those are the things that we can do ourselves.

Well, I've spoken longer than I should have.

But you can tell our passion on this. Our people are desperate.
They’re desperate. They don’t talk about the Iraq war at home.
They come to hand me resumes, and they come up and say, “Con-
gressman, can you help me get a job?” And you know what I do?
And I know Sandy does the same thing, because his heart is just
like mine.

I was at a Fourth of July parade and the young man ushering
me around said, Don, four of our neighbors just got pink slips.
Now, this is in wealthy McHenry County, a suburb of Chicago,
where the unemployment rate is about seven percent. And I called
those four individuals. And you talk about the spirit of America
and what these people are doing. Just to follow up, how did you
lose your job? What happened? What is the outsourcing? What ex-
actly is involved in your situation?

I spend so much of my time helping people to get jobs individ-
ually, almost like an employment agency. These aren’t government
jobs, because there aren’t government jobs out there to be gotten.

But we know firsthand what is happening to our people and how
they are hurting. Again, if I could have my full statement be made
part of the record, I would appreciate it.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. We will do that, Mr. Chairman.

Congressman MANZULLO. And if you want to curtail the ques-
tions in deference to Mr. Levin’s testimony, that won’t bother me
one bit. It really won’t.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Okay. Mr. Chairman, we will stay in
close touch

Congressman MANZULLO. That would be fine.
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Co-Chairman MuULLOY. —and if we could have Congressman
Levin, and then if you could stay around and we will have a couple
questions and then we will—

Congressman MANZULLO. We can do that. Why don’t you go with
Sandy’s testimony and maybe ask us questions together.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Congressman Levin, thank you very
mu}clh for taking time to come over here and share your thoughts
with us.

STATEMENT OF SANDER (SANDY) M. LEVIN
A U.S. CONGRESSMAN FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, AND

RANKING DEMOCRAT, WAYS AND MEANS TRADE SUBCOMMITTEE

Congressman LEVIN. Thank you for holding this hearing. I have
a statement that also has attached a statement that I put forth
yesterday at the hearing with the meeting of the Congressional Ex-
ecutive China Commission and I ask that it be part of the record.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Yes, Mr. Congressman.

Congressman LEVIN. Let me spend a few minutes, if I might, try-
ing to put this currency issue in perspective.

China was accepted, acceded to the WTO. There was a broad
feeling that I shared that we needed to engage China and also
pressure it, that isolation of China economically would never work
because of its size.

So it went into the WTO. Actually, it would have gone in without
approval of the U.S. But it went in as the U.S. Congress acted on
the terms of their accession.

The terms of their accession included tariffs, and everybody
seems to be comfortable about the issue of tariffs. Everybody ac-
knowledges that is part of trade. Also, the accession covered non-
tariff barriers and there remains controversy about that, but there
were specific provisions placed in China’s accession agreement re-
garding non-tariff barriers.

The same was true of subsidies. The accession agreement covered
the issue of subsidies that is also a controversial issue as we go up
the ladder of what is trade, what relates to trade, and what does
not.

We also placed in the accession agreement a provision on safe-
guards. That has remained very controversial, but it’s very much
there, meaning that if there is a flood of imports from China in any
sector, there was a provision for the U.S. to act. It was the strong-
est safeguard provision ever placed in American law.

There was no reference to currency and there was no reference
directly to another controversial issue, and that relates to labor
markets.

There was a provision for an annual review. We wanted the U.S.
to work hard to make sure within the WTO there was an annual
review of China’s compliance, and that eventually happened. To
date, China’s compliance with the provisions that I mentioned, es-
pecially non-tariff barriers, subsidies, that compliance has not been
satisfactory. There are many areas where China is complying, but
many areas where they are not, and it is spelled out in my testi-
mony.

For example, the imposition of quotas, import licensing, ways to
get around opening their markets, limiting distribution opportuni-
ties. Written into that agreement was very clear terms regarding
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di?itribution. The same was true as to non-tariff barriers like stand-
ards.

They are also not complying in the services area regarding, for
example, high capital requirements, and also, they are making auto
financing, which was critical for the U.S., exceptionally difficult by
their capital requirements.

I don’t think we have actively pursued—surely not enough—ef-
forts to make sure that China complies with its promises. And the
second annual review is now coming up through the WTO and I
hope very much that the U.S. will be much more energetic and not
complacent, and I spell this out in my testimony.

I'm also not satisfied with the use or the non-use of the safe-
guard provision, which we worked very hard on. The first two cases
under that safeguard provision that came before the Administra-
tion, they decided, contrary to what was recommended by the ITC,
not to utilize it.

So there are issues of compliance. I continue to think, especially
because of China’s size and importance, there has to be a combina-
tion of engagement and of pressure.

Now, let me talk about currency. Some of these other issues re-
main controversial and some people argue, don’t worry. They fo-
cused tariffs all right, but on anything else, if a country doesn’t fol-
low the rules, it only hurts itself. It’s protectionism to insist on
China complying with what they agreed to, for example, on non-
tariff barriers or on subsidies. And it’s, in quotes, “protectionism”
to utilize the safeguard mechanism. That’s mind-boggling to me,
since the purpose of it is to increase the flow of open trade, not to
shut it down.

So now we come to the issue of currency. On this ladder, it per-
haps is the most controversial because the minute it is raised, some
people say, protectionism. What they ignore is that for decades,
there’s been a provision within the international rules relating to
currency. Article 15, Paragraph 4 of the GATT, and this goes back
before any of us were born, in the '40s

Article 15, Paragraph 4, and I want to read it because it needs
to be remembered. It prohibits WTO members from using, in
quotes, “exchange action” to, in quotes, “frustrate the intent of the
GATT, now WTO, provisions.”

That hasn’t been used, in part, I think, because currency manip-
ulation on a broad scale is relatively new compared to these other
trade issues. It isn’t entirely new, because that’s what Japan was
doing in the ’80s and into the '90s.

So what was the response? The response was to send Secretary
Snow over to Japan and to China to jawbone. In Japan, as far as
I can tell, the Secretary never raised the issue. And in China, as
my friend Don has mentioned, it was raised. There was jawboning,
but nothing else.

And T just quickly want to remind everybody of what Japan is
doing. The two systems differ a bit. One has a peg and the other
uses other forms of manipulation. This was a story in the New
York Times not so long ago. Japan is spending heavily to pursue
a weak yen policy, and what they’re doing is spending billions of
yen to buy many hundreds of millions of dollars to keep the dollar
strong and the yen weak.
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So what do we do about it? Jawboning hasn’t worked with Japan.
I understand the complexities. I don’t want to make this a simple
issue. But complexity should not lead to complacency, to doing
nothing.

So some weeks ago, our office and I began to look at Section 301.
Section 301, its utilization would be an effective prelude to possible
action under Article 15, Paragraph 4. And here’s what an inves-
tigation would do if it were self-initiated by the Administration.

It would provide an opportunity for a thorough examination of
the issues, positions, and options. We would have, instead of a de-
bate in a few newspapers, an open debate about what we do when
currency manipulation or control is used to affect trade. Clearly,
that is true in the case of Japan and China.

Secondly, if the USTR self-initiated an investigation in a 301, it
would demonstrate the Administration’s commitment to take this
issue seriously. It would be a signal to other countries and a signal
to American manufacturers and farmers and workers. There may
be other solutions, but this self-initiation of 301 is there for USTR
to utilize.

And I simply want to close with this. I hope we’re beyond the
issue of discussing trade basically in terms of protectionism versus
free trade. When it comes to these issues whether it’s subsidies,
subsidies are a phony trade issue. I mean, Cancun broke down in
part because of the failure to look seriously at subsidies in Agri-
culture.

Labor market conditions, we recognized with China that it was
going to take time and we had to use other vehicles to raise these
issues. But labor market issues are trade issues and currency, let
no one scare off this Commission or anybody else from raising cur-
rency issues within a trade context. It’s one of the three or five or
seven or four or six, whether you like odd or even numbers, vehi-
cles that are used by countries to determine the terms of trade, and
it is foolish for this country to be scared off looking at these issues
because of false cries of protectionism.

Many of us who are concerned about this have worked to expand
trade, but under terms that are effective for the people of the
Ubnited States of America, and that’s what this currency issue is all
about.

Thank you for having this hearing. I'm glad many of my col-
leagues have raised the flag. It should not simply be shot down be-
cause somebody cries a word. We need to look at it seriously.
Thank you very much.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Sander (Sandy) M. Levin
A U.S. Congressman from the State of Michigan, and
Ranking Democrat, Ways and Means Trade Subcommittee

The United States needs to both engage and pressure China. We must engage
with China because the country is too important to ignore and we are better off if
China is a part of the international system than if it is isolated. We must pressure
China because our values demand that we help China to move in a positive direc-
tion and to prepare for a future based upon the rule of law, open markets, and re-
spect for human rights. It continues to be vital that we carefully monitor and ac-
tively shape our relationship with China.

During the PNTR debate, it was often necessary to remind people to look at China
not only as a potential market, but also as a competitor. And China’s accession to
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the WTO helped address both of those facets of the relationship—China agreed to
open its markets to U.S. goods and services and at the same time it agreed to be
bound by a thorough set of rules establishing acceptable terms of competition with
the rest of the world.

I have taken an active interest in ensuring that China plays by the rules—that
it complies with its WT'O commitments and that U.S. manufacturers and producers
have a fair shake in China. Over the past several months I have become increas-
ingly concerned that China is not complying with its WTO commitments and is in
fact trying to give itself an unfair advantage.

WTO Commitments, Industrial Policy, Investment Policy

A number of the concerns in our economic relationship with China relate to Chi-
na’s industrial and investment policy. Yesterday I had a chance to speak on China’s
WTO compliance at some length. I am attaching a copy of that testimony. To briefly
summarize the points in these comments:

e China has used its quota administration and import licensing rules as ways of
keeping out undesired imports.

e China has continued to limit trading rights and distribution rights, effectively
limiting trade in U.S. products throughout China.

e China has used standards and other technical product regulations as a non-tar-
iff barrier.

o In the services sector, China has set up barriers to establishment and expansion
to keep out U.S. service providers, such as unreasonably high capital require-
ments in the financial services industry, including in the auto financing sector.

e China recently released a draft “Development Policy for Auto Industry” setting
forth a proposed industrial policy that would use subsidies, product standards,
technology transfer requirements, import barriers and other tools of state con-
trol to advantage domestic production of autos and auto parts.

China has moved toward compliance in some important respects, but in others,
there is non-compliance and bending of the rules in support of what is essentially
a mercantilist industrial policy to the detriment of U.S. workers, farmers, and busi-
nesses. It is necessary for America to adopt a more active approach.

It is remarkable that in the face of China’s non-compliance, the Bush Administra-
tion has refused to use all of the tools that the U.S. bargained for. As part of the
China PNTR deal, we included a special safeguard so that U.S. industries would not
be injured by surges of imports from China. But, the Bush Administration has de-
nied relief to two U.S. industries which the independent ITC found to be injured
by Chinese imports.

The China PNTR bill also called for a special annual review in the WTO of Chi-
na’s commitments. The reason for this provision is that, unlike the normal WTO ac-
cession process, China was allowed to join before it had made the changes to its
laws necessary to be in compliance with its WTO obligations. This fact, and the
clear importance of China’s economy, required an intensive review of China’s WTO
implementation. China has blocked effective use of this specially-negotiated review,
refusing to provide written (and sometimes any) answers to questions or giving
vague and evasive answers. The Bush Administration has essentially acted as if re-
signed to continuing uncooperativeness by China. The USTR has also failed to dem-
onstrate any inclination to bring cases in the WTO against clear violations by
China.

Currency Manipulation

This essentially passive approach has characterized the Administration’s handling
of the currency issue. Currency manipulation has characterized our relationship
with Japan for years. The U.S. Government never took any concrete action to ad-
dress this problem. The failure to address this problem had and continues to have
a negative impact on the United States, limiting access of U.S. goods to Japan. It
also had and continues to have a negative impact on Japan. Japan has maintained
a protected domestic market too long, and has used export-led growth as a sub-
stitute for necessary domestic reforms.

China’s undervalued currency now also poses a major problem. The China and
Japan situations are not identical—China maintains a peg, while Japan actively in-
tervenes to manipulate the level of its currency. However, many economists agree
that the outcome is the same—undervalued currencies hurt U.S. exports and advan-
tage Chinese and Japanese imports.

Just as we need to actively utilize all the tools available to engage and pressure
China in other areas, we need to actively consider what action to take in response



34

to China’s undervalued currency. And, we must act responsibly; this is an admit-
tedly complicated issue.

Article XV, paragraph 4 of the GATT—the original WTO agreement—prohibits
WTO members from using “exchange action” to “frustrate the intent of the [GATT]
provisions.” To my knowledge, Article XV has never been used. The obligation has
been in trade rules since the inception of the multilateral system in 1947 in recogni-
tion of the importance that exchange rates have on trade.

The Administration’s current approach of “jaw-boning” has demonstrably failed.
Secretary Snow’s trip to China yielded only a re-statement of China’s policy that
calls for an exchange rate determined by market forces as an ultimate goal without
any timetable, and with an attitude by the Chinese government that makes it un-
clear when, if ever, this might occur. Worse, he did not even mention currency when
he visited Japan.

As a prelude to utilization of Article XV, paragraph 4, USTR has the power to
self-initiate a “Section 301” investigation into the “exchange action” by China and
Japan. A Section 301 investigation would provide an opportunity for a thorough ex-
amination of the issues, positions, and options. If the USTR self-initiated a Section
301 investigation, it would demonstrate the Administration’s commitment to take
this issue seriously—an issue so important to America’s manufacturers, farmers,
and workers.

If there are other reasonable approaches, they should also be considered. One way
or another, we need to get serious and start taking concrete actions that yield re-
sults to address imbalances in our trade relationships.

These problems in our trade relationship with China demonstrate vividly the im-
portance of expanded trade and the importance of vigorous efforts by Congress and
the Administration to shape the terms of expansion. Thank you.

Discussion, Questions and Answers

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman, could you both stay for just
a couple of questions——

Congressman LEVIN. Sure.

CoiChairman MuLLoy. —and then we will move on to the next
panel.

Congressman MANZULLO. That’s fine.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. One, thank you very much, both of you,
for your testimony.

Congressman MANZULLO. Could I make a comment on

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Yes.

Congressman MANZULLO. —if I could, on the Section 421, on the
surges.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Yes.

Congressman MANZULLO. The problem that we have—I've got a
manufacturer back home who makes brake rotors and drums. The
ITC will not allow tracking of loss in product prior to the date of
China coming into the WTO along with loss after that date. Are
you with me on that? Even if it shows a tremendous drop going on,
they say, well, no, no, no, under the law, we can only look at the
loss that’s occurred since China came into the WTO and we've es-
sentially had to ignore losses before that date. That is an erroneous
interpretation, Sandy, because you drew that legislation.

Congressman LEVIN. No, and now that you raise it, I will go back
and look at the language, because the surge provision—there’s also
a separate one on textiles, but the surge provision was one of the
three major ingredients of the amendments. The second one was
the annual review and the third was the creation of this Commis-
sion, of the Commission, the Congressional Executive Commission.

So, Don, I'm glad you raised it. Let me go back. So far, the two
cases that the ITC has handled, they’'ve made clear their interpre-
tation of that provision. We'll look at it.
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Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Dreyer.

Co-Chairman DREYER. Yes. First of all, I thank both of you. Rep-
resentative Manzullo, in a town where bland complacency seems to
be the order of the day no matter what’s happened, I congratulate
you on the passion you bring to this.

I would also suggest that it’s a bit worse than either of you have
suggested in that, increasingly, Chinese are moving not only into
jobs in high-tech sectors, but they’re taking positions in academia,
including, by the way, in the service academies. So when you are
getting economic analysis, you are getting it through a Chinese
perspective.

My question to you is, this challenge that’s been raised, that
China is currently the engine of world economic growth, it is doing
better economically than anywhere else, and if they are forced to
float their currency, to reduce their subsidies, things both of you
have mentioned, this engine will stall, and when this engine stalls,
it’s going to create international financial instability with it and no
one will win. How would you reply to that?

Congressman MANZULLO. Well, the U.S. isn’t winning now. And
we're Americans. We have to look after ourselves. If the leader
leads responsibly, then that means that that type of leadership will
bring with it the correct answers.

But I'm just tired of the American economists taking the side of
the Chinese.

Co-Chairman DREYER. And it’s going to happen more.

Congressman MANZULLO. Rockford, Illinois is at 11.3 percent un-
employment. It’s much bigger than that because the people give up.
They go off the unemployment rolls. Look at it from the American
perspective. How can you possibly lead if all you worry about is
what the Chinese think. I know the Chinese Ambassador. I'm the
Chairman of the American-Chinese Interparliamentary Exchange.
I meet with him frequently.

You know what you've got to do? You have to take a textbook out
of Henry Ford. Pay your people enough to buy your own stuff and
not depend upon the United States buying 40 percent of your ex-
ports to bail you out. I said, have you ever thought about that?
Duh. Well, they don’t like that. You know why? Because they
would be less competitive internationally. I care about what goes
on in world trade, but I also care about the factories that are being
shuttered and the people being unemployed, massive unemploy-
ment. How much more unemployment, Sandy, do we have to take
in this country before people of both parties—this isn’t a Repub-
lican or Democrat issue—wake up to the fact that we’re losing on
this thing?

Co-Chairman MULLOY. I guess he asked you the question——

Congressman LEVIN. So I'll respond.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Yes.

Congressman LEVIN. There is clearly a major challenge to manu-
facturing in the United States, clearly. Now, we have to have an
honest discussion about it because there are many in our midst,
and they’re not only economists, who think that there’s a shifting
going on from manufacturing to services and that is basically a
very beneficial shift. We have to talk that through.
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As some on the panel and I and others have pointed out, manu-
facturing is the major user of high-tech in this country. So when
you diminish manufacturing, it’s going to have an impact on high-
tech.

We need to have a grand debate about the role of manufacturing.
The auto industry, once again, has been the first engine pulling the
United States out of a recession, and there are others, but they
were the first. So there is a challenge, indeed, I think a crisis.

I want to put this, if I might, in the perspective I see. When we
consider China’s accession to the WTO, many of us said, look, it’s
not only a market and a greater one later, but it is now and will
increasingly become a competitor, and that is happening way be-
yond where they were just five years ago. They're a competitor.

So this isn’t a question of being pro- or anti-Chinese. It’s a mat-
ter of China being integrated into the world economic community
on the basis of rules that everybody abides by, including them. And
because they are so large, it is especially important that they play
by the rules. It’s not quite as important if it’s an economy one-
twentieth the size of the United States. China is now arguably, or
soon will be, the third-largest economy in the world. It depends
how you calculate.

So now to your question about China and the engine of growth,
and this is one of the arguments used by some, and it’s not only
economists. If you—and I read it in the New York Times this morn-
ing, if you get after them in terms of manipulation of their cur-
rency or their pegging the currency, and the same is said as to
Japan, you’re going to shut down economies that have been impor-
tant to the world global—to the world economy.

I think there are a couple of answers to this. Number one, I don’t
think very many are suggesting a radical change tomorrow. We're
talking about China floating its currency and doing so with some
definite date in mind. All they’re saying is some time in the future.
And with Japan, also we need a policy, I think, that doesn’t change
it radically tomorrow. Lord, we would have accepted gradual
change in the ’80s in terms of their non-tariff barriers and their
currency. But it’s been 20 years and we’re the same place as we
were with Japan 20 years ago.

The second point is, China is large, but compared to the United
States and Europe, it remains not as large, and to argue that
they’re playing by the rules in a responsible way would shut down
the world economy, I think is a gross overstatement.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Becker.

Commissioner BECKER. Yes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I wanted
to raise a couple of questions to Senator Schumer and Senator Dor-
gan. Of course, they’re gone now, but your testimony has all been
sort of the same, particularly from you.

Congressman MANZULLO. Yeah. We're all losing jobs.

Commissioner BECKER. Right. We’re all in this together.

The first thing I wanted to mention was the reference to Cancun
and the collapse. I think that was Senator Dorgan, or Stenholm,
I'm not sure.

Congressman LEVIN. Probably Charlie Stenholm.

Congressman MANZULLO. Representative Stenholm.
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Commissioner BECKER. He had mentioned that. I don’t want to
promote him here. I'll leave that for his constituencies. And he
talked about the incompetencies of those who negotiate our trade
agreements and how lopsided they are. I wanted to mention one
thing in regards to that.

Congress has tried to give direction to USTR in a very strong
way of how to deal with or how to handle attempts to weaken our
trade laws, particularly the anti-dumping and the countervailing
duties. But contrary to this, in Doha, the USTR put on the table
as one of the modalities that was going to be worked out between
then and Cancun just exactly those items, the anti-dumping and
the countervailing duty. They would have been on the table at
Cancun for negotiations had everything went much more smoothly,
but that was not the case. I just wanted to mention that in spite
of direction from Congress, they proceeded in an entirely different
way.

The other point I wanted to make, though, was to ask for com-
ments on, and it sort of goes to what Commissioner Dreyer had
pointed out, was some of the testimony that we’re going to hear
this afternoon, I expect we will talk about the frailties of the eco-
nomic system in China and that pursuing the change in the RMB
could actually collapse the economic structure and perhaps even
collapse the government.

This is of great concern to multinationals who have invested a
lot of money and efforts into China and to the financial institutions
that are developing a strong foothold into China and I was just
wondering if you had any comments on that and the feeling as to
whether that would be as drastic a response. It’s sort of implied
that, from what I've read, it’s sort of implied that we have a re-
sponsibility for the stability of the Chinese government and that we
should be very careful of what we’re doing.

Congressman LEVIN. Should I comment first on the trade laws?
I didn’t agree with the trade promotion authority bill that passed.
We had an alternative. But both of them were strong in terms of
the trade laws.

I think, as you know, at Doha, a step was taken by our Trade
Rep that opened the door to renegotiation, and at Doha, 1 ex-
pressed the belief that was a mistake. I think it turned out that
it was opening the door, because if Cancun had proceeded, every-
thing was going to be on the table on our trade laws and that was
what we should be avoiding.

I was involved in the Uruguay Round and in the final negotiation
of the anti-dumping and countervailing duty provisions. We nego-
tiated hard. We reached an agreement, and that agreement should
not be undone.

I might say that I think that whatever was the motivation of the
Administration in terms of steel, and there was, I think, too large
a political motivation, I think you need to look at the policy of it,
and I think in terms of policy, the action of the Administration was
correct and it’s working out, as Mr. Becker knows better than any-
body else here, I think, to have some reconstruction within the
steel industry with everybody contributing, both management and
labor, and I think we’ll end up with a steel industry, while if no
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action had been taken we would have ended up with a very tiny
one, a diminishing one, in any event.

When the people come before you and make the argument that
you suggested, and it was discussed a bit earlier, I suggest that you
challenge them and don’t let them paint the picture as if we're say-
ing to the Chinese, float your currency without any limitations to-
morrow, or the same with Japan, don’t—just don’t buy any more
dollars. No. The question is whether the currency state of affairs
is satisfactory, and I think the answer to that is no. The answer
to that is no. Japan cannot continue on its course without con-
tinuing to injure American industry, its business, and its workers.
And just talk to business people and they will tell you that.

And as to China, the same is true. If they continue to peg their
currency and there is no change at all, it is going to have a consid-
erable impact on U.S. industry and eventually on services. So don’t
let them paint you as suggesting a radical position when there are
alternatives between doing nothing and a total change overnight.

And you challenge them. Don’t let them make you a radical, be-
cause when we propose answering these trade issues, there is al-
ways an understanding that there has to be—you have to tailor it
to the specific situation. But they don’t even go to the sewing ma-
chine. They don’t tailor anything. They just throw up their hands
and say, the best trade policy is hands off, even if the other guy
is rigging the system. That’s what the basic issue is.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Congressman Manzullo.

Congressman MANZULLO. I just want to say, with regard to hurt-
ing the multinationals, multinationals are in China for two rea-
sons. One of the reasons is there’s a huge market over there for
their product to the people living in China itself, and you can un-
derstand why. It just makes sense in most occasions to continue to
manufacture there.

But you can’t have it both ways. You can’t outsource from the
United States, such as GM and Ford, to China and expect to have
a guaranteed cheap source of labor by taking the position that hav-
ing a fair system of currency exchange is somehow going to hurt
the company. You can’t do that any more than you can put on a
price freeze.

I'm sure the unions in Detroit would not be agreeable to a price
freeze on their labor. And essentially, this is what the multi-
nationals have done. I'm not being critical, because these are our
companies and they support a lot of our jobs here, too, but what
the multinationals are saying is that they want a price freeze on
Chinese labor, to be guaranteed a cheap supply of Chinese labor so
they can do more and more outsourcing of parts coming into our
automobiles, and I've got a Chrysler facility in my Congressional
district—and you can’t do that.

World trade does not depend upon a fixed guarantee system of
labor being frozen. And when you convert it into those terms, then
you can see how dramatically wrong it is to have a currency that
does not float.

The second thing is you need an incentive—to keep manufac-
turing in the U.S. Let me tout our bill. You know, the FSC/ETI bill,
the WTO held that it violated the WTO, and essentially, that was
a blessing in disguise. So there is a bill out there now, Crane, Ran-
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gel, Manzullo, Levin, which says that, with regard to C corpora-
tions, to the extent that they manufacture in the United States,
their income tax will be lowered by up to ten percent.

So it answers the call, and there are a lot of companies that are
multinationals that are on it. UTC is on it, the Boeing Corporation,
and other big corporations. But their thinking is, if we do so much
outsourcing around the world, who’s going to have a job left in the
United States to buy the stuff we’'re manufacturing overseas? Does
anybody ever ask that question? And it has to be asked.

So when we’ve been working very diligently on this bill—Sandy,
I think we have 150 cosponsors in the House——

Congressman LEVIN. Yes.

Congressman MANZULLO. The other side of the bill is Congress-
man Thomas, the Chairman of the Ways and Means Committee.
He’s got a bill out there. Senator Grassley just introduced a bill
that really adopts the concepts of ours, and that is American com-
panies would be rewarded for keeping manufacturing in the United
States by a decrease in the taxes that they pay. The bill that we’ve
been working on, Sandy, very diligently, that has a lot of steam,
but it’s up against the Chairman of the Ways and Means Com-
mittee.

But what we see going on in this city is that all of a sudden, that
more and more people are cognizant to the issue of manufac-
turing—Sandy, you would agree on that

Congressman LEVIN. Very much so.

Congressman MANZULLO. —because they see the bleeding. Now,
we’re creatures of our Congressional districts, it’s obvious. We
know what machine oil is. Chairman Thomas is a wonderful man,
but he doesn’t have the industrial base that we do. He has pis-
tachios and pecans and lettuce and the high-end ag and tech. He’s
lost a lot of jobs. And we talked about garlic, both from my ethnic
background and the fact that the Chinese are flooding the market
with garlic and hurting many of his garlic growers.

It’s been a very interesting discussion of public policy that’s been
very open. There’s been no contention. We bring in the back-
grounds of the Members of Congress with regard to these various
bills, because as the Constitution envisions, we are creatures of our
Congressional district and we represent our people.

And then Bill Thomas just, what, about two or three weeks ago,
Sandy, added that massive manufacturing component to his bill on
replacing that. So in a sense, we're encouraged that more and more
people are waking up to the fact that we’re losing this manufac-
turing base.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Here’s what we’re going to do now. We're
going to have one more question from a Commissioner, then two
Commissioners want to make a brief comment to both of you, and
then we're going to take a five-minute recess, and then we’re going
to have our next panel, which are exchange rate experts who have
all different views on this issue to talk with us for a couple hours.

But Commissioner Bartholomew.

Commissioner BARTHOLOMEW. Thank you very much, and thank
you to our witnesses, both for coming today and being so generous
with your time. I know how difficult that is, to fit in so much time,
and also for your leadership on behalf of the American people.
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I, of course, had the good fortune of having worked for now
Democratic Leader Nancy Pelosi for 15-and-a-half years and I
know that she and a number of other people on both sides of the
aisle started raising concerns about some of these trends in the
U.S.-China relationship going back 13 years, concerns about the
trade deficit, about manufacturing, about what was going to hap-
pen in the service sector and intellectual property rights, about
tech transfer, in fact, all of these things that we’re now talking
about.

China’s accession to the WTO, the whole PNTR debate, of course,
one of the major selling points on Capitol Hill was that it was
going to be providing an effective mechanism to address some of
these concerns. And, in fact, as you both have testified, things have
really gotten worse.

I was wondering if you just had thoughts on why those mecha-
nisms haven’t worked. Is it flaws in the mechanism? Is it lack of
political will? Is it something else? Why are we where we are?

Congressman LEVIN. Quickly, the annual review can be very
meaningful if everybody will work at it. The Chinese government
position was they weren’t going to actively participate in terms of
back and forth, in terms of written communications. I think if the
WTO is serious about it that the Chinese in this second round
more likely will cooperate more.

It needs to be made clear. This wasn’t anti-China. Why an an-
nual review? It’s because most countries come into the WTO al-
ready complying with WTO provisions. In the case of China, that
wasn’t true.

Secondly, China’s size. The annual review should be and can be
meaningful.

Thirdly, the surge provision is, as I said, the most tightly written
surge provision ever placed in American law. We need much more
vigorous use of it by the Administration. They ducked it the first
two times, and they were small amounts of money, but the issue
was a big one. The Commission that was created, the Executive
Congressional Commission, along the lines of the Helsinki Commis-
sion, can become a very, and I think is becoming a more effective
instrumentality.

So I think there are vehicles there that can be used to make sure
that China abides by its commitments, plays by the rules. We need
to more actively work with the Europeans and with others as well
as the Chinese.

So in part, I think it’s been the failure of the Administration to
be vigorous enough in the utilization of the provisions that were
put into the law.

Congressman MANZULLO. What we have here is a clash of two
cultures. The Chinese have 6,000 years of history, 5,000 years of
recorded history, and the Chinese think, not for their own genera-
tion, but for second and third generations down the line.

We in America, the longest long-range planning most corpora-
tions have is three months. It’s true. It’s the next quarterly esti-
mate of profit. And we don’t think long-range.

There’s a book that’s been written by an author by the name of
Alan Kennedy called The End of Shareholder Value. I don’t know
if he’s a “D” or an “R.” I have no idea what his political philosophy
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is. But he talks about the changing nature and the pressure put
on corporations in this country, raise the value of the stock so that
iche retirement portfolio of the retirees will be something they can
ive on.

But on the other hand, raising the price of the stock isn’t all
there is, and what we’ve seen in America, and how American com-
panies differ from Chinese companies. In America at one time, you
were profitable if your company made a reasonable profit and you
took care of your employees because employees were always consid-
ered to be capital assets. Today, the definition of profits has
changed. You have to be more profitable than your competitor, as
if there’s only room in the economy for one person.

That has squashed long-range planning. It’s made the inevitable
estimates on the quarterly earnings to be paramount, and that’s
why you’ve seen, I believe it was AT&T who said, we’re not going
to do that any more. Warren Buffet at Coca-Cola said we’re not
going to comment on those quarterly earnings. Pepsi-Cola said you
can’t do that.

We're actually going to have a hearing on the changing nature
of American corporations. And again, this is not fault. We're talk-
ing about sociological changes and financial changes that have
made American companies think differently in terms of the long-
range investment and the impact that it has because theyre under
so much pressure in order to bring these profits up.

No one wants to talk about that. And again, this is not anti-cap-
italism. This isn’t corporation bashing. But it’s an opportunity for
revisiting to see what are we doing wrong in our culture in the
terms that we raise our companies. That’s quite an issue, but I
think that stands at the root of it.

We've got a vote coming up shortly on the continuing resolution.
Go ahead.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Commissioner Reinsch, do you want to
say one word, and then Dick, and then we’ll move out of here.

Commissioner REINSCH. I just want to commend both of you for
different reasons, if I may.

Mr. Levin, picking up on something that Commissioner Bar-
tholomew said, I really appreciate your very thoughtful and
nuanced statement that makes one very important point that oth-
ers have not made, which is that there are existing structures and
laws both in WTO and in U.S. law that are designed to address
these problems. I think youre right, they haven’t been fully or
properly implemented, and that’s something to work on. But I
think it’s very important to note that the structures exist. Some
people like you work very hard to put them in place and I think
we ought to look to them before we go off and create new ones.

Mr. Manzullo, I particularly want to commend you for a point
you alluded to only in passing, and that is your work on the visa
issue. I testified at your hearing. You are the only Chairman in the
House or the Senate that has not been intimidated by the security
people and has taken this issue on.

Congressman MANZULLO. Well, we have no jurisdiction. That
doesn’t mean anything to us.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, your work is very important. I
mean, whether or not there’s an issue with the Chinese, we some-
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times do shoot ourselves in the foot, and this is the classic case of
having done that and it has prevented us from increasing our ex-
ports to China and other places, as you note. I wish you well on
that and hope that your staff in the follow-on work that they're
doing with my other hat organization and others bears some fruit,
because we’re not having a lot of luck with anybody else and I ap-
preciate it. Thank you.

Congressman MANZULLO. Bill, if I could follow up on that for just
a second. We got involved in this when I found out that the Army
had ordered 2.5 million black berets for their soldiers, and they
were going to be made in South Africa, Romania, Sri Lanka, India,
China, Canada, and then some in the United States. And you know
what I had to do? I had to subpoena in—I'm not proud of this, but
I had to do it—the Chief of Staff of the Army, a four-star general,
General Shinseki, a marvelous man, and two generals from the
DLA and say, what are you doing? Have you ever made the connec-
tion between the loss of manufacturing jobs in this country and the
giving away of our procurement?

Do you know what is going on now? DLA wants to order 30,000
flight jackets with Pakistani goat leather because they don’t think
there’s enough U.S. goat leather around. Representative Charlie
Stenholm is the goat king—and in working with him, I'm going to
become an expert in goats. But I have to when you’re around this
place.

But we go one by one by one, and it carries over into other areas
of procurement. We have an investigation going on of the F-35. It’s
important to bring it up. That’s 90 percent American money where
we're guaranteed to buy 3,000 of those plans. This is the joint
strike force. The Brits put up about five percent of the money.
They're guaranteed to buy 400 of them. Five other nations get a
huge amount of the manufacturing and they’re under no obligation
to buy any of those aircraft. Now, you tell me that’s right?

What has happened is that one of the subcontractors on the F—
35, instead of buying a high-quality, high-end drilling machine
from Ingersoll Milling Machine in Rockford, Illinois, bought it from
the Spaniards, who are not part of that seven-nation consortium,
based upon best value. It’s cheaper to buy there because of the cur-
rency.

U.S. taxpayers’ dollars for U.S. aircraft flown by men and women
in U.S. uniforms, giving away the store in procurement. There’s
balance somewhere.

But that, again, it’s a whole new area of the loss of our manufac-
turing base. We are all over it, had to order a GAO study. We get
statements that say it would cost millions of dollars to monitor
where these parts are coming from, but they’re already bound by
the Berry amendment and by the Buy American Act to follow those
rules and they’re not following existing rules and it’s causing the
loss of hundreds of thousands, if not millions, of manufacturing
jobs in this country. That’s where we can start, is with our own
government’s procurement policy.

We do have to go vote now, Sandy. It went off. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you.

Congressman LEVIN. Thank you very much.
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Co-Chairman MuLLOoY. We want to work with you and your
staffs as we proceed on these issues. Thank you again, both of you.

Congressman MANZULLO. Thanks again.

Congressman LEVIN. Thank you so much.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. We're going to take a five-minute break
and then we’ll have our next panel.

[Off the record.]

PANEL I: EXCHANGE RATE ISSUES

Chairman ROBINSON. Excuse me. Time is tight for some of our
witnesses. If we could all take our chairs, that would be very help-
ful. Thank you. If we could all take our seats, please.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. For this panel, I want to let our witnesses
know how much we appreciate them taking time to be here, and
also for the excellent testimony that has been submitted by the
panelists. Mr. Roach, I found your testimony very interesting. A lit-
tle different approach than we have been hearing so far.

And here is the other thing. Each witness will speak for 7 min-
utes. Dr. Bergsten has to be out of here by noon today. This panel,
we are going to run it right on into 1 o’clock. So if we could have
Dr. Bergsten deliver his statement, take some questions, and then,
Dr., if you could stay around and listen to the others, fine, but if
you have to be out of here by noon, we want to have an exchange
with you. Then we will go through each of the others. Seven-
minute opening statement.

The Commissioners, we are going to limit their question time to
five minutes so that they can get in and out. When you are taking
a question, if it is kind of wrapping up here, meaning their time
is done, kind of finish up with your answer and do not extend it
on. If we could do that, that would be enormously helpful.

On this panel we have Dr. C. Fred Bergsten, the Director of the
International Institute for Economics. We have Mr. Stephen Roach,
who is the Chief Economist with Morgan Stanley. We have Mr.
David Hale, who is a friend of the Commission, been here with us
before. He is the Chief Economist and Founder of Hale Advisors.
And Dr. Ernie Preeg, who is an adjunct fellow at the Hudson Insti-
tute, and I believe you served in the Reagan Administration in a
policy-level position in that Administration. I know Dr. Bergsten
also served in a high-level position, Assistant Secretary of the
Treasury.

So if we can start with you, Dr. Bergsten, and give your state-
ment and then we will have a few questions to you.

STATEMENT OF C. FRED BERGSTEN, Ph.D.
DIRECTOR, INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR ECONOMICS

Dr. BERGSTEN. Lots of topics have been raised this morning, but
I take it our focus here is the exchange rate. I also take it that
most people, not everyone, but most people agree that the renminbi
is substantially undervalued and needs to be raised in terms of re-
ducing China’s surpluses and helping the U.S. reduce its deficit.

So I am going to address three issues: how much should the cur-
rency be changed? How should the mechanism of change be pur-
sued? And why I believe it is in China’s interest to do it, as we are
suggesting they should.
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First, how much? China has not been running a very large global
surplus. A lot of people here focus on the bilateral surplus with the
U.S. but that is wrong. We should focus on its global surplus,
which normalized over the last few years, has been about 2 percent
of its GDP. I believe we should seek a change in its exchange rate
and other policies that would move it to a current account deficit
of about 2 percent of its GDP. It can easily finance that from direct
investment and other capital inflow. So the goal, I would submit,
is a change in China’s trade position by about a minus 4 percent
of its GDP.

We have calculated, with trade elasticities and the like, how
much that would take and our conclusion is that a revaluation of
20 to 25 percent of the renminbi would do the job. That, inciden-
tally, should permit other Asian currencies, including Japan, Tai-
wan, Korea, to go up at least partway, maybe 10 percent or so, be-
cause with the renminbi appreciating, they would be willing to ap-
preciate against the dollar since it would actually create a depre-
ciation of their own currencies against the Chinese currency, their
main competitor.

If you put all those currency changes together the result would
be a reduction of about $50 billion in the U.S. current account def-
icit, which in turn translates to something like 500,000 high-paying
jobs, mainly in manufacturing in this country.

I am not going to spend time talking about our overall deficit. It
is getting close to $600 billion a year. We have to import $4 billion
of foreign capital a day to finance it, plus our own capital outflows.
It was exactly right, as Senator Schumer and Congressman Man-
zullo both said, that the situation is unsustainable—in terms of
both our domestic politics—and in terms of the capital markets and
the risk of a dollar crash at a later point. We have a huge interest
in changing the situation, and a 20 to 25 percent appreciation of
the renminbi with follow-up changes by the other Asian currencies
would be an essential part of that correction.

Point two, how to get it? This is a critical point because I believe
Secretary Snow, the G—7 and all of the Congressmen who spoke
this morning have it wrong. They are proposing that China float
the renminbi, and that is a worthy long-term goal. We all believe
in floating rates, markets and all that, but if we put our effort in
that direction it will not happen for 5 years or more.

The Chinese are correct not to float their currency because to do
so in a meaningful way they would have to eliminate their capital
controls, and Secretary Snow was consistent in asking them to
eliminate their capital controls as they go to a floating rate. The
problem of course is that China has a bankrupt banking system,
that the vagaries of international capital flows are such that no
country wants to expose itself to those uncertainties when its inter-
nal financial system is not sound, and that it will take a long time
to occur. To put it pragmatically, if China actually floated the cur-
rency and freed up its capital controls, the renminbi would prob-
ably go down in value, not up. The reason is because there is a
huge amount of wealth in China, invested in China, which through
the natural process of portfolio diversification would in the first few
years, after freeing the capital account and floating exchange rate,
go out. The rate would go down, their competitive position would
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improve. The situation would get worse. So on both conceptual and
pragmatic grounds, our government, and the Members of Congress
who spoke today and the G—7 over the weekend in Dubai were ask-
ing for the wrong thing.

What they should be asking for, and what I believe is eminently
doable, is for the Chinese to keep their fixed exchange rate system
but to change the price: revalue the currency, as I said, by 20 to
25 percent on a one-shot basis. Tell the Chinese we respect their
desire to maintain a fixed exchange rate and maintain some re-
strictions on the capital account as long as they have a bankrupt
banking system, et al. Yes, move toward correction and reform of
that over the long run. But, in the short run to deal with the prob-
lem we are all talking about here today, we want a one-shot reval-
uation of a substantial amount, as I have calculated, which would
give a substantial improvement to our international position, con-
vert them into a sustainable position, and I believe significantly
dampen, though not of course eliminate, all the kinds of pressures
we have talked about today.

Point three. I believe it is very much in China’s interest to do
this for half a dozen reasons. First, they are now experiencing huge
inflows of speculative capital, which believe the renminbi is going
to go up. That is further ballooning the Chinese money supply,
adding to financial instability in the country. Indeed, the Central
Bank has begun to raise reserve requirements to deal with an in-
cipient bubble. The only way to choke off the capital inflow is a
substantial revaluation of the currency to end the incentive for
speculative capital flight in an inward direction.

Moreover, note that the worst thing to do would be to widen the
band and permit the rate to go up by only 2 or 3 percent. That
would say to the speculators, ah, they are going to move the ex-
change rate. We know 2 or 3 percent will not do it. We are going
to pile in. It would intensify the speculative pressure. So widening
the band, like asking them to float all of a sudden, are both non-
remedies or worse. I come back to a one shot revaluation.

The Chinese will thus do it, one, because it will help dampen in-
ternal speculation, inflationary pressures and ballooning of the
money supply, which worsen the situation of their already unstable
financial system. Two: a higher currency, and therefore a shift of
their external position from surplus to deficit, will stop the build
up of reserves, which is a huge misallocation of Chinese resources.
China is a country with a GDP of a trillion dollars, and $350 billion
of foreign exchange reserves is 35 percent of the GDP. If we did
that, we would have foreign exchange reserves of $3%2 trillion as
compared to the $160 billion that we have. In other words, this is
a massive misallocation of China’s own resources, putting money in
T-bills earning 2 percent when their own economy is growing at 7—
8 percent a year and they could have a return of 10—20 percent on
their internal investment.

There is a big debate on that in China. The government is under
much criticism internally for such resource misallocation. A change
in their exchange rate and external position would help enor-
mously.

Third. The pressures that you are hearing in this discussion this
morning. Call it protectionism, call it defending our industrial base,
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call it what you want, the current situation is unsustainable. There
will be very strong reaction, not only in U.S. incidentally but in
other countries around the world, to a continued rapid build up of
Chinese reserves, trade surpluses and the like. The Chinese have
made a huge commitment to joining the WTO, joining the world
system, and using trade liberalization—yes, I said trade liberaliza-
tion in China, which is very profound—to promote their internal
domestic reforms. If they wind up with a bunch of trade actions
against then, their leadership will have massive egg on its face and
be in very bad shape. For that reason too, they will want to avoid
it.

Finally, China places a lot of importance on its role in East Asia
and its role in the world. They got justified praise for not letting
their currency depreciate and not devaluing in the Asian crisis and
making it worse. Now they need to make an equally positive con-
tribution to the world economy, global stability and avoidance of
trade backsliding, by raising the value of their currency. It would
be the best thing they could do for their neighbors, much better
than the China-ASEAN free trade agreement that they are dis-
cussing in response to the concerns of their neighbors about their
competitiveness. It would provide a major step in global leadership
terms for the Chinese, which is also very important to them.

In short, we can see how much change is needed: 20-25 percent.
There is a clear path to get it: a one-shot revaluation, not some chi-
mera of floating half a decade from now. The Chinese themselves
have a major interest in doing it.

I would be happy to answer any questions if there is time to do
that.

Discussion, Questions and Answers

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Are there any questions? Commissioner
D’Amato.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much for your very in-
teresting comment, Mr. Bergsten. Do you think that there is a cen-
ter of gravity in the Chinese economic elite that essentially not
only understands but makes the same argument that you do and
reaches the same conclusion? Is there authoritative evidence do you
think in writing or at least in commentary that would lead us to
think that they agree with your analysis?

Dr. BERGSTEN. I can personally testify that they agree with a lot
of it. On my last trip I had dinner with the Minister of Finance,
a long meeting with the Governor of the People’s Bank of China,
and they said explicitly: “We know that the currency is under-
valued. We are not even sure it is a good thing that it is under-
valued. We have a game plan to correct that situation. We have un-
certainty about how much, how to do it, and the timing.” In fact,
when I asked about the timing, the answer I got was, “Well, maybe
sometime around the Olympics” but of course they mean their
Olympics, the Beijing Olympics in 2008. I suggested that was a bit
too leisurely and one ought to think about doing it more quickly.

But again, to the extent we ask them to float and free the capital
account, we are postponing likely action rather than promoting
early response to the kind of problems that we are discussing here
today.



47

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. I do think that the comments that Con-
gressman Levin made indicates that he is more in agreement with
you than you think. I mean in saying floating, he did not mean re-
leasing it all together. He did say staging it. I think it is not that
big a step from staging it to what you are saying.

I have a second question, and that is on your commentary on T-
bills and the size of their buying on that account. Is it your under-
standing or your impression that they have reached a conclusion
that they have done too much of that and they need to start cur-
tailing it radically? And what would the impact be if they did start
curtailing their purchase of T-bills radically? Or would they be will-
ing to start selling off some of their stock? A lot of people are wor-
ried about this.

Dr. BERGSTEN. I think Chinese reserves are excessive. There is
no rational basis for having $350 billion of reserves in China so
they should sell some off. But that is not going to kill our T-bill
market. Someone will buy the T-bills. The price may change to
some extent but, if we are talking about getting our trade deficit
down, and realizing that we have to bring the exchange rate of the
dollar down as the only mechanism to bring our trade deficit down,
the prices are going to change. But it is fascinating how over the
last 18 months the dollar has come down 40 percent against the
Euro, down by a trade-related average of 10 percent, and U.S. in-
terest rates have been at their lowest levels in 40 years. In short,
it is not axiomatic that a decline of the dollar will push up interest
rates.

If our economy goes to full employment, if we overheat, and if
our friends in these buildings push the budget deficit not only to
$500 billion but keep going up of course interest rates are going to
go up, but that is not the fault of the Chinese.

I agree with Chairman Manzullo that we should not be hostage
to the decisions of other countries in operating our financial mar-
kets. But gentlemen and ladies, we are not. The Chinese did not
create our trade deficit. We create our trade deficit. It is up to us
to take action to correct our trade deficit. Part of that will be a
lower exchange rate for the dollar. That is not good for our welfare
but it will reduce the instabilities and unsustainabilities that I
have talked about.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. If I could do this, if any of the other wit-
nesses, even though you have not yet delivered your full statement,
if you have comments on anything that Dr. Bergsten says in re-
sponse to questions that he is taking now, feel free to do that.

Commissioner Wessel, and then Commissioner Ellsworth.

Commissioner WESSEL. Thank you. It is good to see you again,
and I appreciate your coming before this panel.

Some weeks ago a number of articles appeared that the Chinese
in fact might respond to this problem by freeing up the ability of
Chinese interests to invest in the U.S. market, going through
bonds, equities, in fact, to companies themselves. We saw just a
couple of weeks ago, Magnequench, a defense concern in Indiana
was purchased by the Chinese and moved all their production
equipment to China. Are we possibly going to see a replay of the
1980s vis-a-vis Japan, where Japan with Rockefeller Center, with
the investments they made here, decided to deal with some of their
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trade problems by shifting production patterns, buying our equi-
ties, and in fact, I would argue in some ways neutering our polit-
ical system at times by creating an investment network here in the
country that limited our responses to some of our trade problems?

Dr. BERGSTEN. It is not only a replication of Japan in the 1980s
but a replication of Germany in the 1960s, and indeed every sur-
plus country who winds up with an undervalued currency and tries
to carry out every kind of gyration possible to resist revaluation of
its currency. There will be efforts to manipulate export tax rebates,
for example. The Chinese are talking about that. There will be
moves on both capital inflows and capital outflows, all in an effort
to fend off the evil day when they have to revalue the exchange
rate. I have suggested it is actually in their interest to do so, and
they should not view it as an evil day, but certain forces within the
country certainly will, as in all other countries facing that situa-
tion.

The problem again is that the markets know that those are not
effective substitutes and will not sustain a new equilibrium of a
lasting nature and so those steps tend—as I mentioned with wid-
ening the currency band—to promote more speculative inflow and
worsen the existing problem and indeed push it toward eventual
resolution. As in the case of Japan you mentioned, remember the
yen exchange rate eventually kept going up and up and it finally
got to 80 yen to the dollar in 1995. I will also take the occasion
to say that China today is not Japan in the 1980s.

Dr. RoacH. Can I just echo that? I think there is one huge mis-
conception here, that China should be treated on a par with every
other trading partner that the United States has, whether it is
Germany or Japan. To Fred’s point, there is one critical difference
here. China is a poor country. At today’s levels, Japan’s per capita
income is 40 times that of China. China is committed to the most
extraordinary political and economic transformation that we will
ever see in our lifetime. There is absolutely no credit being given
to what China is attempting to do in order to transition its econ-
omy through tough reforms and to take the risk to join our rules-
based system so then it can be subjected to accountability in hear-
ings like this.

China does have huge issues that it is dealing with internally in
managing its transition, none of which have been discussed here
today. So far, this discussion makes it sound like China is the
world’s most powerful nation, bringing America to its knees, and
I would say that you have got that one dead wrong.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Let me just speak to that.

Dr. BERGSTEN. Could I say, Mr. Chairman, I had a different
point in mind but it goes in the same direction. Steve’s right about
China of course being a relatively poor country. The point I was
getting to is that China, for all the trade problems that were men-
tioned before, and correctly so, is an incredibly open economy. The
share of imports in the Chinese economy is 2% times what it is in
Japan or in ours. The share of foreign investment contributing to
value added is 25 times what it is in Japan, and China’s exports,
yes, are rising 30, 40 percent a year but note that its imports are
rising 40 to 50 percent a year. Its imports are rising faster than
its exports are rising. It is a very open economy, amazingly so for
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a continental landmass like us at an early stage of development.
It is a very different model than Japan.

One other key point. We have all noted how China pegged to the
dollar in 1994. If they were trying to pursue a policy of competitive
undervaluation, they were incredibly stupid because the dollar hit
its all-time record low in 1995 and, as we know because that is the
chief reason for our trade deficit, the dollar rose from 1995 until
early 2002 by 40 percent, and the Chinese pegged to the dollar and
rode the dollar up, not down, by 40 percent over a 6% year period.
It has ridden the dollar back down over the last 18 months. As I
said, I believe it is undervalued and needs to be revalued. But the
Chinese currency, vis-a-vis the rest of the world, is substantially
stronger today than it was in 1994 when they pegged to the dollar
because they rode us up. So again, being fair, balanced to the Chi-
nese and others on this—and I am at the front of the queue of the
hawks saying they should revalue the exchange rate, you know my
bonas fides on that—they rode the dollar up a lot longer and a lot
further than they have ridden it down.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Let me say this, and then we will turn to
Commissioner Ellsworth. We have a panel this afternoon, Dr.
Roach, of Mr. Nolan, who is an expert on the Chinese society and
economy coming in from Cambridge England. We have another
Professor Steinfeld from MIT, who lay out some of the issues I
think that you are concerned that we may get a misimpression of
the total Chinese society and economy, and we have structured this
hearing to guard against that effort.

Now, when you have a panel of people here, elected representa-
tives of our people, you get a sense of the anguish going on in our
heartland about some of the things that are going on. And that is
what this hearing is about, what is happening here and what
should we be thinking about and how to rectify it.

Dr. RoacH. Can I just comment on one thing about the anguish
in the heartland?

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Sure.

Dr. RoAcH. Fred alluded to this, and what I heard today sitting
at this table, as well as from some of you, with all due respect, was
that the economists do not get it. This is not about economists
versus politicians, but just think for a second, please, about one
simple macroeconomic accounting identity. America has no savings.
Our national savings rate, if you add it up for businesses, con-
sumers and the government sector, adjust it for depreciation, is
now down to zero. The biggest swing factor in that has been the
dramatic shift in our government sector savings position from sur-
plus to deficit.

When we are saving short, we have to import surplus savings
from abroad to grow our economy, and to get that capital we have
to run current account and trade deficits. Is that China’s fault? If
we were not trading with China, close down everything with China,
as Chuck Schumer wants to do, we would have to run trade deficits
with somebody else. Those deficits would be with higher cost pro-
ducers, and that would then represent a tax on the American con-
sumer.

The anguish of the American people should be directed at the
people in these halls that have given us these massive budget defi-
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cits that have squandered our domestic savings. The job issue is di-
rectly tied to that, not to what China is doing to America. That is
a huge disconnect between what I have heard here today and what
I believe in my heart is a very important fact.

Commissioner WESSEL. If I could just reclaim the time that I lost
earlier, we certainly understand that, Mr. Roach, that this is a jig-
saw puzzle with a lot of pieces. Our job, our charge from Congress
is to comment on the U.S.-China situation. Some of us served on
the U.S. Federal Trade Deficit Review Commission some years ago
and understand clearly the enormity of the problem. I could argue
to you that if we were to repeal the Bush tax cuts, we would be
taking a significant step towards resolving some of our problems.

That is not the issue before us today, so understand that as we
look at this, we are simply addressing the U.S.-China bilateral re-
lationship, understanding the enormity of the problem.

Dr. BERGSTEN. Could I make one analytical point on that because
it is really critical for you all. I am sure you have heard it but I
want to make sure. The U.S. bilateral trade deficit with China is
huge. At my Institute for International Economics we have ana-
lyzed it in depth and our conclusion is that 70 or 80 percent of all
the imports that we now bring in from China were previously
brought in from other countries or would be brought in from other
countries if somehow China disappeared from the face of the earth.
They would not be substituted for by U.S. production. That is a
critical analytical point to understand and really goes exactly, I
think, Mike, to what you were saying, because it means the China
dimension does have to be seen in that broader global context. But
I just wanted to put it on the record.

Commissioner WESSEL. The Mexicans have made it very clear to
us that NAFTA, they do not believe, is the problem any more, that
the problem is China, and they are seeing jobs flowing to China as
well, so clearly we have heard and we understand much of that.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Let me turn to Commissioner Ellsworth.

Dr. Preeg, did you have a comment?

Dr. PREEG. Very briefly, I just wanted to say that even if I
agreed with all of the wide-ranging comments and differing views,
I still do not believe that justifies the fact that China has been in
clear violation of its IMF Article IV commitments, which is a part
of the issue and a part of the problem, and which I will try to ex-
plain later when my turn comes.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you.

Commissioner Ellsworth.

Commissioner ELLSWORTH. From reading the papers and from
listening to the testimony this morning, I have gotten the impres-
sion, right or wrong, that our approach to China has been to say
to them we have got a lot of pain and we are morally superior, and
therefore, change your exchange rate.

Now, you took a different approach. You said it is in their inter-
est to change their exchange rate, and you explained very clearly
what it would do for China. My question to you—and I know you
have had a lot of experience in this field in a practical way—if we
were to go to China, clearly and unambiguously and say, “This is
in your interest and here is why,” what do you think the chances
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are of the Chinese understanding that and responding accordingly,
just your gut feeling?

Dr. BERGSTEN. I hope that our representatives and negotiators
are putting it in those terms since that is the most likely to achieve
success. The Chinese are very smart people and they understand
their interests. As I said, I have personally discussed it with them
and found great understanding and some sympathy for moving in
the direction we are talking about. There is always a delicate diplo-
matic question of course, do you help get what you want by bring-
ing some pressure to bear or do you lead to push-back that under-
mines your own case?

I think, for all the reasons we are talking about today, it is to-
tally legitimate for the U.S. to put this issue frontally on the table.
Ernie Preeg is right that the Chinese have not lived up to their
IMF obligations but the IMF has never asked them to do so. And
the United States, as the chief shareholder of the IMF, has never
asked them to do so. And the G-7, which is supposed to more or
less steer the world economy, has not until this weekend in Dubai
begun to do so.

So I have same forgiveness for the Chinese that I have had for
other countries in the past when nobody called it to their attention
what they were supposed to do. Nobody, in short, was minding the
store at the center of the system as they were supposed to do.

So it is a blend of all these things. There are international obli-
gations, both trade and financial. There is the role the U.S. inevi-
tably has to play as the steward of the system. I think we are right
to raise this. Indeed, without it, you probably would not get action.
But I think if diplomacy can be done properly, there is a good
chance that China and other countries in Asia will see it in their
interest to move in the right direction.

Commissioner ELLSWORTH. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Becker, did you have a
question?

Commissioner BECKER. Yes, just very quickly.

I really appreciate your comments, and it is very well laid out.
But in the end, in spite of the pleadings and in spite of the argu-
ments, if we are unable to get the Chinese to voluntarily change
a relationship between the RMB and the U.S. dollar, you yourself
have said this is unsustainable. I have heard that word for the last
5, 7 years on deficits. What do you see as a result if we are unable
to change that? What do you see as a result of the effect on our
economy here in the United States?

Dr. BERGSTEN. I think two things inevitably occur, and that is
why I say unsustainable in two senses: a domestic political sense
and a financial market sense.

The domestic political sense is what we are talking about here
today. I believe that if the U.S. current account deficit keeps rising
and the dollars remains overpriced by 25, 30 percent in world mar-
kets, therefore undermining the competitiveness of American in-
dustry by those amounts, that we will get a sharp reversal of U.S.
trade policy. Call it protection, call it defending the industrial base,
call it what you wish, I think it will happen.

In 1985, when Reaganomics and high interest rates at the time
pushed the U.S. for the first time into a huge trade deficit and be-
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coming a debtor country and all that, my friends on the Ways and
Means Committee said the Smoot—Hawley tariff itself would have
passed if it had come to the floor at that time. Mike was there and
tried to deal with it in a responsible way. But that was the pres-
sure.

So trade policy will go up in smoke. That would be hugely costly
to us and it could tear down the world economy.

The second thing that will happen is that, if we do not get a
gradual orderly balanced correction of this exchange rate misalign-
ment, which is, make no mistake, at the heart of the problem, at
some point the dollar will crash. We have seen three sharp dollar
crashes in the post-war period and they are very unpleasant. They
lead to sharp increases in interest rates. They lead to significant
inflationary pressures. They can be extremely disruptive of world
capital markets.

So there is an international financial dimension which can hit us
very hard. There is a domestic political dimension which will hit
us I think even earlier, and I think those are the results, unless
a constructive response is found to the problem. That is why I be-
lieve the gradual orderly decline of the dollar over the last 18
months was a hugely positive thing. But it only went about a third
of the way necessary and, to get it the rest of the way, we cannot
just keep depreciating the dollar against the Euro. It has got to
bring in the Asian currencies with the big surpluses and the big
reserve buildups. China is the key because its currency peg to the
dollar means that the Koreans, the Taiwanese, even the Japanese,
while they might grudgingly accept a rise in their currency against
the dollar, hate the thought of a rise in their currency against the
renminbi because China is their big competitor.

And that is why China is central to the global systemic correction
of this whole set of problems centered on the U.S. deficit but radi-
ating out to, and with profound effects on, the economies of Europe
as well as the Asians themselves, and indeed the entire world.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Ernie, Dr. Preeg.

Dr. PREEG. Trying to respond to the question briefly but a little
more directly, if, as I understand the question, we finally after all
these years, as Fred said, we start doing something saying, “You
are in violation of your commitments, you need to move,” and they
don’t, well, quite frankly, with violation of IMF and closely-linked
WTO commitments under Article 15, as was raised earlier by Sen-
ator Schumer, we would have a case. And if they won’t do it, we
can take it to the WTO dispute settlement procedure, and we
would almost certainly win. Then they would either have to change
or we would have the right to retaliate.

I would hope and assume it would never get that far, but that
would be a straightforward course of action if they just continue to
turn us down.

Dr. BERGSTEN. Could I give you an even more straightforward
course of action? Ernie’s right, but those things will take two years
or more to play through. There is a much more direct reaction: we
buy renminbi. People say, “Oh, this would be really dirty play.” I
have proposed this in the case of Japan. Japan, in my view, is even
more incorrigible on the exchange rate because the market has
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been pushing the yen up for the last two years. Japan has inter-
vened now, and built its reserves to $550 billion.

I have said to Secretary Snow personally, but I have also testi-
fied publicly, that every time Japan buys a dollar (or sells a yen
to buy a dollar) to keep the dollar excessively strong, we should sell
a dollar. In fact, we should just tell them that every time they buy
a dollar we are going to sell a dollar and I am confident they would
quit and the yen would find its market rate.

Now, interestingly, over the weekend at Dubai, the G—7 reached
an agreement and the yen has gone up 5 percent. I don’t know
whether anybody said that to them, I don’t know what leverage
was used, but somehow Japan stopped defending the yen at 117:1
and now it is at 111:1. Good progress. I congratulate Secretary
Snow. I congratulate the G-7. They have made good progress on
the yen. Fine. Let’s do something like that on the renminbi. All we
have to say is, “Fellows, we have got a lot of dollars. We can buy
renminbi as fast as you can sell renminbi.” And if you want to find
a way to encourage market forces to push the currency up, that is
the way to do it.

This would smack of John Connelly “treading on the manicured
playing fields of international finance,” but it would be a lot more
effective than 301’s and Article 15’s and Article IV’s of the IMF,
which take a very, very long time to do.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. How much longer can you be with us?

Dr. BERGSTEN. I have to go.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Okay. I do not want to keep you past
time because it was agreed that you would need to get you out of
here by noon. Dr. Bergsten, thank you very much.

I am sorry that we had to go out of order on that for you other
panelists, because you have very, very good statements. Why don’t
we turn to those now, and Dr. Roach, you can lead off.

Thank you again, Dr. Bergsten.

Dr. BERGSTEN. I apologize to my colleagues on the panel. They
are all good friends and I appreciate your tolerance.

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN S. ROACH, Ph.D.
CHIEF ECONOMIST, MORGAN STANLEY

Dr. RoACH. Fred, I learned to be tolerant of you over the years.
It is never easy though.

Thank you. I have 7 minutes?

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Seven minutes, doctor.

Dr. RoAcH. I would like to submit my complete testimony for the
record and summarize my key conclusions at this point. I do be-
lieve, as I have stated just a few minutes ago, that there are some
serious and worrisome misunderstandings about the role of China
in the global economy that are being conveyed at this hearing
today. I have to say, I have participated in hearings in Washington
for 20 years. This is honestly, up until this point in time—and
maybe 1t will be different this afternoon—the most one-sided hear-
ing that I have ever heard.

What I would like to do is just highlight what I think are three
key flaws in the current thinking about the so-called China threat,
and then just give you some thoughts on what I think needs to be
done to address this problem.
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Number one, I would like to give some numbers that put an
order of magnitude around the so-called power of the Chinese ex-
port machine. On the surface it looks like China’s exports are ris-
ing at rates to threaten all of us in ways that we could never, ever
contemplate. In the last decade China’s exports have gone from
$120 billion to $365 billion over a decade. If you take the numbers
apart, however, 65 percent of that growth over the 10-year period
is traceable to Chinese subsidiaries of multinational corporations
and joint venture partners who have consciously set up operations
in China through record inflows of foreign direct investment.

Last year China was the largest recipient of foreign direct invest-
ment of any nation in the world. Were multinationals forced to do
that? I would argue today that what is going on here is simply the
globalization of supply chains in country after country around the
world who cannot compete on a high-cost basis in an increasingly
open global economy. As painful as it is, that is the way the world
works. Is this China’s problem or is this our problem? Who is the
competitive threat? Is it them or is it us? That is misconception
number one.

Secondly—and Fred alluded to this and I would just like to un-
derscore this emphatically—China’s role in the world trade system
is far more that of an assembler of product produced elsewhere
than it is of a pure producer of Chinese-made product. Economic
research has shown this for a number of years. A colleague of mine,
Professor Lawrence Lau at Stanford University, has done some out-
standing econometric work in analyzing the value-added content of
Chinese exports. And his work and that of his associates dem-
onstrates very clearly that for every dollar of Chinese exports that
is shipped out, only 30 cents of it represents domestic-value added
by domestic producers. In fact, for the exports going to America
that number drops to 20 cents. That means the great Chinese ex-
port machine, whether it is outsourcing or pure exports, benefits its
trading partners more than it does the domestic Chinese economy.

The third misconception is the one I already alluded to, and that
is where do these trade deficits come from? To me, they are inex-
orably linked, as I stated earlier, to America’s lack of national sav-
ings. Savings must always equal investment. It is not a theory. It
is just an accounting identity. So when we do not have any domes-
tic savings, we have to import surplus savings from abroad. To do
that we have to run current account and trade deficits. I put it to
you again, as I said earlier, if you close China down, we would still
have a trade deficit because we do not have any savings. The alter-
native is just to slow our growth rate down. And if you think we
have a job problem now, contemplate the consequences of what
that would mean. We are blaming China for our own inability to
run an effective fiscal policy in the United States.

I ask you, should China be blamed for Washington’s fiscal irre-
sponsibility?

What needs to be done here? I give you three recommendations:
I totally disagree with Fred that you can arbitrarily determine
what the appropriate value of the renminbi is. I have charts in my
formal testimony that show a trade-weighted value of the renminbi
right now. It is no different than it was, on average, since 1998.
In fact, as Fred said, China is running a very small overall trade
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surplus suggesting its currency is not undervalued in any way
whatsoever.

I would further put to you that if you start moving around the
currency, that would destabilize the global supply chain that our
cost inefficient companies are so desperately trying to establish in
order to make themselves competitive in the global economy.

Secondly, I think if you want to get the fix on the U.S.-Chinese
trade deficit problems, fix our budget deficit.

Thirdly, I think you have to recognize that what you have heard
here this morning, from Congressman after Congressman, Senator
after Senator, is nothing other than bald-face protectionism. It
smacks to me of some of the most dangerous rhetoric I have heard
in the U.S. Congress in my career. I agree with Commissioner
Wessel that this is right out of the script of the Smoot—Hawley type
sentiment that existed in 1930 after a speculative bubble popped
in the U.S. stock market. I think it is appropriate to go on record
calling protectionists a very serious threat to the U.S. and the glob-
al economy.

Thank you.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Stephen S. Roach, Ph.D.
Chief Economist, Morgan Stanley

Getting China Right

A persistently weak global economy is now moving into a very dangerous place—
the slippery slope of trade frictions and protectionism. As political cycles now enter
the macro equation, the blame game has begun. Such sentiment is nearly unani-
mous in singling out a new scapegoat—a rapidly growing Chinese economy. World
opinion has become increasingly united in putting pressure on China to revalue its
currency. In my view, that would be a serious mistake for China, the United States,
and global economy at large. I think the world has got the China story dead wrong.

The blaming of China goes something like this: With real GDP growth in the in-
dustrial world holding on a subpar path for a third year in a row, the ongoing vigor
of the Chinese economy obviously sticks out. Industrial output was up an aston-
ishing 17% year-over-year in August, and exports surged by 27%, clear signs that
China is capturing market share in an otherwise sluggish world. China’s currency
peg is widely believed to be compounding the problem. Many believe the renminbi
is undervalued to begin with. Moreover, tied to a now-depreciating U.S. dollar, the
RMB appears to have been given a competitive boost against non-dollar currencies.
Assuming the dollar has a good deal further to go on the downside—perhaps as
much as another 20% over the next couple of years—most fear that China’s competi-
tive advantage will become all the more pronounced. Suddenly, China’s image has
been transformed from the land of opportunity into a serious threat to the United
States and the broader global economy.

Bad Economics

If the world economy were thriving, China’s rapid growth would be welcome. Un-
fortunately, that’s not the case. In a still-sluggish global economy, market share is
a very precious commodity. Any threats to competitive positions, compounded by
hiring shortfalls, can trigger hostile responses. These pressures are very much in
evidence today. China’s huge and growing bilateral trade surplus with the United
States is widely seen as a mounting source of tension. The culprit, goes the argu-
ment, is China’s currency peg. A revaluation of the RMB is now thought to be a
necessary antidote. I believe that would be a serious mistake for three major rea-
sons:

First and foremost, there is enormous confusion over the character of the so-called
Chinese export threat. In my opinion, the world has formed an erroneous impression
that newly emerging Chinese companies are capturing global market share with
reckless abandon. In fact, nothing could be further from the truth. For more than
a decade, the real export dynamic in China has come far more from the deliberate
outsourcing strategies of multinational corporations headquartered in the developed
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world than from the rapid growth of indigenous Chinese companies. Over the 1994
to mid-2003 interval, China’s exports essentially tripled from US$121.0 billion to
$365.4 billion. It turns out that “foreign-invested enterprises”—Chinese subsidiaries
of global multinationals and joint ventures with industrial-world partners—have ac-
counted for fully 65% of the total increase in Chinese exports over that period. In
other words, China’s increasingly powerful export machine has America, Europe,
and Japan stamped all over it.

This is hardly an example of China grabbing market share from the rest of the
world. Instead, it is more a by-product of the struggle for competitive survival by
high-cost producers from the industrial world. Last year, a record US$52.7 billion
of foreign direct investment flowed into China, making the country the largest re-
cipient of FDI in the world. This inflow did not occur under coercion—it was entirely
voluntary. A high-cost industrial world has made a conscious decision that it needs
a Chinese-based outsourcing platform to increase productive efficiencies. Disman-
tling the RMB peg would destabilize the very supply chain that has become so inte-
gral to new globalized production models. Ironically, it would be a serious negative
for those same economies—dJapan, the U.S., and Europe—that have led the rush to
Chinese outsourcing. By putting pressure on China to change its currency regime,
the industrial world runs the risk of squandering the fruits of its own efforts. Fear
of the so-called China export threat completely misses this critical point. The power
of the Chinese export machine is more traceable to “us” than it is to “them.”

A second argument in support of a stable Chinese currency hinges on the nation’s
competitive prowess. Contrary to widespread perception, China does not compete on
the basis of an undervalued currency. It competes mainly in terms of labor costs,
technology, quality control, infrastructure, and an unwavering commitment to re-
form. My guess is if China were to revalue the RMB upward by 10% or even 20%—
a change I do not expect nor advise—its exports would suffer minimal loss of market
share. A key reason for this is that China’s export prowess is mainly in the role
of an assembler—its exports have a high content of materials and products made
elsewhere. By contrast, only a small portion of its exports are actually made in
China. Stanford Professor Lawrence J. Lau and his colleagues have estimated that
for every dollar of Chinese exports, only 30 cents reflects value-added by domestic
Chinese production (see C. Xikang, L. Cheng, K.C. Fung, and L.J. Lau, “The Esti-
mation of GDP and Employment Induced by Exports: An Application to Chinese Ex-
ports to the United States,” Revised December 2001). For Chinese exports going to
the United States, the domestic-value added share is even lower—only 20 cents on
the dollar. That means even a substantial revaluation of the RMB would not make
much of a difference to the price competitiveness of Chinese exports. If, for example,
the RMB peg to the dollar were adjusted upward by 20%, this research suggests
the price of Chinese exports to the U.S. would go up by only 4%—hardly enough
to trigger a major demand shift back into American-made products.

There’s even a more basic element to this argument insofar as the U.S. is con-
cerned: China’s currency is pegged to the dollar—an arrangement that hasn’t
changed one iota since 1994. That means there have been no currency-induced shifts
in relative prices that can explain the deterioration of the U.S.-China trade deficit
from $30 billion in 1994 to $103 billion in 2002. Furthermore, no nation’s competi-
tive threat to the broader world economy should be judged on the basis of bilateral
trade imbalances. It’s the overall trade position that matters. In the first eight
months of this year, China’s trade surplus amounted to just US$8.9 billion, less
than half the pace of a year ago. Consistent with this condition of near balance, our
estimates suggest that the trade-weighted value of the RMB is basically in line with
average levels prevailing since 1998. It’s hard to conclude on the basis of these
trends that the Chinese currency represents a serious competitive threat to the
broader global economy.

Third, dismantling the peg could destabilize world financial markets. It is impor-
tant to stress that there is little doubt over the endgame. China has consistently
reiterated its long-term commitment to opening its capital account and eventually
making its currency fully convertible. At the same time, China knows full well that
a good deal of heavy lifting on the reform front has to occur before these objectives
can be accomplished. That’s true of both capital-market reforms and the need to
clean up its banking problems. China has taken great strides on these fronts, but
a lot more needs to be done. Until there is more progress on financial reforms, I
believe it would be entirely premature and very risky for China to float its currency
and open its capital account. Such ill-timed actions could lead to heightened insta-
bility in Chinese, Asian, and world financial markets that could seriously jeopardize
the global economy. This is a critical lesson of the Asian financial crisis of 1997—
98 that an impatient and politically charged world should not lose sight of when
putting pressure on China. Nor should we forget the key role China played in tem-
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pering that crisis when it resisted the temptation to follow other Asian nations
down the road of devaluation.

Several other considerations argue against an RMB revaluation: an intensification
of imported deflationary pressures on a Chinese economy that is only now climbing
out of deflation; the possible emergence of bubbles in other Chinese asset markets,
especially property; and a signal to market speculators that the RMB would now
be “in play.” Moreover, there is one of history’s most salient lessons to remember:
Poor countries like China will never close the development gap with rich countries
if they are repeatedly forced to revalue their currencies. Finally, some observers be-
lieve that an open capital account actually would allow Chinese investors the oppor-
tunity to diversify their currency holdings into dollar-denominated assets—trig-
gering an asset allocation shift that could backfire and result in a weaker RMB.

The Political Agenda

I fear there’s a deeper meaning to the pressures now being put on China: Unwill-
ing to accept responsibility for their own economic shortcomings, the wealthy na-
tions of the industrial world are making China a scapegoat for their weak recov-
eries. That’s especially true of the United States, still mired in a jobless recovery
fully 22 months after the last recession hit bottom in November 2001. Frustrated
over persistent job losses, America’s politicians have become convinced that China
is the culprit. And so Washington is now taking dead aim at the “China problem.”
Legislation recently has been introduced in the U.S. Senate that threatens to im-
pose 27.5% across-the-board tariffs on Chinese exports into the U.S. if the RMB peg
is not abandoned (S. 1586). Two of the sponsors of this bill—Senators Schumer and
Graham—have presented their views to you this morning. I am strongly opposed to
this action, as well as to comparable measures recently introduced in the U.S.
House of Representatives (H.R. 3058). I believe these proposals pose grave risks to
the U.S. and world economy.

At present, I would judge the odds of such legislation being enacted as no higher
than one in five. Yet those odds will undoubtedly rise as the U.S. political cycle
heats up—especially if America remains stuck in a jobless recovery. Perceptions of
job and income security have long been the defining issue in U.S. Presidential cam-
paigns. It’s hard to believe that it will be any different this time around, especially
since America’s current hiring shortfall—some 4.2 million jobs and counting, by my
reckoning—is the worst in modern, post-World War II experience. Significantly, this
Congressional assault on China is bipartisan. That underscores the breadth of sup-
port for actions proposed against China, an especially worrisome sign of more pro-
tectionist initiatives to come. For that reason, alone, it is hard to dismiss the real
significance of recent anti-China measures introduced in the U.S. Congress. They
are shots across the bow of America’s commitment to globalization.

It is ironic that by pointing the finger at China, the U.S. Congress is avoiding
its fair share of responsibility for America’s conundrum. The U.S. has an extremely
serious saving problem—a net national saving rate that fell to a record low of 0.7%
of GDP in the first half of 2003. In recent years, the biggest swing factor behind
this plunge in national saving has been the extraordinary deterioration in the fiscal
position of government units—at the Federal, State, and local levels. The combined
government-sector saving rate has swung from a surplus of about 3% of GNP in
2000 to a deficit of nearly 4% in mid-2003. Moreover, courtesy of Washington’s lat-
est bout of fiscal profligacy, the government shortfall is set to widen by another 1
to 1.5 percentage points over the next 12 months. Unless there is a spontaneous and
lasting revival in private-sector saving—highly unlikely, in my view—national sav-
ing can only fall further. Hooked on spending, America has no choice other than to
import surplus saving from abroad in order to finance economic growth. And the
only way to get that capital is for the U.S. to run massive current-account and trade
deficits.

That’s where China enters the equation. Yes, America’s largest trade deficit is
now with China—a $103 billion shortfall in 2002 and on track to exceed that
amount in 2003. But keep in mind, a severe domestic saving shortage means the
U.S. has to run trade deficits with someone—unless, of course, it is prepared to cur-
tail sharply domestic consumption. If America weren’t trading with China, those
deficits would have to occur with other nations—Canada, Mexico, other Latin econo-
mies, Japan, elsewhere in Asia, or possibly even Europe. That poses perhaps the
most introspective question of all: Should China be blamed for Washington’s reck-
less fiscal adventures?

It is dangerous and wrong for the U.S. to point the finger at China as a major
cause of its massive and still-widening trade deficit. If the United States wants to
reduce its trade gap, it must come to grips with more fundamental problems of its
own, namely the rapidly vanishing national saving rate. Until it does so, U.S. trade



58

deficits are likely to be the rule, not the exception, and the low-cost, high-quality
option of Chinese trade is in America’s best interest. In fact, this is exactly the way
the theory of comparative advantage—one of the mainstays of economics—is sup-
posed to work. By importing from China, American consumers are getting a break
in purchasing power. Shifting our trade deficits elsewhere—precisely what would
have to occur for a saving-short U.S. economy—would only erode that windfall of
purchasing power. Tariffs on China would, in fact, raise the cost of doing business
for many American companies. For example, Wal-Mart, America’s largest company
in terms of revenues, reportedly sources some $15 billion of product in China. Under
S. 1586, Wal-Mart would be hit with the functional equivalent of a $4 billion tax
hike. American shareholders and consumers would only suffer as a result.

China helps the U.S. economy in other ways. In particular, it plays a very impor-
tant role in financing America’s current-account deficit. China’s net purchases of
long-term U.S. securities hit $60 billion in 2002 and are running well in excess of
that pace so far in 2003. With the bulk of that demand concentrated in Treasuries,
there can be no mistaking the role that China has played in holding down U.S. in-
terest rates and thereby supporting America’s economic recovery. If the RMB were
adjusted upward, Chinese accumulation of currency reserves would slow and its de-
mand for dollar-denominated assets could easily slacken as a result. That, in turn,
could lead to a backup in long-term U.S. interest rates that could jeopardize a key
source of support for America’s economic recovery.

Don’t Ignore Japan

I am also concerned about the China bashing that has been going on in Japan
for well over a year. Senior Japanese officials have blamed China for exporting de-
flation and for the “hollowing out” of the Japanese labor market. Nothing could be
further from the truth. Low-cost, high-quality Chinese imports provide a windfall
to the purchasing power of beleaguered Japanese consumers—precisely the same
type of benefits that Japan’s export machine provided the world in the 1970s and
1980s. If you want an example of an undervalued currency, study the path of the
yen during Japan’s economic renaissance; it averaged close to ¥300 versus the dollar
in the 1970s and about ¥220 in the 1980s—dramatically cheaper than its current
reading in the ¥110 to ¥115 range. It strikes me as hypocritical for Japan to criticize
China for emulating a strategy that was central to its own development model. Put-
ting pressure on China to revalue its currency is a poor excuse for Japan’s own in-
ability or unwillingness to reform.

Moreover, as I travel through the newly industrialized “special economic incentive
zones” in China, I am repeatedly struck by the widespread presence of Chinese sub-
sidiaries of Japan’s most successful companies. In fact, I am hard-pressed to identify
any major Japanese producer that does not have a significant presence in China.
Corporate Japan is not being forced to shift its production to China. This is the ra-
tional response of uncompetitive, high-cost Japanese producers attempting to main-
tain market share in an increasingly open global economy.

Over the years, I have learned the most about Asia when I hop directly between
Beijing and Tokyo—an opportunity recently experienced by U.S. Treasury Secretary
John Snow. I can only hope that Secretary Snow has been able to appreciate the
extraordinary contrasts between these two economies. A post-bubble Japanese econ-
omy has been in a period of relative stagnation for nearly a dozen years—with real
GDP growth averaging only 1.1% from 1992 to 2002; over the same period, China’s
real GDP growth has averaged about 10%. Yet as the second largest economy in the
world, Japan’s per capita national income was still some 40 times that of China at
market exchange rates in 2001 (or 6.5 times that of China on a purchasing power
parity basis). Notwithstanding this dramatic disparity in living standards, there can
be no mistaking the shift in the pendulum of economic power in Asia. China re-
mains unflinching in terms of its commitment to reform and structural change. By
contrast, Japan has taken the concept of inertia to a new level. It would be tragic
if the political cycle came down hardest on the economy that is playing the greatest
role in reshaping the world. Yet that’s precisely the risk as the politics of
globalization now come into play.

While China is being charged with maintaining an artificially depressed currency,
Japan has long written the book on currency intervention and manipulation. Indeed,
in order to prevent a market-induced strengthening of the yen, Japanese authorities
have spent well in excess of a record US$80 billion on official currency intervention
so far this year. To the extent the U.S. and the rest of the international community
condones such massive intervention, the incentive for Japanese reforms may well
be diminished. Unlike China, where there is a steadfast commitment to reforms, in
Japan there is a very explicit trade-off between reforms and foreign exchange rates.
I remember full well the sheer sense of panic that gripped Japan Inc. in the spring
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of 1995 when the yen/dollar cross rate hit ¥80. The Japanese recognized at the time
that radical reforms were the only way to cope with a super-strong currency and
were getting ready to implement such measures. But in the end, the world flinched
and allowed the yen to depreciate by some 45% versus the dollar over the next three
years or so. And Japan never really lifted a finger on reform.

That’s a lesson that should not be lost on U.S. politicians and authorities else-
where around the world as they overlook Japan’s transgressions and focus on China.
Japan’s line of reasoning is that its economy is too weak to tolerate a stronger cur-
rency. But to the extent that currency manipulation forestalls long-overdue progress
on the Japanese reform front, then there is good reason to question the wisdom of
such tactics. Countries that manage foreign exchange rates in order to suit their
own purposes are explicitly bringing others into the equation. From the standpoint
of the U.S., that means the Japanese authorities are, in effect, short-circuiting a de-
preciation of the dollar that would otherwise be the inevitable by-product of a classic
current-account adjustment. From the standpoint of Europe, Japanese currency ma-
n}ilpulation could well force a disproportionate share of the dollar adjustment onto
the euro.

Fortunately, there is reason to believe that the world may now be coming to its
senses on bringing Japan into the global rebalancing equation. At the recently con-
cluded G—7 meetings in Dubai, the call for greater flexibility in exchange rates was
an unmistakable signal to Japan that the world was losing patience with massive
currency intervention by a major developed nation. A firmer economy has given Jap-
anese authorities some leeway to back away from this effort, at least for the time
being. As a result, the yen has now strengthened through the ¥115 threshold versus
the dollar, and the burden of America’s current-account adjustment now stands a
greater chance of being spread more evenly throughout the global economy. This is
good news for global rebalancing—provided, of course, Japan stays the course and
refrains from returning quickly to its long standing practices of currency interven-
tion. But what applies to Japan—the world’s second-largest economy—does not
apply to China, still a very poor country. As I have stressed above, China’s transi-
tion to a flexible currency regime must occur on terms that are conducive to its own
stability, in economic as well as in financial terms. Japan is rich enough to welcome
the verdict of market-clearing exchange rates. China is not—at least, not yet.

Something Must Give

There are times when economic weakness and politics make for strange bed-
fellows. This appears to be one of those times. The political season is starting to
heat up in the United States, and all eyes are on the stresses and strains of Amer-
ica’s jobless recovery. This puts the politics of globalization in an entirely different
context. Reflecting the often intense interplay between the political and economic cy-
cles, China has now become the tension point du jour in the geopolitical debate.

In tough economic times, politicians always need a scapegoat. That’s what this
wave of China bashing is really all about. It has little to do with economics and ev-
erything to do with the blame game. Yet this politically-inspired foray is sympto-
matic of a much deeper macro problem that now confronts an unbalanced world.
The world’s sole growth engine—the U.S.—is encumbered with the largest current
account deficit in modern history. This reflects not only the inherent pitfalls of a
saving-short U.S. economy but also the utter lack of autonomous domestic demand
growth elsewhere in the world. As America pulls the world economy along for the
ride, it goes deeper and deeper into the quagmire of trade deficits, budget gaps, sav-
ing shortfalls, and excess debt accumulation. This is hardly a sustainable outcome
for the U.S. or for the rest of the world. It speaks of a worrisome and dangerous
build-up of tensions in the global economy.

Like steam in a teapot, ultimately these pressures need to be vented. As I see
it, the possible remedies range broadly between two extremes—the economics of a
U.S. current-account adjustment and the politics of trade frictions and protec-
tionism. The recent shift in G—7 currency policy is an encouraging sign of an eco-
nomic resolution to the world’s imbalances. Yet the interplay between America’s job-
less recovery and Presidential election cycle could well shift the odds from the eco-
nomic to the political remedy. Right now the odds of a politically driven solution are
low. But the risk is that they will rise.

Unfortunately, the saber-rattling over China in the U.S. and Japan is not an iso-
lated example of mounting trade frictions elsewhere in the world. Two other recent
examples come to mind that paint a picture of a world veering all too close to protec-
tionism. First is the recent breakdown of talks at the WT'O ministerial meetings in
Cancun. Tensions between rich and poor countries came out in the open on such
long-standing issues as agricultural subsidies, investment and competition rules,
and financial market transparency. The failure of this meeting of the World Trade
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Organization is reminiscent of the fiasco in Seattle in 1999 and raises serious ques-
tions about the successful completion of the Doha Round of trade liberalization slat-
ed for 2004.

Second, European leaders have joined the fray, aiming to protect their long-slug-
gish economy. Their fear is that the euro may bear a disproportionate share of the
burden of further dollar depreciation. Such concerns are at the root of charges re-
cently leveled at Asian countries whose currency pegs are perceived to insulate
them from adjustments in the dollar. This sentiment, which came to a head at a
recent gathering of European finance ministers in Stresa, Italy, appears to have
spilled over into a more formal protest at the recently-concluded G—7 meetings in
Dubai.In 1930, Senator Reed Smoot and Representative Willis C. Hawley sponsored
legislation that significantly raised the level of U.S. tariffs. Courtesy of a recently
burst equity bubble, the U.S. economy was in recession and a Republican adminis-
tration favored the protectionist remedy to provide relief for American workers.
President Herbert Hoover signed the Smoot-Hawley Tariff Act into law in June
1930. Global trade retaliation quickly followed, as did a downward spiral in world
trade. Many believe that such frictions ultimately set the stage for the Great De-
pression that followed. These lessons should not be ignored in today’s post-bubble
era. No one, including myself, thinks such an outcome is likely today. Yet that’s a
risk that can no longer be taken lightly as politics now comes face to face with the
dark side of globalization.

I strongly believe that China is the world’s greatest development story of the 21st
century. Its emergence will benefit not only the 20% of the world that lives in its
most populous nation but also the 80% of us who do not. But China’s road to pros-
perity is not without pitfalls and risks. Nor can economic stability be taken for
granted in the far richer developed world. Yet in the end, we must all learn to live
with the stresses and strains of globalization. Turning inward is not an option for
the U.S. Our commitment to globalization should be unwavering in bad times as
well as good. Unfortunately, the combination of a politically charged atmosphere
and a tough economic climate often creates scapegoats. China is today’s scapegoat.
It’s high time to put an end to this dangerous blame game.
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Getting China Right
China remains the fastest-growing economy in the world.

Relative GDP Growth: China vs the World
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While China is still a small economy, its growth is having a major impact on the
rest of the world.
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China’s industrial growth dynamic is heavily influenced by outsourcing.

Role of Outsourcing in China
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East Asian economies have played a key role in funding America’s gaping current-
account deficit.
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China is now closing in on Japan as a source of foreign demand for dollar-denomi-
nated assets.

Net Purchase of Long-Term US Securities: China vs. Japan
, (USS$ billions)
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While China’s currency has depreciated slightly in recent months, it can hardly be
called undervalued.
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Co-Chairman MuLLoY. Well, we know where you stand, Dr.
Roach.
Mr. Hale.

STATEMENT OF DAVID HALE
CHIEF ECONOMIST AND FOUNDER, HALE ADVISORS, LLC

Mr. HALE. Well, thank you very much for the opportunity to
speak to this Commission. I think you face unique challenges be-
cause really the debate today is not just about China’s currency,
it’s about the much larger question of how the world is going to
cope with the reemergence of China as a great economic power.

On the eve of the British Industrial Revolution 230 years ago,
China accounted for almost a third of world output. After 20 years
of communism, it accounted for only 2 percent of world output. And
now, with the very high rate of economic growth coming from mar-
ket-oriented economic policies and very far-reaching reforms, China
will at some point in the next 20 years once again represent 10 per-
cent of world output. So we have to make a lot of adjustments to
this very profound and very far-reaching change in China’s status
in the global economy and global geopolitics.

Now, the currency question has come into focus recently because
China has been experiencing a great export boom. Year-on-year
growth rates for exports are almost 33 percent. China’s share of
world exports will be this year almost 6 percent, compared to only
3 percent five years ago. In the case of the United States, China
has now emerged this year as our second largest trading partner.
In the first half of this year, it displaced Mexico. China’s share of
our imports now is 11.4 percent, Mexico’s falling to 11.2. And I can
tell you that in the case of Mexico, the government there and the
corporate community is deeply concerned that Mexico, not the
United States, could lose tens of thousands of jobs to competition
with China.

Now, as a consequence of this export boom and this growing
share of world trade, there’s growing pressure everywhere for
China to revalue its currency, not just here in Washington but de-
mands have been made by the governments of Japan, Korea, and
other Asian countries are sympathetic because the East Asian
countries perceive that over the last ten years they've lost market
share to China in terms of both trade and also attracting FDI.

And, indeed, if you look at the share of U.S. imports from other
Asian countries, it has over the last seven or eight years fallen
across the board. Indeed, the total Asian share has fallen from 40
percent to 35 percent because of these countries not being as com-
petitive as they would have been 10 or 15 years ago.

China’s resisting this pressure to revalue for a variety of reasons.
I think we should spend a couple of minutes examining them be-
cause they’re very critical in formulating our own policy response.

First, during the great Asian financial crisis five years ago,
China maintained a stable exchange rate at a time when other
countries were devaluing by 30, 40, 50 percent. I was in Beijing in
January of 1998 for conversations with Premier Li Lanqing about
this policy, and he was then in the midst of discussions about what
they should do, and they decided to remain pegged to the dollar.
Where they had been for several years at 8.3, he went to the Davos
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World Economic Forum, ten days later made a speech to announce
this policy, and the following day there was a huge rally across
Asia in the stock markets, 14 percent in Hong Kong alone because
of relief that China would not promote further financial contagion
by devaluing.

I think it’s important we recognize the financial statesmanship
of China five and six years ago during this period of extreme crisis
in the Asian region.

Secondly, while China’s having an export boom, it’s also having
a great import boom. A few months ago, import growth was 40 per-
cent year-on-year. And as a result, it’s quite possible that China’s
trade surplus will simply vanish without having a currency revalu-
ation. The fact is WTO entry is opening China to an unprecedented
wave of foreign competition and foreign imports. And because of
this $500 billion of FDI in China, many foreign firms—American,
Japanese, British, German—now have distribution systems in
China, something they never got in Japan in the whole of the mod-
ern period because, after World War II, Japan effectively banned
foreign direct investment, didn’t allow it, to protect domestic com-
panies. Because China is so open, this import penetration will go
much, much further.

Thirdly, China’s confronting a major crisis in its domestic finan-
cial system. The stock of nonperforming loans in its banks is 30 or
40 percent, a number of $300 or $400 billion. They have over the
last three years begun to address this by restructuring $100 billion
of bank loans, but the fact is they have a long ways to go.

Because of this banking crisis, the S&P credit rating agency
warned two weeks ago that if China were to float its currency or
have a big revaluation, they would lower the country’s credit rating
because they perceive a currency revaluation would be desta-
bilizing to both the Chinese corporate sector and to the banking
system and might even promote speculative capital flight.

Fourthly, as I just mentioned, China’s had an extraordinary FDI
boom. As Steve Roach just explained, the reason for this export
growth is foreign companies, not just Chinese companies. Fifty-five
percent of China’s exports come from foreign companies compared
to 41 percent seven or eight years ago, and this share is still in-
creasing. Again, I want to stress the contrast with Japan and Korea.

On the eve of the great Asian financial crisis five years ago,
Japan had only $17 billion of FDI, Korea had $12 billion, because
both countries did not want foreign competition. China has opened
the door to an unprecedented level of foreign investment.

What this also means, by the way, is if we do get a 25-percent
currency revaluation, it’s not clear what it will mean for China’s
export prices. True, weak, unprofitable Chinese companies will be
forced to raise their prices, but many multinational companies will
probably engage in transfer pricing and not raise the price of the
goods they export. They will simply absorb it in their global profit
margins. This is a very, very different model than we confront in
the past with Japan, Korea, and other Asian countries.

Finally, China has a major problem with unemployment. We're
concerned about job losses here. So are they. In the last five years,
they have lost 50 million jobs in the state-owned companies. They
have got 150 million peasants who want to move to the cities from
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the countryside. They’ve got a huge human population they’ve got
to reemploy in the private sector over the next five or ten years.
And, needless to say, export growth is one way to do that.

As a consequence of these five factors, I think China will be in
the short term very reluctant to revalue. But as Fred indicated,
there is a great debate going on. A year ago, Premier Zhu Rongji
made a speech to a group of 50 Hong Kong businessmen, promising
within six months they’d go to a wider currency target band, not
30 or 40 percent but 5 or 10 percent. They didn’t do it because they
were at that time entering a political transition to new party lead-
ers, a new President, and it was very, very difficult to make big
policy changes in the midst of a political transition. But the fact
he made this speech tells you this issue has been in play for some
time.

The major reason for China to revalue is very simple. First, this
huge growth in foreign exchange reserves is now producing poten-
tially inflationary levels of monetary growth. Money growth is now
running at 20 percent compared to 12 percent 12 and 18 months
ago. This is leading to real estate inflation. In contrast to Japan
15 years ago, it hasn’t yet led to a stock market inflation because
Chinese investors, like American investors, lost a lot of money two
years ago in the stock market, so they’re still very risk averse. But
there’s no doubt this money growth does create the risk of more in-
flation. So there’s an incentive for China at some point to change
policy to control its money growth, but they’ll move, I think, very,
very slowly.

I think what we have to do basically is keep focusing on market
opening to ensure that China complies with the new trade rules,
to give access to imports as well as to FDI, to encourage over time
more exchange rate flexibility, but not demand it immediately.

And, finally, just to finish up here, we have to recognize that
what we’re demanding could also have consequences for our own fi-
nancial markets. There is today a new phenomenon in the world
not well recognized in Washington. The basic underpinning of this
Administration—foreign policy, economic policy—is a new geo-
financial balance of power in the world, represented by the fact
that the countries of East Asia collectively account for 70 percent
of the world’s foreign exchange reserves compared to 30 percent ten
years ago. And they’ve been rolling over these reserves almost uni-
versally into American dollar financial assets. This is what’s been
funding in the last 18 months the American budget deficit, the
American current account deficit. China alone has bought $100 bil-
lion of U.S. Government securities in the last 15 months. Japan
has done $150 billion. Other Asian countries, $40 or $50 billion
more.

If we lost access to these savings, to these capital flows because
of a change in currency policy, it would lead to higher American
bond yields, higher American mortgage rates, a weaker housing
market, and slower growth of domestic consumption. That would
help to reduce the trade deficit, but it would also depress the
growth rate of the American economy. So we should recognize that
we also have potential vulnerabilities to any major changes in the
exchange rate policies of China and other East Asian countries.

[The statement follows:]
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Prepared Statement of David Hale
Chief Economist and Founder, Hale Advisors, LL.C

Should China Revalue Her Currency?

There is little doubt that China’s exchange rate policy has emerged as a major
global topic. During recent months, the governments of Japan, Korea, and the U.S.
have called upon China to revalue the country’s currency. Many Americans blame
China for the fact that manufacturing employment has been declining for a year
after the economy bottomed. China is perceived as a threat because it has been en-
joying export growth of 35% during recent months. As a result of booming foreign
direct investment and the return of flight capital, China also has foreign exchange
reserves of $355 billion or the second highest in the world after Japan.

China has been resisting pressure for exchange rate appreciation for a variety of
reasons.

First, China maintained currency stability during the east Asian financial crisis
of 1997-1998. China kept her exchange rate firm in order to lessen the risk of great-
er financial contagion in the region. Her policy was an act of financial statesman-
ship which she believes weakens the case for exchange rate appreciation today. Sec-
ondly, China has recently joined the WTO and slashed import barriers. Her import
growth is now booming at a 40% annual rate and her trade surplus is likely to fall
sharply this year despite robust exports. Thirdly, China is deeply concerned about
rising unemployment because of layoffs at state-owned companies. These firms have
shed over 50 million jobs during recent years. As exports are now 28% of GDP,
China regards the foreign trade sector as a growth locomotive for containing unem-
ployment. Finally, China’s financial system is highly fragile. The big four state-
owned banks have $300—400 billion of non-performing loans (30—40% of the total)
and also must prepare for greater foreign competition because of the WTO rules.
China fears that currency volatility could bankrupt more state-owned companies
and undermine confidence in the country’s financial stability at a time when the
WTO rules will be exposing the troubled state-owned banks to foreign competition.

The decision by China to maintain a stable currency during the Asian financial
crisis caused her real exchange rate to appreciate but it did not greatly damage her
competitive position because of rapid productivity growth. As a result, China is now
emerging as an important workshop in the global supply chain between Asia and
the world. China is increasingly playing the role of an assembly shop for compo-
nents produced by other Asian countries. Pan Asian exports to China rose from
$72.1 billion in 1995 to $160.6 billion in 2002. The imports for domestic consump-
tion grew from $42.2 billion to $78.7 billion while imports for reprocessing grew
from $29.8 billion to $81.9 billion. Imports for reprocessing now account for 51% of
China’s imports from east Asia compared to 41% in 1995. As a result, China is now
running trade deficits with other east Asian countries because of imports of compo-
nents and raw materials while running trade surpluses with North America and
Europe because of rapidly growing exports of manufactured goods. On the basis of
Chinese data, the country has trade deficits of $31.5 billion with Taiwan, $13.1 bil-
lion with Korea, $7.6 billion with Asean, $5.0 billion with Japan, and $1.3 billion
with Australia. Taiwan’s exports to China now exceed 13% of the island’s GDP.
China has displaced the U.S. as South Korea’s largest trade partner.

The changing role of China can be seen in the composition of U.S. imports. China
now produces about 11% of U.S. imports compared to 5% in the late 1980s. But the
east Asian share of U.S. imports has slumped from 40.1% during 1994 to 32.5% re-
cently. Many of the goods formerly produced by Taiwan, Singapore, and Korea for
the U.S. market now come from China. There has also been intense price competi-
tion which has reduced costs for American consumers. Morgan Stanley estimates
this competition has saved American consumers $100 billion.

The major cause of China’s booming exports is not an undervalued currency. It
is an upsurge of foreign direct investment which has significantly boosted China’s
productive capacity and managerial competence. China now has over $400 billion
of FDI compared to $1.3 trillion for the U.S., $497 billion for the United Kingdom,
$482 billion for Belgium-Luxemburg, and $480 billion for Germany. As FDI is now
expanding by $55-60 billion per annum, China will soon have the second largest
stock of FDI in the world. Foreign companies produce over half of China’s exports
and accounted for 65% of export growth during the past decade. China’s openness
to FDI is also in striking contrast to the policies of Japan and Korea, which tried
to restrict trade in the past by discouraging FDI. On the eve of the Asian financial
crisis six years ago, Japan had only $17 billion of FDI while Korea had just $12
billion.
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The role of FDI in China’s economy makes for a striking contrast with Japan and
Korea. On the eve of the east Asian financial crisis six years ago, there was only
$17 billion of FDI in Japan and $12 billion in Korea. Both countries effectively
banned FDI for almost half a century to nurture domestic companies. Japanese com-
panies also developed their own brand names and distribution channels to conquer
global markets. As a result, both large and small American companies often felt that
Japan was an unfair trade partner. China is totally different. More than half of Chi-
na’s exports come from American, Japanese, and other foreign companies. China has
no global brand names. It sells primarily under the names of foreign companies. As
a result, most multinational companies are satisfied with Beijing’s trade and invest-
ment policies. The major complaints are coming from small- or medium-sized U.S.
companies which don’t have the capital to invest in China or have not yet had time
to penetrate the market there. If Beijing could improve market access for small com-
panies, there would be fewer demands for trade protection or currency revaluation.

The major risk posed by China’s decision to retain a stable exchange rate lies in
the area of monetary policy. The boom in forex reserves is encouraging rapid growth
of money and credit. The growth rate of M1 and lending has accelerated from 10—
12% during early 2002 to nearly 20% during recent months. The surge in money
growth has not had a major impact on asset markets. The stock market is below
its peak of two years ago. Real estate prices have been increasing at a 5% annual
rate. But the central bank is very concerned about over investment in real estate
and recently announced new regulatory controls on property lending. Property lend-
ing had been expanding at an annual rate of 25% while the volume of mortgage
loans has shot up to 924 billion rmb from only 19 billion during 1998. What the
central bank cannot fully regulate is the tendency for easy credit and surplus liquid-
ity to promote an inefficient allocation of capital throughout the economy. China
now has the highest rate of investment in the world. In 2002, investment averaged
42.2% of GDP compared to a previous peak of 41.3% during the boom of the mid-
1990s. There is a danger that such a high level of investment could encourage the
creation of so much excess capacity that firms will find it difficult to achieve profit-
ability. In such a scenario, the investment boom could set the stage for corporate
liquidity problems and an investment recession in two or three years. Korea experi-
enced such a crisis during the late 1990s. If China wants to maintain a stable ex-
change rate without running a dangerously expansionary monetary policy, she will
have to liberalize her controls on capital outflows. If Chinese people and companies
could purchase foreign assets, there would be slower growth of foreign exchange re-
serves. There were large capital outflows by Chinese companies during the late
1990s because of concern about the Yuan being devalued. But this money has re-
turned and swelled forex reserves recently because of the new confidence in China’s
currency.

It is 1ronic that the U.S. Government has joined the list of countries calling upon
China to revalue her currency. The U.S. is now able to finance its large fiscal defi-
cits and current account deficits only because of currency intervention by Asian cen-
tral banks, especially Japan and China. The central banks of China and Hong Kong
have purchased nearly $100 billion of U.S. Government securities during the past
eighteen months. The east Asian central banks now have 70% of the world’s foreign
exchange reserves compared to only 30% in 1990 and 21% in 1970. They keep their
$1.7 trillion of reserves 80-90% invested in U.S. Government securities. In the
1960s, France sold U.S. dollars for gold in order to protest the role which the dollar
played promoting America’s super-power status but continental Europe is now irrel-
evant to the dollar’s direction because it has only 8.6% of global foreign exchange
reserves compared to 40% in 1972. If China were to protest U.S. foreign policy by
selling the dollar for Euros or gold, it could set the stage for a large correction which
would drive up U.S. bond yields, weaken the housing market, depress American do-
mestic consumption, and jeopardize the President’s reelection. But China has a $105
billion trade surplus with the U.S. and is anxious to promote American consump-
tion, so it will do nothing to challenge Bush policies through the currency market.

There is no simple answer to the debate about China’s currency policy. There are
increasing fears in the U.S., east Asia and Europe about China’s competitive chal-
lenge. China is naturally reluctant to alter her currency policy because of concerns
about high unemployment, the weak banking system and the legacy of the east
Asian financial crisis, and the competence of Chinese firms at hedging currency risk.
These concerns will cause China to change policy gradually. But as the recent up-
surge of monetary growth will testify, China cannot totally insulate herself from the
burgeoning foreign exchange reserves resulting from speculation about her currency
policy. The most sensible policy is to introduce a wider target bank of 3-5% for the
currency and let the market begin to reflect the factors which have caused forex re-
serves to increase so dramatically.
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Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you, Mr. Hale.
Dr. Preeg.

STATEMENT OF ERNEST H. PREEG, Ph.D.
SENIOR FELLOW IN TRADE AND PRODUCTIVITY
MANUFACTURERS ALLIANCE/MAPI

Dr. PREEG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It’s a pleasure to be here,
a pleasure to be back here. Some of you may recall I was here two
and a half years ago to present a paper on Chinese currency ma-
nipulation. It was a very lonely feeling at that time. Almost nobody
had heard the term “currency manipulation” before or thought
about it much.

Co-Chairman DREYER. Deja-vu all over again.

Dr. PREEG. Well, this morning, as I heard the seven Members of
Congress, I had the distinct feeling of being something like a Dr.
Frankenstein in a lot of chapters of that book.

But, in any event, let me sally forth. I have three issues I'd like
to raise to clarify: one is the Chinese currency manipulation is in
violation of IMF/WTO; second, the impact, a couple of comments on
the trade balance and the economy; and, third, what would be the
appropriate U.S. policy response.

Just to start, though, China has been in clear violation of IMF
and WTO commitments over the past three years by maintaining
an unfairly low exchange rate to gain a competitive advantage.
IMF Article IV, Section 1, states that members should “avoid ma-
nipulating exchange rates ... in order ... to gain an unfair competi-
tive advantage over other members,” and Section 3 of Article IV
stipulations “the right of members to have exchange arrangements
of their choice consistent with the purposes of the Fund and the ob-
ligations under Section 1 of this Article,” which is very clear that
whether they have a floating rate policy like Japan, fixed rate like
China, they have to do it in a manner, in a way that does not lead
to currency manipulation.

Then, what is currency manipulation? Again, defined very clearly
in the surveillance provision related to Article IV, it is “protracted
large-scale intervention in one direction in the exchange market.”
That’s it. And “one direction” means buying because that’s the way
you buy foreign currencies, that’s the way you keep your currency
lower and, therefore, get a competitive advantage.

So the case of violation rests on what China has in fact been
doing protracted large-scale intervention in one direction. But can
there be any question? I have some figures here. There is nothing—
it is totally unprecedented in the 60 years of the IMF experience,
and Japan and China are sort of neck and neck in the last couple
of years. But, in China, what is especially important is that there’s
been an upward movement over the last few years. The monthly
purchases of foreign exchange by China went from $3.8 billion a
month in 2001 to $5 to $7 billion a month in 2002 to $10 billion
a month this year. And their reserves have almost doubled, $166
bil%ioilvto 357. So there should be no question about violation of Ar-
ticle IV.

As to the WTO Article XV that was raised earlier today, it says
“you should not frustrate the intent of the Agreement.” What is the
intent? It’s very clear in the preamble of the GATT. The objective
is to enter into reciprocal and mutually advantageous arrange-
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ments directed to the substantial reduction of tariffs and other bar-
riers to trade. Well, obviously, the currency manipulation would
frustrate the intent. And, quite importantly, there is a direct link
between Article XV of the GATT to IMF Article IV, presumably, in
saying that the members of the GATT/WTO “should accept all find-
ings of statistical fact presented by the Fund relating to foreign ex-
change.” So, therefore, an Article IV finding would make the case
in the WTO.

So that’s the legal case. I'll come back to briefly at the end on
what our policy response should be.

What has been the impact of this massive unprecedented cur-
rency manipulation of the last three years? Japan, China, but also
others—South Korea and Taiwan—clearly are in that category. I
have made some estimates—they’re presented in a paper I pre-
sented earlier this year—as to how much lower the—or how much
higher the Chinese currency would be under a market-based float-
ing rate and how much larger our trade deficit is as a result of cur-
rency manipulation.

The basic concept involved is that official purchases of foreign ex-
change, as being done by the central banks of China, Japan, and
elsewhere, they take off the market the net inflow of foreign cur-
rencies during a period, during the year, that otherwise would have
put upward pressure on the exchange rate. And the relevant rela-
tionship is between the extent of this intervention, buying up the
foreign exchange, and the size of the current account surplus, and
the new flow of long-term investment, mainly foreign direct invest-
ment.

In the case of China, in 2002, they had a $35 billion current ac-
count surplus. They had about $50 billion new inflow of FDI, or an
$85 billion—this is called “basic balance”—plus $85 billion. During
the same period, though, of that 85 net inflow, the Chinese central
bank bought up—just put away $75 billion, or almost 90 percent.
And that’s a very substantial amount of offset, and this year it’s
likely to be over 100 percent of their purchases.

Now, there are other factors at play, and there’s no way to do
a precise statistical estimate. There is some econometric work on
the U.S. side and the Asia side, but in any event, in rough terms,
what I came up with, my estimates are that as a result of currency
manipulation the last two or three years, the Japanese yen is un-
dervalued by at least 20 percent and the Chinese currency by in
the order, in the rough order of 40 percent. And Taiwan and South
Korea are also in the 20-percent category.

Now, what that means, impact on trade deficit, there’s a lot more
econometric work in this area and, consistent with comments made
by Fred, with this degree of undervaluation about $100 billion of
our $400 billion trade surplus would be related or be a result of
such a currency manipulation. The other three-quarters can be ex-
plained by a lack of saving and other factors. And of that $100 bil-
lion, $50 billion or more can be attributed to China, directly or in-
directly, as explained in the paper.

There are other economic effects I won’t go into. A lot of this has
been discussed already. This would be part of the adjustment proc-
ess. There would be adverse impacts on our interest rate, inflation,
although at some point we do have to adjust. Probably the cir-
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cumstances are as good as they can get now to go through the land-
ing, if you will, of the dollar.

Another broader economic effect that has been mentioned briefly
earlier today is that the manufacturing sector in the United States
is the engine for growth. Two-thirds of the R&D of our country is
in manufacturing. Well over 90 percent of patents come out of man-
ufacturing. And this productivity surge in recent years has been
largely new manufactured products and applied services, tech-
nology intensive, being spread throughout the economy.

Well, when you have—this year we will have a $500 billion def-
icit in manufactures, or almost. That amounts to one-third of the
value-added of our manufacturing sector. In other words, if we had
balanced trade in manufacturing, we would have a manufacturing
sector one-third larger and a smaller services sector, and that’s a
lot larger. It would be a lot broader base for the engine of growth,
many more resources for the R&D, the patent development, et
cetera.

Conversely, East Asia, throughout East Asia, China perhaps
most importantly, has a bigger engine for growth as a result of
having this large inflow of trade surplus plus a large inflow of for-
eign direct investment with embedded new technologies. And
there’s nothing wrong with both of us having engines for growth.
That should be the objective. But it should be done in a way that
does not involve something that would be an unfair competitive ad-
vantage, namely, currency manipulation.

There’s also a defense relationship in the paper. I won’t go into
it, because if we have a smaller engine of growth than we would
have had otherwise, technology, intensive manufacturing, and they
have a larger one, the capability is building up.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. I think, Dr. Preeg, if you could finish up
within 30 seconds or so, and then we really want to open it up for
some questions.

Dr. PREEG. Well, just the policy response. We need a stronger re-
sponse. I mentioned three things that we should do. One is we
should be explicit in saying they’re in violation of IMF and WTO.
It doesn’t take a year or two. Once you do that, a lot more pressure
to move ahead, and most of these cases settle out of court prompt-
ly, particularly when one side sees they’re going to lose at the end
of the day.

The second point is—and this hasn’t been raised today—there
should be equal treatment if we do proceed with this currency ma-
nipulation concern, not just single out China but Japan, South
Korea, and Taiwan. It’s better bargaining, and for the China rela-
tionship, I think it’s quite important that Taiwan be treated equal-
lghwith China to show that this is not a protectionist attack on

ina.

And, third, highlight the mutual benefits. This has already been
raised. China would gain some things. One specific wasn’t men-
tioned: If they did revalue 20 percent, their oil price would go down
20 percent throughout their economy, and they’re now close to two
million barrels a day, and it’s growing.

And finally, finally, what do I recommend what they should do
as a suggestion? They have to decide. And as I have at the end
here, I believe they should revalue up, a 20-percent re-peg to get
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closer to a market-based rate. They admit they’re undervalued, as
Fred said, but at the same time, they should then convert to a con-
vertible capital account with a band around the new peg. And then
with the band, they could see how it works and over time, what-
ever length, they could gradually widen the band toward the ulti-
mate objective, which seems to be agreed, of a floating rate.

Thank you.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Ernest H. Preeg, Ph.D.
Senior Fellow in Trade and Productivity, Manufacturers Alliance/MAPI

Chinese Currency Manipulation and the U.S. Trade Deficit
This presentation addresses three issues:

1. Chinese currency manipulation in violation of IMF and WTO commitments.
2. The impact on the U.S. trade balance and economy.
3. The appropriate U.S. policy response.

1. Chinese Currency Manipulation in Violation of IMF and WT'O Commit-
ments

China has been in clear violation of its IMF and WTO commitments over the past
three years by maintaining an unfairly low exchange rate in order to gain a com-
petitive advantage in international trade and investment. IMF Article IV, Section
1, states that members should “avoid manipulating exchange rates ... in order ...
to gain an unfair competitive advantage over other members,” and Section 3 stipu-
lates “the right of members to have exchange arrangements of their choice con-
sistent with the purposes of the Fund and the obligations under Section 1 of this
Article.” In other words, exchange rate policies, whether a floating rate as in the
case of Japan or a pegged rate as in the case of China, must be implemented in
a way that does not lead to the currency manipulation stricture of Section 1.

The IMF definition of currency manipulation is very explicit in the surveillance
provision related to Article IV, which refers to it as “protracted large-scale interven-
tion in one direction in the exchange market.” “In one direction,” of course, means
buying foreign currencies since this is the way to maintain an undervalued currency
in order to gain an unfair competitive advantage.

Within these clearly defined IMF provisions, currency manipulation by China
rests on the assessment as to whether or not China has been undertaking “pro-
tracted large-scale intervention in one direction in the exchange market.” But can
there be any doubt? Table 1 shows the average monthly purchases of foreign ex-
change by the Chinese Central Bank from 2001 through July 2003. During this pe-
riod, the foreign exchange holdings of the Bank have more than doubled from $166
billion to $357 billion. Moreover, there is a strong upward trend in official purchases
throughout the period, from $3.8 billion per month in 2001 to $5-$7 billion per
month in 2002 to $10 billion per month in 2003. These Chinese purchases, along
with official Japanese purchases, as also shown in Table 1, are far beyond any
precedent throughout the almost 60-year history of the IMF.

Table 1. Official Chinese and Japanese
Foreign Exchange Purchases

($ billions, monthly average)

China Japan
2001 (Jan.—Dec.) 3.8 3.4
2002 (Jan.—June) 5.1 6.9
2002 (July—Dec.) 7.3 3.8
2003 (Jan.—June) 10.0 12.5
2003 (July) 10.0 11.1

Source: IMF, International Financial Statistics; and Coalition for
a Sound Dollar, “Currency Manipulation Monitor.”

The Chinese violation of World Trade Organization (WTO) commitments pertains
to GATT Article XV, dealing with “Exchange Arrangements,” which stipulates that
members should not take exchange rate actions that “frustrate the intent of the pro-
visions of this Agreement.” The intent of the Agreement, as stated in broadest terms
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in the Preamble, is the objective of “entering into reciprocal and mutually advan-
tageous arrangements directed to the substantial reduction of tariffs and other bar-
riers to trade.” Clearly, “exchange rate manipulation to gain an unfair competitive
advantage,” as defined by IMF Article IV, meets the “frustrate the intent” test. In
fact, GATT Article XV also provides for full consultation with the IMF, including
that members “should accept all findings of statistical fact presented by the Fund
relating to foreign exchange.” Thus, there is a direct linkage between IMF pro-
scribed currency manipulation and violation of WTO Article XV, including recourse
to WTO trade dispute procedures. This linkage is addressed more fully under issue
three below.

The critical conclusion is that China—as well as Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, and
perhaps some others—have been in clear violation of IMF and WTO commitments
related to exchange rate policy. There should be no controversy about this conclu-
sion, which leads to the follow-on questions of the economic impact of such currency
manipulation on the U.S. trade balance and economy, and the appropriate policy re-
sponse by the United States and other trading nations suffering the unfair competi-
tive disadvantage from currency manipulation.

2. The Impact on the U.S. Trade Balance and Economy

Currency manipulation results in a lower than market-based exchange rate, with
a consequent larger trade surplus by the manipulator and larger trade deficits for
its trading partners. How much lower the Chinese exchange rate and how much
larger its trade surplus with the United States are, as a result of Chinese currency
manipulation, cannot be measured with precision, but even approximate orders of
magnitude are sufficient to indicate a significant competitive disadvantage for U.S.
export and import competing industries.

The estimates provided here are explained in detail in an earlier study.! The esti-
mates were based on the period through mid-2002, and in the year since then cur-
rency manipulation by both China and Japan has accelerated sharply, as shown in
Table 1, and thus, if anything, the cited estimates understate the more recent im-
pact of the manipulation on exchange rates and trade.

The basic concept involved is that official purchases of foreign exchange take dol-
lars and other foreign exchange off the market that otherwise would have created
demand for the national currency and put upward pressure on the exchange rate.
The relevant relationship is between the extent of official purchases and a country’s
“basic balance,” that is its current account (mostly trade) plus the net flow of foreign
direct investment (FDI).2 For example, in 2002 China had a current account surplus
of $35 billion and a net inflow of FDI of about $50 billion, and thus a basic balance
of +$85 billion which, in relation to the size of overall Chinese trade and invest-
ment, would have put very strong upward pressure on the exchange rate. The Chi-
nese Central Bank during 2002, however, purchased $75 billion of foreign exchange,
thereby directly offsetting almost 90 percent of the upward pressure on the currency
from the very large basic balance surplus. In 2003, official foreign exchange pur-
chases will likely exceed 100 percent of the Chinese basic balance dollar inflow.

The estimates I made in the IIE book cited above derive from this basic relation-
ship and available econometric work relating exchange rate adjustment to changes
in the trade balance. The estimates provided are that the Japanese yen was at least
20 percent undervalued as a result of currency manipulation, and that the Chinese
renminbi was in the order of 40 percent undervalued. Together with currency ma-
nipulation by South Korea, Taiwan, and others, the estimated impact on the U.S.
trade deficit was that approximately $100 billion, or one-quarter of the total $400
billion trade deficit in manufactures in 2002, was caused by currency manipulation.
The $100 billion larger trade deficit equates to 1.0-1.5 million jobs in U.S. manufac-
turing. In 2003, both the trade deficit and the intensity of currency manipulation

1Ernest H. Preeg, “Exchange Rate Manipulation to Gain an Unfair Competitive Advantage:
The Case Against Japan and China,” contained in Dollar Overvaluation and the World Economy,
C. Fred Bergsten and John Williamson, eds. (Institute for International Economics, February
2003), pp. 267-284.

2Some observers conclude that currency manipulation has no significant impact because an-
nual official foreign exchange purchases, even at $100 billion per year, pale by comparison with
a trillion dollars per day of international financial transactions. The error in this assessment
is to compare net and gross financial flows. The very large majority of gross market financial
transactions are offsetting inflows and outflows, just as most trade consists of offsetting export
and import payments in its impact on exchange rates. What really counts for upward and down-
ward pressures on exchange rates is the net dollar inflow or outflow on trade, current, and long-
term capital accounts, which is directly offset, dollar for dollar, by Central Bank purchases of
foreign exchange.



74

havebincreased substantially, which again might justify an upward revision of these
numbers.

As to the impact on the U.S. trade deficit by China alone, there is both a direct
and an indirect effect. Based on the shares of trade and estimated undervaluation
of currencies, China directly accounts for about $40 billion of the $100 billion larger
U.S. trade deficit. Indirectly, however, China has an additional impact because
Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, and others throughout Asia claim they have to inter-
vene and keep their currencies undervalued because of the very low manipulated
Chinese rate. In other words, they say they have to manipulate their currencies to
remain competitive with China. There is also good reason to believe that if China
were to substantially revalue its currency, the other Asians could be persuaded to
scale back their Central Bank purchases and allow their currencies to float upward.
Thus, putting the direct and indirect effects of Chinese currency manipulation to-
gether, $50 billion or more of the $100 billion trade deficit increase can be attrib-
uted to China.

As for the broader impact of Chinese and other East Asian currency manipulation
on the U.S. economy, there are three principal effects, one involving short-term ad-
justment of the U.S. trade deficit, and the other two having more fundamental and
longer term consequences.

1. Short-term adjustment of the trade deficit. There is widespread agreement
that the $500 billion U.S. current account deficit cannot be sustained indefinitely,
and that the inevitable downward adjustment will involve a significant lowering of
the dollar exchange rate. As noted above, such adjustment should be of substantial
benefit to U.S. export and import-competing industries, but it also has its costs, in-
cluding upward pressure on interest rates and inflation and perhaps some down-
ward effects on the stock market. The current outlook, however, is about as favor-
able as it can get for minimizing these adverse adjustment effects. Inflation is very
low and most indicators point to a relatively strong economic growth path, with rel-
atively low interest rates, over the next year or two.

In this context, the huge official purchases of dollars by East Asians, including
China, are currently financing more than half of the $500 billion U.S. current ac-
count deficit, thus tending to postpone the inevitable current account adjustment.
And the longer we postpone the trade adjustment through such borrowing from for-
eign governments, the “harder the landing” for the dollar and the U.S. economy will
likely be, including the likelihood of a larger necessary adjustment during less favor-
able domestic economic circumstances.

2. Adverse impact on U.S. manufacturing as the engine for growth. The
manufacturing sector is the engine for growth for the overall U.S. economy.? Two-
thirds of research and development and over 90 percent of new patents derive from
the manufacturing sector. The application of new technologies throughout the econ-
omy is predominantly through manufactured products with an increasing compo-
nent of related services for training, application, and maintenance also supplied by
manufacturing companies. Productivity growth in the U.S. economy has soared from
1.5 percent in 1990-1995 to 2.5 percent in 1995-2000 to 3.4 percent since 2000, and
the engine for this extraordinary growth record is the manufacturing sector.

The unprecedented U.S. trade deficit in manufactures, however, has resulted in
a much smaller engine for growth in the United States and a corresponding larger
engine in East Asia, including China, in particular. The U.S. trade deficit in manu-
factures has increased steadily from about $150 billion in 1997 and $250 billion in
1999 to $373 billion in 2001, and it is projected to exceed $450 billion this year, of
which 70-80 percent is with East Asia, and over $100 billion with China alone. The
trade deficit in manufactures currently amounts to about one-third the value added
in U.S. manufacturing industry. Put another way, if U.S. trade in manufactures
were in balance, the U.S. manufacturing sector would be one-third larger, including
about five million more jobs. The net result would be a substantially larger engine
for growth, with substantially greater resources available for research and develop-
ment, investment, and training to upgrade employee skills.

This relationship between the evermore technology-intensive manufacturing en-
gine for growth and the trade balance is clearly evident in the economic strategy
of the East Asian export powerhouses, including China. A large trade surplus plus
a net inflow of technology-intensive direct investment in manufacturing is a central
policy objective, and currency manipulation to maintain or increase the surplus is
a highly effective policy instrument to this end. A sustained trade surplus as a pol-

3The assessment in this section is drawn from U.S. Manufacturing: The Engine for Growth
in a Global Economy, Thomas J. Duesterberg and Ernest H. Preeg, eds. (Praeger Publishers,
October 2003).
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icy objective has long been called “mercantilism” by economists. In current East
Asian form, it can be more pointedly described as “advanced technology mer-
cantilism,” and China is the outstanding practitioner.

3. Adverse impact on U.S. defense capability. This impact follows principally
from the previous point of a larger East Asian manufacturing engine for growth rel-
ative to the United States as a result of currency manipulation and its impact on
the U.S. trade deficit. A broader Chinese manufacturing base, with strong incentives
to upgrade technological content, enables China to modernize its military capability
at a faster pace. Likewise, a relatively smaller U.S. manufacturing base would have
a restraining effect for the United States to maintain its high technology lead in
weapons, related information systems, and other defense capabilities.

Another indirect effect of Chinese currency manipulation on Chinese military
modernization is the enhanced capability to purchase weapons and other defense-
related goods and services from abroad, largely from Russia in recent years. With
close to $400 billion of foreign exchange sitting idly (while gaining interest) in the
Chinese Central Bank, China has virtually unlimited funds available for cash pur-
chases of advanced military capability.4

3. The Appropriate U.S. Policy Response

U.S. policy has been in a state of denial about currency manipulation for many
years. The 1988 Omnibus Trade Act requires the Secretary of the Treasury to report
to the Senate Banking Committee twice each year with an assessment of currency
manipulation by trading partners. The congressional motivation for this provision
was concern about Japanese exchange rate manipulation dating back to the mid-
1980s. Secretaries of the Treasury, however, have almost always responded with
brief statements denying any signs of currency manipulation. Neither Japan nor
China has ever been mentioned as possible currency manipulators. One consequence
of this U.S. denial is that the IMF Secretariat has avoided the subject as well. If
the Secretary of the Treasury of the largest IMF member, which also suffers the
principal competitive disadvantage from currency manipulation, every six months
categorically denies manipulation by any other IMF member, no one else would be
so presumptuous as to disagree with him.

There has recently been significant change in this policy. Secretary John Snow is
now urging China and Japan to move toward a more market-based exchange rate
policy. The United States also pressed the Group of Seven (G-7) finance ministers
on September 20 to adopt language calling for more flexibility in exchange rates to
promote adjustment based on market mechanisms. There has still been no public
statement, however, about violation of IMF and WTO commitments, and the country
focus is very uneven, with a predominant focus on China. Japan, in fact, stated that
the G-7 statement represented no change in policy for Japan.

A more complete and effective policy response would put the issue in broader con-
text, in terms of both substance and procedure.

A. The Substantive Response

The United States should make a clear and comprehensive statement about the
problem of currency manipulation and its adverse impact on the U.S. trade deficit.
It should consist of three basic points:

1. Violation of IMF and WTO commitments. The United States should state
clearly that China, Japan, and some others are in violation of IMF Article IV and
WTO/GATT Article XV commitments as described in section 1 above. This is the fac-
tual cornerstone of the problem, and a clear statement would counter frequent criti-
cism that the United States is pursuing a protectionist trade policy toward China.
The IMF/WTO legal case also strengthens U.S. bargaining leverage to resolve the
problem as an urgent matter.

2. Equal treatment for all currency manipulators. The current policy of sin-
gling out China is inconsistent conceptually and can have adverse impact on other
U.S. foreign policy interests with China. It also adds to the perception of U.S. pro-
tectionism because of the very large U.S. bilateral trade deficit with China. At least
Japan, South Korea, and Taiwan should be approached on equal terms, with a view
to terminating IMF proscribed currency manipulation. Japan, in fact, has been ma-

4 A related and utterly absurd financial relationship is that China still receives several billion
dollars per year in long-term concessionary loans from the multilateral development banks,
which could be provided internally from less than one month’s purchases of foreign exchange
by the Chinese Central Bank. China should immediately be converted from an aid recipient to
an aid donor country in view of its massive official foreign exchange holdings.
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nipulating its currency far longer than China and in a more obvious way.5> The in-
clusion of Taiwan is significant not only because Taiwan is a long-time manipulator,
with foreign exchange holdings of $186 billion, up $30 billion in the past 12 months
alone, but as a demonstration to Beijing that the United States is treating both Chi-
nas on an equal basis for this purely economic and commercial issue.

3. Highlight the mutual benefits. There is a short-term competitive trade ad-
vantage for China from currency manipulation, but there are also disadvantages. If
China were to revalue its currency up by 20 percent, for example, the cost of im-
ported oil—currently 1.5 million barrels per day and rising rapidly—would decline
by 20 percent throughout the Chinese economy. Likewise, the ensuing reduction of
Central Bank purchases of foreign exchange would provide additional financial re-
sources for internal needs such as building infrastructure and reducing poverty.
Longer term transition to a more efficient market-based exchange rate, in conjunc-
tion with movement toward free trade, is clearly a mutual economic interest of both
China and the United States as global trading nations.® These overriding positive
dimensions should be highlighted in discussion between the governments about the
currency manipulation issue.

B. The Procedural Response

Based on such a substantive statement of policy, the United States should under-
take further bilateral, group, and institutional consultations with a view to a
prompt ending currency manipulation by trading partners. Bilateral consultations
would begin with the four named East Asian trading partners that are having the
largest adverse impact on U.S. commercial interests. Group consultations would
take place within the Asia Pacific Economic Consultation (APEC), in view of the
transpacific concentration of both currency manipulation and the U.S. trade deficit,
and in the G-7 industrialized country grouping, wherein the Europeans and Canada
also suffer adverse consequences from East Asian currency manipulation because
they have been absorbing a disproportionately large share of the trade impact from
the decline in the dollar thus far.

Institutional consultations would be initiated in the IMF with respect to violations
of Article IV and in the WTO with respect to violations of GATT Article XV. These
formal consultations could be delayed pending early resolution of the issue through
informal bilateral consultations, but the United States should be clear that this is
an urgent matter and that the United States is prepared to move forward promptly
to such formal consultations if necessary.

A final question pertains to what would be the most appropriate policy response
by China. An abrupt switch from the current fixed pegged to the dollar, nonconvert-
ible on capital account, to a market-based floating rate, could cause some short-term
disruption in financial markets. A more balanced action proposed here would be an
immediate 20 percent revaluation of the renminbi to bring it closer to a market-
based level, together with a transition to convertibility on capital account within a
band around the newly established peg. Over a couple of years, this band could be
progressively broadened until a market-based floating rate is achieved. This is, how-
ever, only a well-intentioned suggestion. The ultimate choice is up to China, as pro-
vided in IMF Article IV, Section 3, which stipulates the right of members to have
exchange rate policies of their choice, as long as they do not lead to currency
manipulation to gain an unfair competitive advantage.

Discussion, Questions and Answers
Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you.

5The Japanese Central Bank simply intervenes in a floating rate market to buy foreign cur-
rencies and thus maintain a lower than market-based exchange rate. China, with a dollar
pegged rate that is nonconvertible on capital account, requires all incoming foreign exchange
not used on current account to be sold to the Central Bank. The net result is the same in terms
of IMF proscribed currency manipulation, but the process is more indirect and less clearly per-
ceived by some observers.

6The substantive economic benefits to both the United States and China from a multilateral
free trade agreement for manufactures are described in detail in Ernest H. Preeg, From Here
to Free Trade in Manufactures: Why and How (Manufacturers Alliance/MAPI, August 2003). In
view of the failure of the WTO ministerial meeting in Cancun, the United States and China
should indeed give urgent consideration to such an initiative as a way to salvage the multilat-
eral trading system as well as to reap the substantial direct economic benefits.
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I am going to have the first five minutes, and we’re going to limit
ourselves to five minutes so everybody has a chance before we have
to break.

First, I want to just tell you, in the context of this hearing, we
tried to think it through—and it was some months ago—what we
wanted to do with it. There weren’t all these congressional bills in
there three months ago or two months ago when we started putting
this hearing together. This issue has hit, and I think it hit because
there is a major problem out there and that Congressmen are try-
ing to understand how to deal with it. And once we decided to look
at those bills that the Congressmen and Senators were putting in,
we felt it very important to bring these people—these elected rep-
resentatives of the people in here to find out what they think is
going on, because they are a transmission belt from the larger soci-
ety to policymakers. And you don’t always get that when you're in
the Administration, what’s really going on out there.

The other thing I want to say, I was around this town when
PNTR was going through the Congress. And, remember, it had to
get through both Houses of Congress. And part of the problem, I
think, was the way it was sold. It was sold to the elected represent-
atives of the people that it was going to correct the trade imbalance
with China by opening up China to American exports. That was
the way it was sold.

Now, I want to read to you an article that appeared—and I think
it’s very important for people out in the larger community to under-
stand this. The Wall Street Journal on May 25, 2000, the day after
the House voted and approved PNTR, said this in an article about
that vote. It said, “And while the debate in Washington focused
mainly on the probable lift for U.S. exports to China, many U.S.
multinationals have something different in mind. ‘This deal is
about investment, not exports,” said Joseph Quinlan, an economist
with Morgan Stanley Dean Witter.” I think that is your firm, Dr.
Roach. “U.S. investment is about to overtake U.S. exports as the
primary means by which U.S. companies deliver goods to China.”

So, in our first report, we said China’s effort to get into the WTO,
a key part of it was to get investment. It was sold here that it
would help Americans sell more to China, and I think part of the
problem now is that the members had a misimpression of what was
happening here. And I think that’s now created a political problem
that we should be thinking about how to deal with rather than at-
tacking these Congressmen, who are really telling you that there’s
a problem out there that’s not being dealt with.

Now, I think it’s more than an exchange rate issue, personally.
Paul Craig Roberts, who was an Assistant Secretary of the Treas-
ury under Ronald Reagan, is going to testify here later today, along
with other economists, and he’s going to tell us that part of the
problem is the fact that mobile factors of production—capital, tech-
nology, and even labor through Internet transfers of high-level jobs.
He’s going to tell us that that has changed what has been the per-
ception for a century about what trade was about, that you make
goods here, you ship them there. And he’s saying that you really
need to rethink what we’re doing here, because when you can move
factories, technology, and white-collar jobs and everything out of
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your country to another country, that changes the perception of
what people thought was trade.

So I would just like—with that statement just ask: Do you think
there’s any validity to these concerns, Dr. Roach? And others, if you
want to comment.

Dr. RoACH. Let me just comment. And, look, I apologize if I got
a little hot here. But I sat here and listened to Congressman after
Congressman expressing tremendous frustration and anger at Chi-
na’s role in accounting for, as one Congressman put it, “the bleed-
ing” that’s going on in America.

The reason that this issue is so important right now is because
here we are 22 months into an economic recovery and jobs are still
going down.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Right.

Dr. ROACH. In fact, this is the most jobless recovery in the his-
tory of the modern-day U.S. business cycle. And so, therefore, the
Congressmen, as typical refuse to accept responsibility for any-
thing. They want to point their finger at someone else. And yet
there’s a legitimate argument to be made. And the
counterargument here is that theyre the problem. That by creating
these irresponsible deficits that go on forever, they have cooked the
books in terms of giving us trade deficits for as far as the eye can
see, because we have no national savings. And that’s a huge issue.
I wish that there were some Congressmen here to respond to this.
But, as they usually do, they just sort of dip in and they dip out
because they’re always so busy. They don’t like to really discuss
issues with you. They like to preach.

And then you raised, I think, an absolutely critical issue—and
Craig Roberts, if he’s going to talk about it, God bless him. The
whole concept of trade is being transformed by IT-enabled
connectivity that allows us now to extract labor input from any-
where around the world, whether it’s in tradable goods or what we
used to call non-tradable services.

The really big story that no one is alluding to here is that serv-
ices may be next. Chuck Schumer did allude to that, but he’s so
focused on manufacturing, he can’t see past the loss or the closing
of some auto plants in parts of New York. But we're a service econ-
omy. Eighty percent of our workforce is services. That’s six times
the share of manufacturing. And now, courtesy of the Internet,
we're able to extract increasingly high value-added service output
from places like India.

So I'm sure there’s going to be a U.S.-India Commission that is
going to be set up at some point in the not so distant future. Once
we deal with China, then we’re going to go attack India.

Is that the way the world’s greatest nation wants to behave? I'm
not proud of that at all. Yet, I think that’s a serious risk that’s
where we’re going. Here in this room you’re charged with U.S.-
China relations. But what I do as a macroeconomist is try to figure
out how this all fits into the broader picture.

Yes, America is a great country, and if we just stay focused on
investing in human capital, and innovation, I guarantee we’ll be
fine. Go back and read the hearings, if they exist, of what the farm-
ers felt in the late 1800s or the sweatshop workers felt in the early
1900s. You're getting sentiment today that’s very reminiscent of
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those earlier junctures when there were fears and anxiety over the
future.

And America was always great enough to come up with that next
new thing. Yet by looking inward and going protectionist, we're
doing exactly the opposite. That worries me a lot.

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. I'd like to engage further, but my time is
up.

Commissioner Reinsch.

Commissioner REINSCH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

First, just for the record, I just want to say I agree with Mr.
Roach that the real underlying problem here is our extraordinary
budget deficit and, to use my words, the irresponsible fiscal policy
of the Administration. If you compare fiscal 00 to the current year,
the change is just extraordinary, probably greater than ever in our
history, and I think that does underlie a lot of the problems.

Nevertheless, as Mike Wessel said, we’re here to talk about
China, and so we have a narrower focus, and I have just two ques-
tions, and I would ask for short answers, please, so we can squeeze
them in.

The first one is: Mr. Hale made, I think, a point that some others
have made which is very important, which is that the Chinese not
only have had an export boom but an import boom. I guess the first
question is: Why aren’t more of those imports coming from the
United States?

Mr. HALE. No simple answer. Last year, we had about $20 billion
of exports to China, and U.S. multinational companies had $26 bil-
lion of what I'd call sales in China from their own production in
that country or their own local sourcing. China’s huge import boom
has actually been from other Asian countries. China is currently
running a trade deficit of $32 billion with Taiwan, $10 billion with
Korea, $5 billion with Japan, $7 or $8 billion from ASEAN.

The reason is very simple: China’s basically turned into a huge
assembly shop. They buy a lot of components, more raw materials
from East Asia, especially Taiwan, and turn it into finished goods.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, why aren’t they buying them from
us?

Mr. HALE. Because I don’t think we produce a lot of the compo-
nents anymore that drive this industrial boom. Those are produced,
have been produced over the last 10 or 15 years by other Asian
countries. The fact is a lot of these industries left the U.S. going
back 10, 15, 20 years ago, and so we don’t have the same link in
the supply chain that the other countries do.

Will that change? Who knows? I mean, as China goes more up
market to more sophisticated industries, to more high-value-added
industries, it’s quite possible that our share will increase because
those kinds of goods are still produced here as opposed to the com-
ponents, the widgets and things like that.

But, the fact is, as Fred Bergsten indicated, a lot of the things
that China produces just aren’t produced here anymore.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, you make a very good point be-
cause what you're talking about is an erosion of the manufacturing
base that extends way beyond our relations with China. It’s been
going on for 20, 30 years.
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Mr. HALE. Well, a huge change. We can say that the manufac-
turing output share of GDP is still relatively high. Employment has
fallen steadily for many years, especially in the last three or four
years, because we've just gone to a different product mix. And be-
cause the Chinese economy is still, as Stephen indicated, relatively
poor, its capacity to absorb what I would call the most sophisti-
cated products, the most high-value-added products, is somewhat
limited compared to Europe or Japan or other affluent societies.

Commissioner REINSCH. Let me pick up—do you want to say
something, Dr. Roach?

Dr. RoAcH. Let me just briefly add one thing. Under WTO acces-
sion, I think some of the greatest opportunities that lie out there
for U.S. companies in China is in the liberalization of services.
And, again, that’s where the bulk of our jobs are. There’s tremen-
dous opportunity for us to get involved in Chinese service markets
in a fashion that would benefit U.S. workers significantly.

Commissioner REINSCH. Ernie, do you want to throw in ten sec-
onds’ worth?

Dr. PREEG. Just on the U.S. manufacturing sector, it’s been hit
hard cyclically in the last three years. But over the last 20 or 30
years, the share of GDP in labor has gone down because produc-
tivity growth consistently has been two to three times higher in
manufacturing than services. The quantity of manufactures
throughout the 1990s grew faster than the quantity of services.

Commissioner REINSCH. Okay.

Dr. PREEG. That’s a positive thing.
hCommissioner REINSCH. That’s very helpful, and I appreciate
that.

The other question picks up on something that Mr. Hale said,
which is that China has become a giant assembly operation.
They’re sucking in imports from elsewhere, putting them together,
and shipping them here. That makes sense. It seems to me that
that is sort of, nevertheless, kind of a short-term or static picture.

The real debate that we probably ought to be having, and are
not, is if or when, at what point are they going to turn the corner
and move into product development and design of their own and
ultimately begin developing all those parts and components domes-
tically and change the equation that you've just described.

I attended a conference last February where there was much de-
bate about this and much speculation about whether that would
ever happen and what the consequences would be if it does. Would
any of you like to opine on that?

Mr. HALE. Well, China, for example, is now developing a semi-
conductor industry, but, again, with foreigners driving the process.
Taiwan companies are leading it.

Commissioner REINSCH. Yeah, but that’s technology transfer.
That’s not:

Mr. HALE. America’s companies are also playing a role. China’s
also proposed in the last two years, to appease the Asian countries
that are concerned about its economic takeoff, a regional free trade
zone encompassing ASEAN, Korea possibly, someday even Japan,
if they can get over all the agricultural problems they have.

So China is trying to actually demonstrate to the other countries
in the region that it’s not going to basically displace them com-
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pletely, but this integration process will continue and there will be
a competitive advantage for somebody to engage in two-way trade.
And, again, the structures that we have right now won’t nec-
essarily be there in five or ten years. They’ll be constantly evolving.

China, for example, has a computer company called Legend,
which is very successful. It’s got a 26-percent market share in
China. IBM and Dell are 3 or 4 percent each. But 80 percent of the
components for Legend computers come from Taiwan. Basically, it’s
an assembly operation for Taiwan components.

And now, what’s happened in the last three years is that all
these Taiwan companies have moved to the Mainland. Taiwan in-
vestment last year in China was $30 billion. Five years ago, it was
$10 or $15 billion. Taiwan, which is a huge factor in many tech-
nologies, is now moving 60, 70 percent of its output to the Chinese
Mainland. So what would have been in the past a U.S. trade deficit
with Taiwan will now be a trade deficit with China instead.

Dr. RoAcH. I would just say I think it’s perfectly logical to expect
what you laid out. This is the continuum of economic development;
poor countries lacking in capital, both physical and human, start
out assembling. Then as they slowly start to climb up the curve of
development and prosperity, they become more educated, more
technologically adept, and they turn those skills into producers.

This very process is now unfolding in China, and I think we can
expect more of it. This is the way globalization works. We can ex-
pect it in countries all over the world.

Our challenge in America is always the same to stay ahead of
the curve. And we've been great at that over time. The risk,
though, is that we react to new pressures, that and start to look
inward and protect ourselves. I don’t think there is anything to
gear here. This is what global prosperity is all about. It’s a win-win
or us.

Commissioner REINSCH. I think you’re exactly right about the
challenge. The question in this case is whether China is different
from other previous cases because of its size and because of the na-
ture of its economy. But my time is up.

Mr. HALE. Just to stress again, China is different because of its
size and because of its scope. But, again, in contrast to the other
Asian countries that we were concerned about ten years ago, Japan
and Korea, it’s incredibly open. This development model is incred-
ibly open, so, therefore, the opportunities there are much greater
than they were a generation ago in Japan or in Korea. We've got
to recognize that. This is not a closed economy model. It’s employ-
ing cheap labor. It’s got a reasonably well-educated population.
They produce 300,000 graduates every year in the engineering
area. So it’s formidable. But it doesn’t mean that we can’t find huge
opportunities if we focus and organize our efforts in the correct
way.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. I think that’s the key. I think we've got
to figure out how to organize ourselves a lot better and think about
that we'’re into this global economy now, how do we organize our-
selves, and we haven’t really thought that through. And that’s
what we'’re trying to think through here with you——

Mr. HALE. I just have an anecdote. I gave a speech a few months
ago to the U.S.-China Chamber of Commerce in Chicago. I spoke
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to almost 350 people. After my speech, I looked at the corporate
guest list to see who I was speaking to. I did not recognize a single
name on the list. Every single firm there was a small Mid-
western—Illinois, Indiana, Iowa—manufacturing company, very
concerned about China.

Twenty businessmen came to me after my speech and said, “Can
you help me buy a plant in China? I have to go there to be competi-
tive.”

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Right.

Mr. HALE. But these were the small companies. And what’s driv-
ing this whole debate about China’s exchange rate policy is not
General Motors or Motorola. They're fine. They’ve got $5 billion in-
vestments in China. They have a huge market share. It’s the small
companies who have not yet accessed China because they lack the
resources, lack the expertise, lack the skills. And we have to help
those companies penetrate China, and China should be helping
those companies.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Wessel.

Commissioner WESSEL. Again, thank you. And, Mr. Roach, thank
you for your passion. I have followed your writings and speakings
for many years, and you are honest and forthright in your beliefs,
and we appreciate that.

I do believe that this is not intended as a one-sided discussion.
The Members of Congress are reflecting a comment you made just
a couple of minutes ago, that this is the most jobless recovery we
have seen in probably the post-war period. And our defined unem-
ployment rate does not reflect the real unemployment rate, which
I would argue is well over 10 percent, with those who have given
up, those who are working part-time jobs because they can’t find
full-time jobs. And, really, that may be the root of the larger prob-
lem in the sense that when you’re out of a job, you can’t save.
When you’re underemployed, you can’t save. You're spending every
dime you get to try and stay out of debt and try and make sure
that your family has food on the table and can afford what it needs
to live on a daily basis. So as I said before, we do recognize that
there is a larger problem. The China problem is a part of that.

But I'd like to ask all three of you here: If one were to take
present circumstances, meaning a skyrocketing deficit and the laws
we have on our books without much change, the frustration that
people are seeing, that the American public sees, is because they
see their jobs moving to China. As I said earlier, they’re moving
from Mexico to China and elsewhere, and this may be the overall
globalization problem.

Do you believe we can sustain our high standard of living with-
out dramatic change in U.S. policy?

Dr. RoAcH. I think that this perception that Americans see their
jobs moving to China is a perception that’s very much shaped in
the hallowed halls of Congress. Those perceptions are very hard to
validate—especially the trade-off between U.S. layoffs and Chinese
hiring.

Consider America’s jobless recovery: By my estimates, we’re
probably about four and a quarter million jobs below where we
would normally be at this point in a business cycle. About half that
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shortfall is in manufacturing. About half that shortfall is in serv-
ices.

Why are companies laying off workers? Is it China’s fault? Is it
Korea’s fault? Is it Japan’s fault? Is it our fault? Probably
everybody’s at fault because what is going on here are the perfectly
normal cross-border transfers of globalization. Your challenge is so
tough because you’re charged with looking at China, alone. But you
just said it: This so called China problem must be examined in a
bigger context.

In an era of globalization, the concept of capacity and supply
takes on totally different meanings. And it simply may well be that
we have a huge global imbalance between supply and demand.
We've got excess capacity everywhere around the world in literally
everything we do, and as we take our barriers down, we’re now re-
alizing this for the first time ever. Moreover, the Internet enables
us to tap sources of supply that we’ve never been able to tap before,
both in manufacturing and in what we used to call non-tradable
services.

The final piece of this puzzle is that because of this imbalance
between supply and demand, companies don’t have any pricing le-
verage as they used to. And so they have to keep cutting costs to
survive and deliver returns to shareholders. That’s why we’ve had
this inflation-deflation debate—an extraordinarily different aspect
of our macro scene that hasn’t been evident for a long time.

So, to survive as a business when you're lacking in pricing lever-
age and facing competition that you've never seen before, you have
to keep pushing down on the cost curve. And that means going to
outsourcing chains, whether they’re in China, whether they’re in
India, or any other low-cost producer around the world. And this
does put pressure on what we think we’re entitled to in terms of
our standard of living as the world’s most prosperous nation.

But those entitlements get drawn into question when we run
reckless economic policies as we are doing today with these mas-
sive budget deficits. And I agree with you that the unemployment
rate is probably a good deal higher than the official numbers sug-
gest, consistently with these pressures or our standard of living.

But as much as you're charged with dealing with U.S.-China in
the narrow sense, I think you would be doing the country a huge
service if you, simply stated, that this problem is one piece in a
much bigger puzzle. We can’t pretend to just isolate U.S.-China re-
lationship on a bilateral basis anymore. There are forces much big-
ger than U.S.-China that are affecting the prosperity and the
standard of living of the American worker.

Mr. HALE. I think we should recognize that China has actually
had a benign effect on the standard of living of the American peo-
ple by producing a big disinflation in the cost of many consumer
products. Andy Xia, his colleague in Hong Kong, produced a report
two weeks ago suggesting that the cost savings in the last five
years have been worth $100 billion per annum for American con-
sumers. Basically China buys a lot of commodities. In fact, its com-
modity demand is so great it’s pushing up the price of copper, alu-
minum, and steel, but turns it into very cheap final goods, which
in turn enhance our living standards.
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Now, the jobless issue is a very profound one, and just a few
numbers to put it in perspective. Since President Bush became
President three years ago, we’ve lost 2.7 million jobs. No American
President since Herbert Hoover has lost jobs on this scale. Even
the Presidents we think were failures outperformed the current
President: his father, ten years ago, 2.6 million jobs; Gerald Ford,
terrible recession, 2.8 million jobs; Jimmy Carter, a disaster, plus
10 million jobs.

This is a very unique period, and I fear that if the 5-percent GDP
growth we’re now experiencing here in the third and fourth quar-
ters doesn’t give us two or three hundred thousand jobs in the
fourth quarter, even President Bush may resort in the new year to
protectionist trade policies, big dollar devaluations, who knows
what, because he doesn’t have any policy levers. We've got a mas-
sive budget deficit. Interest rates are 1 percent. Where else do you
go to find jobs but to bash foreigners? It’s really a political choice,
perhaps.

But as Steve just indicated, the bottom line is: What will produce
a highly competitive, highly entrepreneurial economy to produce
jobs and produce wealth? And the answers are always the same.
A good level of savings and investment, a well-educated labor force,
a reasonably good set of institutions to make the economy function
correctly.

Our savings rate is the lowest in recorded history. That’s why
our current account deficit is so large; our budget deficit is massive,
because we have, since September 11th, taken on some major re-
sponsibilities.

I would add that the budget deficit has not cost us jobs. If we
had not had the big budget deficit, the big increase in defense
spending, we might have lost four million jobs, not 2.6 million. The
deficit is helping in the short term. But in the long term, we have
to bring it under control to get that savings and investment bal-
ance right, to have a high-growth, prosperous economy.

So the policy answers are not complex. They’ve been there for a
long, long time. We know about them, but they do require political
will, they require some creativity, and they require some courage
from the people who are responsible for making public policy.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner D’Amato.

Commissioner WESSEL. Can we hear from Mr. Preeg?

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Oh, I'm sorry.

Dr. PREEG. Well, two quick comments.

First, obviously there are a lot of factors in play. I just want to
say that this week we put out a book called “U.S. Manufacturing:
The Engine for Growth in a Global Economy.” I'm co-editor. It has
the full thing. There’s a lot about fiscal policy, the deficit, about re-
structuring to have enough incentive for innovation and invest-
ment. There’s a lot about tort reform. There’s a lot about health
care reform. So there are lots of things we should be doing to make
sure our manufacturing industry keeps its momentum.

But I don’t think we should lose sight of the fact—which is the
subject of this hearing—the exchange rate issues, because this is
only one part, but it’s an important part, substantively, and it does
have the potential of moving into protectionist directions. And in
our membership, we have 450 companies, manufacturing compa-
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nies. We're essentially a private sector think tank, a lot of inter-
action. They're all interested in China when you put the question
to them. But if the exchange rate were 40 percent different or even
20 percent, not everyone but a lot of them say: Well, then we would
do it differently. Then we could keep our contracts here. They
would restructure.

It’s a very dynamic, changing circumstance, but a major revalu-
ation of the Chinese currency, in my view, would have quite sub-
stantial effects, as we said, perhaps $50 or $100 billion of a trade
deficit. That’s very substantial.

Commissioner WESSEL. If I could just clarify one thing, I believe
it was Dr. Bergsten who said that a $100 billion switch would
equal roughly 500,000 jobs. Is that an estimate that you'd agree to?

Dr. PREEG. It’s generally 10,000 per billion. A hundred billion is
a million jobs.

Commissioner WESSEL. Thank you.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner D’Amato.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want
to thank the panelists for their testimony. I think this is the kind
of debate that we were hoping for.

I would like to point out that if we were intending to have a mas-
sive one-sided hearing, we certainly would not have invited this
panel. We certainly would not have invited Dr. Roach.

So I would like to just make that point up front. We enjoyed hav-
ing his testimony because we have a lot of preachers here. We had
a number of preachers this morning, and I think we have some
preachers this afternoon, too, on each side of the issue. And, Dr.
Roach, I don’t want to single you out, but I think that you make
a textbook case for globalization and for multinational corporations.
You say, “... in the end, we must all learn to live with the stresses
and strains of globalization”—for some reason. “Our commitment to
globalization should be unwavering in bad times as well as good
times. ...”

And I just would like to point out that the emotion you saw this
morning it is palpable. It’s really coming hard at us. And there are
reasons that there is a lot of smoke out there, and usually where
there’s smoke there’s fire. So, I think that there are some legiti-
mate issues on both sides of this case.

When I think of globalization and multinational corporations,
you'll forgive me, but I think of corporations like the Big Eight ac-
counting firms, like Tyco, like Enron, like WorldCom, like Global
Crossing. And I think of fraud, massive fraud, and criminal behav-
ior. One can make that case, too. Now, quaint as the Congress is,
it’s useful to have regulatory operations on behalf of average peo-
ple.

When we had the debate over PNTR for China—it’s true that the
Administration made very clear arguments, without which and it
would not have been passed by the small majority it did in the
House, i.e., without these arguments—that the Chinese were going
to be brought to a rule-of-law system, they were going to be abiding
gydtheir WTO commitments, and we were going to ensure that they

id so.

The second set of arguments—which you may not remember, but

we remember—is that this would inevitably lead to openness in the
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Chinese society as well as the Chinese economy and would lead to
democracy. These arguments were made very, very strongly. And
what this Commission has found out through its assessment of
what happened in the SARS crisis and the post-SARS crisis is that
democratic reforms and openness in democracy have not occurred
in China. Indeed, the regime seems to be going in the opposite di-
rection.

So we're worried about that because, if were going to create a
very, very powerful China and the assumption was that it’s going
to be a China that’s based on openness not only in the economy but
in its society and political system, there is some reason for worry.
So we’re worried about is the extent of China’s commitment to the
rule of law.

Now, as Mr. Preeg points out, in the manipulation, which is the
subject of this hearing, manipulation of currency, we regard that
as a violation of their commitments under the IMF and the WTO,
and that is the rule-of-law process that we were told is going to be
enforced.

Now, today, we don’t have any representative from the Treasury
Department here. We've invited the Treasury Department for the
last month, tried to get somebody from Treasury to testify.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Two months.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Two months. And guess what? Nobody
was available, but they would send up their testimony.

Well, we just found out that the testimony was written and ap-
proved in Treasury, sent to the White House, and the White House
decided, no, we’re not sending that testimony up. So the White
House is sitting on the testimony. They say we’ll get it in a couple
of weeks.

So the question we have then is: What is the commitment of the
Administration to addressing this question of manipulation of cur-
rency as an example, an important example of enforcing the rule
of law? This country prides itself on honoring its commitments, and
we have a history with the Chinese not really complying with the
commitments they have signed with us.

The WTO was going to be different, and we’re hoping that it will
be different. But in order to enforce those commitments, we need
to be tough. The Administration has got to go along with the Con-
gress in being tough and enforcing those commitments. Otherwise,
where are we going here?

You’re going to get that kind of emotional reaction from the
Members of Congress who see us being used and a system that is
being rigged against us.

But let me ask all the panelists this question: Do you agree that
this currency manipulation is, in fact, a serious matter and con-
forms in many respects to 19th century mercantilism? This is cer-
tainly not globalization. This is mercantilist behavior. This is not
the kind of thing that you’re talking about. And if the Chinese are
practicing mercantilism and we are promoting a rule of law, what
is it that is going to bring the Chinese into conformity to these
agreements? If they do not you will certainly see an acceleration
of the emotion you saw this morning in the political arena, and it
will overwhelm everything.

That’s my view. Can you comment on that?
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Dr. RoAcH. Well, I take your warning and your concerns very se-
riously. It is certainly clear to me, even before I came here this
morning, that this is a very serious issue. Now, having heard the
debate firsthand, I go back with even deeper concern than I had
before I left from New York this morning. This is a very, very wor-
risome development.

Ernie Preeg makes the case for currency manipulation being a
violation of IMF and WTO/GATT provisions, and he clearly knows
a lot more about that than I do. But what is important to under-
stand is he did not make the case to single out China. He made
that case in the context of anyone who is manipulating their cur-
rency, especially wealthy countries like Japan who has intervened
massively in excess of $80 billion so far this year to prevent its cur-
rency from reaching fair value. So the risk is again in singling out
China, a very poor country, especially compared to Japan, that this
is scapegoatism at work. It is not what we as the world’s greatest
nation should feel proud of.

In terms of the WTO promises that we think we had when we
got into this agreement with China, I think you have got your fin-
ger on exactly the remedy. If there is a consensus of opinion in the
body politic in the United States that China is in violation of the
spirit under which it has joined WTO, then the remedy is simple.
This was the whole idea of WTO accession from China—to bind
them to a rules-based system that we have control over. So if you
believe there is a violation, call them up on charges and make
them be accountable for their actions. That is what this system is
all about. We just can’t complain about it. If we feel strongly that
they are violating international standards that they have agreed to,
then let’s make them explain their case, defend their case, and sub-
ject them to the penalties if in fact they are in violation. I happen
to think they are not. There are estimates in written my testimony
that look at the value of renminbi relative to a basket of currencies
that China trades with. It does not show anything all that out of
line, nor does China’s trade surplus on an overall basis. These are
the types of issues that need to be debated in establishing the mer-
its of the concerns that are addressed here today.

Again, I just reiterate my basic concern. I hear you. I think the
emotion in Washington is high. It cannot be taken lightly, but it
is up to us as responsible citizens to try to understand that emotion
and deal with it in a way that is not damaging to our country and
to the broader global economy.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Dr. Preeg.

Dr. PREEG. Well, as you may have guessed, I do believe it is a
serious issue and I do believe we should, as we now seem to be
agreeing, we should be calling the other—if in fact we find them
in violation of their commitments, we should say so and do some-
thing about it.

Just a correction though. The assessment of what they are vio-
lating is not on some of these broader measures, but it is very
clearly protracted large-scale intervention in one direction. That is
the direct policy action that pushes the currency down more, and
here it is quite clear.

Now, what the policy background is for, what should happen
next, it goes back to the Omnibus Trade Act of ’88 when the Con-
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gress took the initiative. Currency manipulation is in there. Twice
a year the Secretary of the Treasury has to say, “Has anybody been
manipulating currency?” Consistently, over all the years, they said
a brief statement, “No.” They have never mentioned Japan or
China once in 15 years. I have talked to some of the people writing
these statements. I do not want to get too much into it.

The reason is, first of all, once you say they are in violation, you
have to do something about it. And we finally reached that point,
because they never said it, even Secretary Snow. He has used the
term currency manipulation, but he has never said it is a violation
of IMF Article IV or Article 15. We are coming up in the next re-
port in October, and I think one reason they are probably sitting
on your statement is that they know that people for once are actu-
ally going to pay attention to what he says. Because usually he just
goes—I was there at Senate Banking. I was testifying along with
Secretary O’Neill a year ago, and it was a two-sentence statement
saying, “Oh, we did not find any.” So it is really coming down.

But if he once says, “Yes, we believe they are in violation,” then
he has to push ahead, and then you are going to have real pres-
sure, and I would presume that there would be movement for a lot
of reasons. The protectionists, all the reasons Fred said, that it is
a mutual interest to deal with this issue.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Let me just make one statement, if I
may, Mr. Chairman.

Yes, the new report will be coming in October, and I am hoping
that this hearing will help to generate some interest down there in
getting it done on time.

The last report, have any of you recently read anything by
Kafka? I think they have subcontracted with Kafka to write the ex-
change report, because the last one I have here, July 2002 to De-
cember 2002, quote, “No major trading partners of the United
States manipulated exchange rates.” Okay. So there you have
Kafka.

Dr. PREEG. That is the full analysis called for in the Trade Act,
one sentence.

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. If they were to find that there was ma-
nipulation, then by the law of the Trade Act of 88, the Administra-
tion has got to start negotiations to it.

I think this next report is going to be where the rubber meets
the road, as they say, on this issue.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Before we turn to Commissioner Dreyer,
just let me say I was with the Banking Committee when that pro-
vision was put into the ’88 trade bill. Treasury Under Secretary
Mulford used it a couple times. He identified Taiwan and he identi-
fied Korea, early on, ’89, 90 period. And when he was there, they
were even talking about China in 90, 91 period. But then things
changed and the leadership of the Banking Committee changed.
Senator Gramm became Chairman, it became less important. So
last year was the first time the Committee held a hearing on that
provision in six or seven years. And Chairman Shelby got a com-
mitment out of Snow in a hearing two months ago that Snow
would be back up with that report and testifying on it in October.

Commissioner Dreyer.
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Dr. PREEG. Just in response, I agree with you and there were
early on a couple references to Taiwan, but Taiwan, I did mention
earlier if we were pursuing Taiwan and China evenly on this, I
think it would help the bilateral relationship with China. Let me
just, one sentence. Taiwan is significant, not only because Taiwan
is a long-term manipulator, with foreign exchange holdings, 186
billion now, up 30 billion in the last 12 months. They have a much
smaller economy and so pro rata they are right up there with
China and Japan and they really should be brought into this as
well as South Korea.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Commissioner Dreyer.

Co-Chairman DREYER. Dr. Roach, I totally agree with you when
you say that we need to fix our budget deficit. I am also with you
when you say we, as Americans really should think about saving
more before we complain about others. A third factor which you did
not mention, but which I hope in future testimonies you will, is
that we should fix our educational standards in this country, which
are rotten and abysmal. I am a professor. I have carte blanche to
say this. Increasingly, this mantra of “leave no child behind” means
dumbing down educational standards so that every child can pass,
and this is particularly true in science and technology. This is the
reason that increasingly our high-tech companies import their tal-
ent from China, from Bangalore and from where-have-you.

That said, I beg you to consider that there are some nuances to
some of the other things you said. One of them is that China is a
poor country, and what I see increasingly is that yes and no, in-
creasingly there is a poor China getting relatively poorer in the
hinterland. On the coast you have a wealthy China getting wealthi-
er. It is this China that we need to be concerned about.

China, yes, as you say, basic manufacturing, but it is getting
more high-tech all the time. This Commission has listened to testi-
mony in another venue of Boeing executives who agree that they
will set up a production facility there if the workers are trained,
and the workers are no sooner trained then they decamp and a
whole new set comes in to be trained. This is not quite the way it
was going to work.

Your statement, if we did not buy from China, we would have to
buy from somewhere else, sure. But if we buy from Malaysia and
Indonesia and Philippines, we are not buying from a country that
is developing a high-tech weapons industry with the avowed pur-
pose of beating, quote, “a certain superpower that is technologically
very powerful.” That is a category of one.

I think in your “why are we worried so much about China” you
really must take these other factors into consideration. I suppose
I am barking up the wrong tree when I ask an economist to con-
sider non-economic factors, but nonetheless, once in a while some
of them are relevant.

Dr. RoAcH. Look, I think it is critical for all of us, politicians,
businessmen, economists, to think holistically. So much of what
you just said resonates—especially the point on education in Amer-
ica. I have 6 children that have completed various phases of the
educational system, and 2 of them are in the labor market right
now—looking for work. Believe me, it is not an easy search.
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And economics is not a science. The problem is that we spend a
lot of time on statistics and mathematics and think we have the
answers. Yet the real world is the interplay of economics, politics,
sociology and global forces that are well beyond anything we can
capture in our old models. Unfortunately, we use these old models
to estimate the future when the future is radically different than
any of the history on which these models are built. And that is one
of the challenges of globalization. The issues that you raise are pro-
found and those are the ones that we need to look at. The military
considerations that you raised with respect to China are something
that I leave it up to you—that is your charge. I know nothing about
that. Those are the judgments that you are empowered to make.

But again, the thing that concerns me the most about this
issue—and I just go back to the point I made at the outset—is that
we have a problem in America. It’s a big problem that is coming
to a head right now. As Mr. D’Amato just said, it is the job issue,
and how do we deal with this job issue? The educational point that
you just made has got to be central to the solution because that has
always been our edge. If we lose the edge—investing in human cap-
ital—then the job issues we are facing today are going to get worse.
That is not economics. It’'s common sense.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Do you have time to take—we have two
other Commissioners who have questions for you.

Mr. HALE. T have another conflict, yes, because you said 1 o’clock.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. I know that. So, Dr. Hale

Dr. PREEG. I will answer for him.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Thank you again for being with us.

Commissioner Robinson, did you have something?

Chairman ROBINSON. If I might, as a follow-on to Commissioner
Dreyer’s remarks, I've reflected on some of the frustration that you
heard on the part of Members earlier in these proceedings. Like
our Commission, their mandate is to explore not just the economic
and financial dimensions or layers of the bilateral relationship, but
the strategic, political and military side of the equation. We heard
a number of thoughtful remedies and perhaps even some over sim-
plification of the nature of the challenges we face here, both on the
trade and currency fronts.

But it is looking at that integrated picture which most Members
have to cope with. As Commissioner Dreyer was talking about, we
see a robust offensive military buildup, one of the world’s leading
proliferators of weapons of mass destruction, ballistic missiles, a
human rights abuser, ICBMs targeted at the United States now
with ever more accurate mobile varieties, either already deployed
or in the pipeline, not to mention the threatening of Taiwan’s au-
tonomy and way of life as a fairly ongoing event.

So we are also coping with what China is doing with its large
export surpluses, with the funds that it is attracting through FDI
and that inordinate sucking up of the East Asian percentage of
FDI. Another example is what kind of Chinese entities are coming
to our capital markets to attract funds and what are they doing
with those funds?

So there are a number of issues here that differentiate China in
important ways from Malaysia, Singapore and our other trading
partners. Of course that is something I know you are aware of, but
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I just wanted you to also understand that some of what you have
heard today is I think conditioned by this broader look at the bilat-
eral relationship.

Dr. RoAcH. I am in favor of the broad look. That is what I am
all about. I would say just two things in response.

One, if we do have these deeper, broader issues with China and
it is critical for us that we remain engaged with China rather than
put up walls that cause frictions and distancing. I go to China
quite frequently. At first they are hard to talk to. After a while you
get to know them and they are very engaging. It is critical for us
to stay engaged. Protectionism is the opposite of that.

I think that the frustration that I heard the most this morning
pertains to jobs. The frustration that you heard the most from me
is that we are not reorganizing our role in creating the so-called
China problem. I hold our fiscal authorities responsible right now
for the most reckless outcome of U.S. economic policy that I have
seen in my career. Their unwillingness to accept one iota of respon-
sibility for their own actions is hugely frustrating to me as someone
who has spent his professional life in financial markets as a prac-
ticing macro economist. So there are frustrations on all sides of this
issue.

I congratulate you for giving me the chance to vent some of my
own frustrations as well.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. We have one more Commissioner who has
a question for this panel. Commissioner Becker.

Commissioner BECKER. Thank you. I don’t want to beat a dead
horse on this thing. It has been covered a little bit, rather broadly
in a way. I would like to go back to what Commissioner Reinsch
had asked about why don’t the Chinese buy from us, imports from
the United States.

I am concerned about why we cannot sell anything to the Chi-
nese, any industry in the United States. Virtually all the small
manufacturing has been shut down and either moved to Mexico or
China. Usually they move to Mexico on a border, then they move
to China. When one of them goes, then the others have to either
go out of business or follow suit because people cannot work for
nothing. You cannot compete against 25 cent an hour labor. When
we talked about—Congressman Levin talked about democracy as
part of the PNTR, the move in that direction. You do not have
workplace democracy. Workers cannot share in the wealth they
helped create.

The bottom line is the hysteria that you talked about here in
Washington on having to do something about the job loss and the
plants leaving America, it is not just in Washington. I can take you
to Ohio and Indiana and Pennsylvania and Detroit, Michigan, vir-
tually anywhere. Now it has spread beyond the industrial belts in
the United States. It is into the high-tech areas. I just do not know
how this is going to level out and how you see this leveling out.
If they don’t raise wages in China, and I don’t mean by pennies—
the differential that showed up in some of the testimony here was
$26 for manufacturing, high-paying manufacturing jobs, $26 an
hour versus 25 cents an hour in China.

We are concerned about what this leaves us here. If we continue
down this road with nothing being done, we are going to lose all
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the manufacturing industry, all of it. So people are grabbing. Right
now they are grabbing on the exchange rate as something that may
be like a magic bullet and turn things around. I think it is much
deeper than that.

You mentioned the multinationals, the large corporations being
secure, like the General Electrics and the General Motors. The fact
of the matter is what they do is they have called all their suppliers
together and have told them they are going to relocate into China
so that they can lower the price of the product that they buy. I
mean this 1s truly a race to the bottom, that we are looking for
something in there that is going to give some help in that. I do not
see that.

If you have anything that you would add to that or comment on
that, I would appreciate hearing.

Dr. RoAcH. I understand your concerns, and I will just say a cou-
ple things. I do go to China a lot. I take the opportunity to walk
into stores, not just the glitzy ones, but some of the smaller grocery
stores off the beaten path. One of the things that first of shocked
me that there is an awful lot of U.S. branded products sitting on
shelves. The Chinese are poor people. I take your point on the two
Chinas, but I do not share the idea that on the coastal region you
have a wealthy, vibrant Chinese economy. You have a Chinese
economy that is moving ahead, but they are many, many multiples
behind what I would consider to be a wealthy, prosperous nation.

They have an appetite for American products. They have an ap-
petite for American services. You go down the streets of Beijing,
and you see that increasingly—whether it is fast food franchises or
retail product. They have American brands on them. Whether that
retail product is made in our textile mills in South Carolina, as
Senator Graham would love it to be, is a fair question. But he has
been losing textile jobs there for a lot longer than China has been
a factor in the global economy. Is that China’s fault?

You keep coming back to this question about where we are going
as a nation. Then you also tell me that you are just charged with
dealing with U.S.-China bilateral. Where we are going as a nation
transcends the U.S.-China bilateral relationship. That is the con-
text. Those are the questions that need to be addressed. I totally
agree with that. But I also think if you just stick within your nar-
row guidelines here, you can come up with answers that could be
inconsistent with the bigger picture. That does worry me a lot.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Ernie.

Dr. PREEG. Well, to respond slightly broader, my impression this
morning, which has been a very exciting morning for me, listening
to everyone, is that there is this growing protectionist sentiment,
movement because of the imbalance and all the problems with jobs.
This is getting linked together with the exchange rate, the currency
relationship. And free trade, I believe that we can both benefit by
having open trade. We should keep pushing China to open up its
system as they become more competitive. But I really do see that
the currency relationship in the last few years has become a major
issue that could trigger the protectionist backlash very easily.

And what the challenge is—and I am just going to refer briefly
to a paragraph—in case you don’t all get to read to page 7—Dbe-
cause this relationship between ever more technology intensive
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manufacturing engine for growth and the trade balance is clearly
evident in economic strategy throughout East Asia, including
China. And this trade surplus, plus a net inflow of investment, it
has been called mercantilism over the years, and as I say, in cur-
rent East Asian form it can be more pointedly described as quote,
“advanced technology mercantilism,” and China is the outstanding
practitioner.

We just have to say that it is a mutual interest to have open
trade investment. Comparative advantage means certain areas you
are going to be more competitive, you have lower labor costs, but
it has to be balanced, it has to be by rules that are in fact free
trade rules. Right now the rule that is most out of line, if 40 per-
cent is even roughly correct of their currency, that this is a major
issue and if we do not do something about it there will be very like-
lydthe protectionist backlash we have heard so much about here
today.

Co-Chairman MULLOY. Let me just thank you both very much for
being with us today. I would invite you both if you have further
tﬁoughts about a strategy we ought to be doing, we will welcome
them.

We are going to be back here at 2 o’clock with a panel of Dr.
Peter Nolan of Cambridge University, Dr. Steinfeld of MIT, and
Kate Walsh of Stimson Center, to talk about China’s effort to build
its own industrial and technological base, and then at 4 o’clock a
panel on the impact on the U.S. economy.

Thank you very much.

[Whereupon, at 2:00 p.m., the luncheon session concluded, the
afternoon session to convene at 2:05 p.m., this same day.]

AFTERNOON SESSION, 2:05 P.M.
THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2003

REMARKS OF CHAIRMAN ROGER W. ROBINSON, JR.

Chairman ROBINSON. Excuse me. If everyone will take their
seats, we'll begin the afternoon session, please. Thank you.

Okay. We'd like to begin, if you don’t mind. We had a number
of Congressional Members, seven in all this morning. For those of
you who had an opportunity to attend the morning session, it was
a very animated session and I think had immense value-added to
the subject we’re here to discuss.

Today the Commission holds the third in a series of hearings
during the 108th Congress. Our first two hearings in June and
July focused on the important topics of media control in China, spe-
cifically how it played out during the SARS outbreak and on Chi-
na’s behavior with respect to the critical issue of the proliferation
of weapons of mass destruction and ballistic missiles, with a focus
%n China’s pivotal role in the ongoing nuclear crisis with North

orea.

Today we will be examining issues on the economic security side
of our portfolio, namely, China’s exchange rate policies and indus-
trial and investment strategies and their impact on the U.S. econ-
omy, particularly our manufacturing sector. These issues are cur-
rently receiving substantial media attention but have been in our
mandate and on our research agenda from the first year of the
Commission’s establishment.
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Indeed, in quoting one of the findings from our first annual re-
port to the Congress in July 2002, “Continuing trade surpluses,
vast investment inflows, and very high foreign exchange reserves
are evidence that China is manipulating its currency by holding
down its value, thereby gaining an unfair trade advantage that in-
creases the U.S. trade deficit.”

Our first-year report went on to state, “The Commission believes
China’s currency manipulation needs to be addressed and that the
Chinese should be pressured to change their exchange rate policy
and eliminate capital controls. Moreover, while it is not presently
in China’s interest to use its very large dollar reserves as an eco-
nomic weapon against the United States, in the future this possi-
bility exists.”

In America, people in varying capacities—business, labor, aca-
demia, the media, and government—have come to better under-
stand the almost tectonic economic forces now shaping the U.S.-
China economic relationship. With increasing sophistication, China
has become a manufacturing powerhouse. Its central and local gov-
ernment policies have supported development of key industrial sec-
tors.

In the 1990s, China became embedded in what has become a
global supply chain for many traded products and saw its share of
global trade in manufactured goods triple.

In the meantime, there is increasing unease in the United States
over the declining share of manufacturing output and employment
in our overall economy, and this is happening while China’s cur-
rency, the yuan or RMB, remains pegged to the U.S. dollar at a
rate set by government fiat some nine years ago.

What are the causes and effects here? What are the key link-
ages? Are there steps the U.S. should be pursuing to remedy these
challenging and in some cases debilitating circumstances?

Today we'll be exploring these and other important questions
with a distinguished group of panelists. We're particularly honored
that we have been joined this morning by several Members of the
House and Senate from both sides of the aisle who contributed sub-
stantially to this hearing by giving us their valuable perspectives
on these crucial matters. The Congress is profoundly concerned
about the issues we're discussing today, and a number of Members,
as you know, have introduced thoughtful legislation, including that
of Congressman English, who appeared before us as the first wit-
ness this morning, to address these concerns. We look forward to
working with Congress as it moves forward in its consideration of
appropriate remedies.

REMARKS OF VICE CHAIRMAN C. RICHARD D’AMATO

Vice Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I welcome this panel this afternoon.

By way of a little background, the creation of this Commission
in the winter of 2000 during the debate over giving China most-
favored-nation status on a permanent basis was predicated on sev-
eral important assertions.

First, the Clinton Administration stated that granting such sta-
tus and admission to the WTO was predicated on the assumption
that China would play by the rules of the international trade game
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and certainly not promote permanent unfair subsidies or mer-
cantilist practices.

Second, the National Security Adviser as well as the President
stated repeatedly during that debate that it was in America’s,
quote, “vital national security interests for China to be granted
these important trade concessions.”

A third assertion was that increased economic growth and higher
standards of living in China would lead to democratic reforms,
democratic political reforms, and the eventual extinction of the
widespread tyranny practiced by the Chinese communist regime.

So far, these assertions do not appear to be playing themselves
out. China still has a poor record of honoring its promises and
agreements, and this hearing focuses on one of the most important
and glaring: artificially pegged exchange rates calculated to give
China across-the-board highly unfair advantages vis-a-vis its so-
called trading partners.

Second, this Commission has been created to examine the ques-
tions of the national security implications of the policies and prac-
tices by both the Clinton and Bush Administrations vis-a-vis China
on trade. The large-scale and increasing sophistication of U.S. re-
sources being transferred, with increasingly important high-tech-
nology components is adversely affecting our basic economic foun-
dation from a strategic perspective.

Third, democratic reforms have been squelched in China. After
some brief flicker of hope in connection with the SARS health cri-
sis, openness is still treated as an enemy of the governing regime,
and the regime still maintains a widespread gulag against its own
people.

Modern Chinese mercantilist practices have resulted in pouring
billions of dollars of U.S. investment, technology, and manufac-
turing resources unfairly into China. This distorted transfer of eco-
nomic treasure to Beijing is now very large, and Congress has told
this Commission to evaluate the implications of it for U.S. national
security and identify what tools we have to address this issue.

Given these realities, the question today is what actions Con-
gress should promote to push these trends in healthier directions
for our own national interest. We look forward to your testimony.

Mr. Chairman.

REMARKS OF COMMISSIONER PATRICK A. MULLOY
HEARING CO-CHAIR

Co-Chairman MuLLOY. Thank you. I wanted to note that we did
have seven Members of the Congress here with us earlier today.
They appeared as their schedule permitted, and we had a very
good discussion. I should note that Senator Olympia Snowe, the
Chairman of the Senate Small Business Committee—we had the
Chairman of the House Small Business Committee. She has sub-
mitted a statement for the record, which we will put in the record,
and we will get that around to all Commissioners.

I think our witnesses should know that here is what we’re wres-
tling with. We were asked to look at the impact of the inter-
relationship between our economy and that of China and the im-
pact on the standard of living of our people and our national secu-
rity interest.
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Now, there has been tremendous erosion, at least many think, of
our manufacturing sector, and that’s the context that we’re trying
to look at this issue. Secretary of Commerce Evans spoke in Pitts-
burgh two weeks ago, and he said this: “The President believes
that our economic and national security require a stable, robust
manufacturing sector that produces sophisticated goods here in the
United States.” That’s President Bush’s statement. The Adminis-
tration is putting together a manufacturing initiative.

So your help in helping us understand the Chinese economy, the
multinational investments in China, and your interpretation of
what this means will be very helpful for us in going forward and
trying to tell the Congress what we found out in our investigation
and what we ought to be doing. And so any policy recommenda-
tions that you have, as well as your analysis, would be most helpful
to us.

Thank you again for being here with us.

Dr. Dreyer.

REMARKS OF COMMISSIONER JUNE TEUFEL DREYER
HEARING CO-CHAIR

Co-Chairman DREYER. Welcome to the afternoon session of our
hearing. For those of you who were not here this morning, we had
a three-part focus: one, the value of the Chinese yuan, AKA the
renminbi; second, China’s exchange rate policies; and, third, what
policy options does the United States Government have in response
to dissatisfaction with the way those first two are going.

This afternoon, we have somewhat of a shift of focus. We want
to look first at the dynamics of China’s strategies for attracting for-
eign investment and channeling both domestic and foreign re-
sources into key industries and technologies.

A number of observers of China believe that this topic and not
just the exchange rate question per se is the key to assessing the
overall impact of China’s economic policies and development on the
U.S. economy.

We'll be considering the factors behind the remarkable growth of
manufacturing capacity in China, now dubbed “the workshop of the
world” or “the shop floor of the world” for the 21st century and
what are the implications of this for the United States economy.

One obvious driving force is the global search for low-cost produc-
tion of quality goods, and this has led increased domestic and for-
eign investment in expanding such production capacity in China.
The determining factor here is often low-cost labor, but other fac-
tors in this growth and capacity can stem from the Chinese govern-
ment’s own industrial policies, for example, its designation of cer-
tain pillar industries as well as policy and financial support for key
manufacturing infrastructure, science and technology, and research
and development projects.

Other factors may be more related to globalization in general
than to China in particular, such as the way transnational corpora-
tions operate globally integrated manufacturing and distribution
networks with China, as an important node embedded in an overall
web of production.

Another key factor at work here is the speed with which Chinese
manufacturing and research and development are moving up the
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value chain to encompass more technologically advanced products
and research.

We'’re going to hear today from three expert witnesses who have
studied the development of China’s export-oriented manufacturing
segments and its connection to the global supply chain.

Professor Peter Nolan of Cambridge University has written ex-
tensively about China’s connection to what he calls the global busi-
ness revolution.

Professor Ed Steinfeld of MIT has researched China’s industrial
policy and done case studies of large Chinese firms’ performance in
the domestic and global marketplace.

And Kate Walsh, Senior Associate of the Stimson Center, has
done field research and written a monograph on the growth of for-
eign-funded research and development activities in China.

I just happen to have a copy here of Foreign High Tech R&D in
China, a very interesting book worth your while. I do not get a cut
on how many copies Kate sells of this. And I commend Ms. Walsh
for being not only extremely informative but, an aberration for aca-
demics, you are very concise as well.

Now, each panelist comes at this question of China’s industrial
and investment priorities and strategies from a somewhat different
angle, and I expect we're going to get a good multidimensional pic-
ture from the collective testimony and the follow-on discussion.

The second panel and final panel of the afternoon, we're going to
hear testimony from four witnesses, also with differing perspec-
tives, in this case on the question of how the U.S. economy is being
affected by China’s exchange rate and its industrial and investment
policies and trends.

Our panelists in the second panel will be Frank Vargo of the Na-
tional Association of Manufacturers; Thea Lee of the AFL-CIO;
Paul Craig Roberts, who chairs the Institute for Political Economy,
and he was formerly an Assistant Secretary of Treasury; and Wil-
lard Workman of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce.

I anticipate that your collective statements and follow-up dia-
logue with us will reveal a broad range of views and different em-
phases on policy prescriptions.

My fellow Co-Chair here has shoved timing regulations that I am
supposed to let you know about. Each of you is going to be given
seven minutes to present his or her oral remarks, and we’re going
to ask each member of the panel to present testimony before begin-
ning the question-and-answer period.

Now, our ground rules, lady and gentlemen, are that we are
given five minutes for each round of questions, and this includes
the time not only that we ask but the answer that the panelist
gives. And so you are, I supposed, allowed to yell “unfair” if some
Commissioner takes up time with a four-minute question.

I'm going to have a light here, and it will go from green to yellow
when there are two minutes left, and it will flash red at the end
of the allotted time and also make a very annoying noise.

Okay. Without further ado, Professor Nolan, could we start with
your testimony?
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PANEL II: CHINA’S INVESTMENT STRATEGIES

STATEMENT OF PETER HUGH NOLAN, Ph.D.
SINYI PROFESSOR OF CHINESE MANAGEMENT
UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE

Dr. NoLAN. I've tried in my paper to suggest that understanding
this question is best viewed in a wider context of China’s system
fragility, and I think China’s political economy is at a critical and
very difficult stage in its evolution. Most fundamental is the ques-
tion of poverty and the fact that it has 800 million people who
earn, on average, about 85 cents a day; 150 million migrants who
flock into the cities and earn between $1 and $2 per day; and all—
everything about China’s political economy, a huge amount of
things flow from this reality.

In addition, China is at a crisis in terms of its environmental sit-
uation. The party itself is in what can only be described as a crisis,
self-recognized and attempting to be self-diagnosed. The financial
system is also, in everybody’s view, in an acute state of crisis.

In addition, China is confronted by an extremely difficult situa-
tion in international relations, and its relationship with a much
stronger global power, the United States. This clearly stands at the
very front of every consideration in China’s politics and economics.

However, on top of these very difficult questions of system fra-
gility lies the issue of China’s relationship to the global business
revolution. China undoubtedly has intense ambitions to create a
group of globally competitive large corporations—that has existed
for the last 20 years and that still exists today. That ambition ex-
tends not just from the center but also down to the provinces and
to the cities and even to lower levels. And China has learnt and
studied the experience of past countries that successfully initiated
and carried out industrial policies, including Hamiltonian policies
in the United States through to the policies of Japan and Korea in
more recent times.

We can say China has been very successful in various ways. It
absorbs huge amounts of FDI, as we know, which is one of the
main reasons we're here today. There’s been a massive rise in the
value of low-value-added manufactured goods, a huge rise in out-
put, and China can point with pride to 11 firms in the Fortune 500.

However, I believe it’s essential for the Commission to truly un-
derstand, apart from these headline figures, the nature of the com-
petitive capability of China’s corporations in order to reach appro-
priate policy conclusions.

First of all, all of China’s Fortune 500 firms are highly protected
state-owned enterprises, mostly with huge manning levels. They
are not globally competitive firms. China has just one firm in the
world’s top 600 firms by R&D expenditure. It is a minnow in terms
of the generation of R&D knowledge on a global scale.

If we look at China’s high-technology sectors—semiconductors, IT
hardware, aerospace, pharmaceuticals—China’s firms lag a long
way behind the global leaders, and in this regard we can say that
China’s catch-up compares very unfavorably with that which was
achieved by Japan in a very different epoch, both politically and
economically, in the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s.

In mid-technology sectors, also, the so-called pillar industries—
like autos; sectors such as earthmoving equipment, which are less
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widely studied; lifts, which people hardly think about—Ilifts for tall
buildings, but they’re very important; medical equipment; large
power stations, over 600 megawatts—in these sectors, also, there
is an immense gap between China’s indigenous firms and those
that are successful in the global environment.

Even in low-technology sectors, it’s not as simple as it might
seem. Everybody imagines that a simple product like a soft drink
or a simple product like coal is naturally an area in which China
can excel. But there are high-valued-added sectors in even the coal
industry and, of course, simple consumer goods have behind them
immensely capable and long-developed global brands. And in these
sectors, China also is far behind the global leaders.

So we can say, why has China’s industrial policy faced such dif-
ficulties? Why can we say that in many senses it has not suc-
ceeded? There are many internal questions which I shall not dis-
cuss at this point in this brief presentation, but concentrate instead
on the reality, the extraordinary reality that is so challenging for
us all, for me as an Irish-origin British citizen standing in the mid-
dle of it, and for the United States, and for China. And I think it’s
useful to not be a part of either civilization or culture.

The reality is China has joined the global economy at a stage in
which concentration of business power has never, ever been great-
er, and that is the challenge for everybody. This period has seen
an explosive merger and acquisition, the period in which China
was thinking about joining the WTO. During my own studies in the
course of the China Big Business Program, it was amazing. Every
few months something explosive happened in the course of our ini-
tial studies involving both Chinese and Western firms.

This period has seen the full flowering of competitive concentra-
tion. There is almost a universal rule; the top four, five, or six
firms account for 50 to 70 percent of global markets: aerospace,
autos, pharmaceuticals, power equipment, IT hardware, software,
ice cream, tobacco, beer, soft drinks. The list goes on and on and
on.
In our studies in China and our policy discussions, a common ob-
servation was if we can’t win and tackle the global systems integra-
tors, at least we can compete further down the value chain. And
my answer to the Chinese in these discussions was think very care-
fully about what the nature of the global value chain is.

We have identified a process that we call the cascade effect
whereby concentration amongst first-tier systems integrators—in
autos, aerospace, soft drinks, other sectors—flows like water down
the hill over the companies that are below it, and they force them
to concentrate, to meet their needs on a global basis in industry
after industry after industry.

So, for example, in our discussion with the aerospace industry,
the people said, well, where in the value chain can we sit? And we
said, well, at the moment it’s pretty difficult because you can’t com-
pete with GE, Pratt & Whitney, and Rolls Royce because they con-
trol 100 percent of the aircraft engine market, and that’s the first
tier of the value chain. And you can go further into the first tier
of the value chain in aerospace.

In automobiles, you may not be able to compete with VW or Ford
or General Motors or Toyota, but you can compete with whom?
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With Bosch, with Denso, with Valev, with Visteon, with Delphi?
These are giant, immensely capable corporations that have now
concentrated whole segments of the vehicle under their control and
through their capabilities provide better and cheaper products and
orchestrate the whole value chain. But the challenge for China’s
business thinkers and leaders and politicians is absolutely im-
mense and far beyond what it appears at first sight.

This is an immense challenge, and, of course, all these firms, al-
most without exception, are located in the high-income countries,
have their headquarters there, and a very large fraction of those,
of course, are American, but not exclusively. Many of these are also
Japanese, and a certain proportion are European.

So, in conclusion, in sum, two simple conclusions that I would
suggest. If China wishes its large firms to make progress and catch
up with the global leaders, I can see no way in which it can do it
without some kind of industrial policy. The idea that on the global
level playing field by exposing China to competition spontaneously
large Chinese firms will emerge and compete, I think, on any wide-
spread basis is a fantasy.

Alongside that, there undoubtedly is intense interest, hopes, and
aspirations amongst all sorts of people at every level of the political
system, from the center to the province to the city, to try and build
their own successful firms that can compete, provide employment
and technology for their own people. And I stress, without indus-
trial policy, I cannot see how that can possibly happen on any
widespread basis.

If the WTO rules are really strictly applied—and I'm not an ex-
pert, a lawyer, on WTO rules. But if they were strictly applied, it
seems to me this would lead to a steady, indeed a rapid increase
in the already substantial dominance in many sectors of the mod-
ern high-value-added sector of the Chinese economy—not, of
course, those producing for the myriad of Chinese poor people by
the global giants. And June mentioned China is becoming the
workshop of the world. I prefer to think of the phrase “workshop
for the world.” It is nothing like the workshop of the world of Brit-
ain. Britain produced all the high-technology products of the world.
It supplied the engines to America. It supplied the steel rails to
America. It supplied textile machinery across the world. China
today, their firms are not in the same league in this competition,
but China is the home for many of the world’s global corporations,
not its own corporations as the workshop for the world.

The strict insistence, if successful, of the application with WTO
rules in full I believe will be very likely to contribute to overall sys-
tems instability in China through the impact on unemployment. Al-
ready 40 or 50 million people have lost their jobs in SOEs. And
when one talks about—I've just come back from researching in Ma-
laysia and the Far East—about hollowing out 40 to 50 million peo-
ple in China who've lost their jobs in SOEs surrounded by 800 mil-
lion poor people, it’s a very different environment for hollowing out.
It’s an immense challenge for the Chinese government. They have
their own huge hollowing-out problem despite absorbing the FDI of
the world. It’s very challenging for them, as it is for us.

I think also, finally, the impact on social inequality is likely to
be very, very large. And if this process proceeds too rapidly, then
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one has to wonder whether the social structure is capable of ab-
sorbing this process.

A final, final word. I think the impact on Chinese political con-
sciousness has to be considered. The Chinese people are proud,
have a long history, and if in the full application of the rules of the
WTO in a successful way China’s firms were to lose out in every
significant respect and China was to become, if you like, a depend-
ent economy, albeit one that had lots and lots of industrial manu-
facturing taking place within it, then one should not underestimate
the sense of disappointment, impact on national consciousness, and
that in its turn would also have a contribution to make to system
instability.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Peter Hugh Nolan, Ph.D.
Sinyi Professor of Chinese Management, University of Cambridge

System Fragility, Industrial Policy and China’s International Relations,
With Special Reference to Strategic Industries

1. Introduction

This paper examines the motivation for, and the outcome of China’s industrial
policies in key strategic industries and considers the consequences for China’s rela-
tionship with the high-income countries, especially the USA.

For almost two decades China has implemented a wide range of industrial poli-
cies, with the stated aim of nurturing indigenous “national champions” (as well as
local ones). Despite these policies, China has been unsuccessful in producing a group
of globally competitive large firms. At a comparable stage in its development, Ja-
pan’s industrial policies had nurtured a large troupe of several dozen giant, globally
competitive firms, with global markets, global brands, and leaders of global tech-
nology in their field. They were also in the forefront of global management systems,
having developed an immensely effective structure consisting of an extended supply
chain around the core companies.

China is in the remarkable position of becoming the “workshop of the world,” but
in a quite different sense from that of Britain in the nineteenth century. British
firms were uniquely powerful in the world’s most advanced technologies, exporting
their high technology products across the world. China has become the home to
most of the world’s giant corporations, either producing directly in the country, or
using it as a source of procurement. These firms’ investments have contributed enor-
mously to the progress of production systems within China. However, among suc-
cessful late-comer countries China has become uniquely dependent on global capital
and technology, and production within the production systems of foreign firms. This
new phenomenon is a challenge for policy makers in both China and the high-in-
come countries, especially the USA.

The analysis contained in this paper raises some obvious questions: Should China
abandon industrial policy, or should it pursue it with renewed vigour and in new,
creative ways to meet the unprecedented competitive challenge that face large indig-
enous firms on the global level playing field within the WTO? Is it possible for glob-
al giant firms to build their production systems in China while China itself simulta-
neously nurtures a group of globally competitive large indigenously owned firms?

The dimensions of the policy challenge for both China and the USA are even
greater if we recognise the fragility of China’s political economy within which the
explosive growth of these production systems is taking place. Section 2 of this paper
outlines some of the key aspects of these challenges. The rationality of international
pressure to force China’s compliance with its WTO obligations, to abandon indus-
trial policy, to fully open itself to multinational direct investment, to allow market
forces to determine the exchange rate and permit free movement of capital into and
out of the country, must be considered in relation to this wider environment of polit-
ical economy and the possibility of system collapse.

Section 3 summarises the evidence concerning the competitive capabilities of Chi-
na’s large firms today, shortly after China’s entry to the WTO. It concludes that in
the markets for high value-added goods and services, China does not yet possess
any globally competitive large firms. This is partly due to the internal difficulties
that China faces in implementing industrial policy. However, even more important
is the fact that the competitive environment internationally is quite different from
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that which faced previous late-comer countries. China is rapidly integrating with
the global economy at a time when the concentration of business power among firms
based in the high-income economies has never been greater.

The intense international pressure upon China, especially from the USA, to aban-
don industrial policy needs to be considered in relation to a realistic appraisal of
the dimensions of this challenge and the likely outcome of abandoning industrial
policy. In order to provide a more realistic evaluation of these potential con-
sequences, the Appendix analyses in closer detail the challenges facing China’s na-
tional champions in the critical strategic sectors of aerospace and oil and petro-
cherﬁlic%lgkwhich have themselves formed the object of sustained industrial policy
in the .

2. China at the Crossroads?!

China has achieved remarkable results in its social and economic development
since the process of “reform and opening up” was initiated by Deng Xiaoping over
two decades ago. However, that same process has produced a series of formidable
challenges for the entire system of political economy. One of these is the challenge
of the Global Business Revolution, which is analysed in Section 3. The other prin-
ciple challenges are outlined in this section.

Poverty, Inequality and Social Tension

Behind almost every aspect of China’s development process in the early 21st cen-
tury lies the harsh reality of the “Lewis model” of “economic development with un-
limited supplies of labour” (Lewis, 1954).

China has a huge population of almost 1.3 billion, increasing by over 15 million
each year (SSB, ZTN, 2002). Almost 70 percent of the Chinese population still lives
in the countryside. Employment in agriculture is stagnant, and there are estimated
to be as many as 150 million “surplus” farm workers. As the impact of the WTO
on Chinese agriculture (and on rural township and village enterprises) increases,
pressures on rural employment will intensify. The unavoidable reality is that the
level of rural underemployment will continue to rise rapidly in the early years of
the 21st century. Since the late 1990s, rural real incomes have fallen year upon
year.

Despite the decline in absolute poverty in the early years of China’s rural reforms
(Nolan, 1988), there still are huge numbers of people who are absolutely poor in
terms of international poverty lines. The average per capita income of China’s 800
million rural residents is just US$290 (RMB 2,366), or 80 cents per day (SSB, ZTN,
2002: 343). The massive growth of rural underemployment provides intense incen-
tives for rural-urban migration, and great downward pressure on non-farm wages
in unskilled and low-skilled occupations. By 2002, there were around 150 million
rural residents who worked in the urban areas without permanent urban residence
qualifications. These were predominantly “lumpen” labour, with limited skills. The
rate of pay is the equivalent of roughly US$1-2 per day, which is the price of
“lumpen” migrant labour throughout human history (at today’s prices).

There are estimated to be as many as 48 million people who are without work
as a result of reform in state-owned enterprises. The explosive increase in unem-
ployment has become the “most challenging issue in China’s economic and social de-
velopment” (UNDP, 2000: 58).

Privatisation in China has been characterised by widespread insider dealing and
corruption. A very narrow group of just two to three million people has been able
to “get rich quickly.” It is estimated that that just 0.16 percent of the population
controls 65 percent of the nation’s US$1.5 trillion liquid assets in Mainland bank
deposits (SCMP, 29 March 2003).

By 2002, China’s accumulated stock of FDI had reached around US$450 billion.
This investment is creating clusters of modern businesses in relatively isolated
areas within China’s major cities. These virtual “Treaty Ports” are emerging as
areas with a relatively high degree of de facto autonomy, and form a nucleus of
high-income employment for both Chinese and foreigners, isolated from the sur-
rounding society. A rapidly-growing group of China’s highest income earners live in
isolated, protected compounds.

There has been much discussion about the growth of the Chinese urban “middle
class.” However, the average per capita income of China’s total of 480 million offi-
cially registered urban residents in 2001 was just US$830. If we included the unoffi-
cial urban population of around 150 million migrant workers, then the figure would
be even lower. One recent study estimates that among China’s urban households,
the income of only around 20 million has caught up with the average of the urban

1For a fuller treatment of the issues analysed in this section, see Nolan, 2003.
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households in East Asia’s newly industrialised countries (Qu Hongbin, 2002). In
other words, China’s emerging middle class, those who can afford, for example, to
buy automobiles, is a “besieged” minority among a sea of urban poor people, who
vastly outnumber them. The 21st century meets the eighteenth century at the win-
dow of Starbucks. The vast majority of the urban population are excluded by their
low incomes from Starbucks or Wal-Mart and excluded by armed guards from the
apartment blocks of the new middle class, except where they are employed for do-
mestic service.

Official data show that the Gini coefficient of the urban distribution of income
rose from 0.25 in 1992 to 0.34 in 2001 (SSB, ZTN, 1993 and 2002). However, the
official data do not include most of the 150 million migrants who are not registered
as part of the urban population. The data also greatly underestimate the income of
the highest segments of the native Chinese urban population. Nor do they include
the high incomes of the fast-growing population of foreign employees of the multi-
nationals. If all these factors are taken into consideration, the distribution of Chi-
na’s urban incomes is likely to be among the most unequal in the world.

The reform process has entered a period in which there is an increased danger
of social instability compared with the past twenty years of reform. There has been
extensive discussion among policy makers about how to ensure that during this
tense period, China is sustained as a “steady and harmonious society.” China’s lead-
ers have a declared vision of an “everlasting and peaceful nation.” There has been
intense debate about how to build a dynamic economy, while “laying the ground-
work for a market that is moral and fair.”

The Environment

China’s environmental deterioration reflects the intense pressure of a huge and
growing population upon China’s already fragile natural environment, with the im-
pact hugely reinforced by high-speed industrial growth in a poor country with lim-
ited resources at the disposal of the state.

Around 38 percent of the entire country is affected by serious soil erosion (UNDP,
2000: 70). The area of desert is increasing at around 2,500 square kilometres per
year, equivalent to the area of a medium-sized country. In the past four decades,
almost one-half of China’s forests have been destroyed. There is a serious and wors-
ening shortage of fresh water. “Rampant water pollution” is making the situation
worse. The flow of the Yellow River has reduced to a mere trickle for long periods
of the year (see Wang Xiaoqgiang, et al, 1999). China is experiencing the “most se-
vere, large-scale and profound ecological destruction in [its] history” (UNDP, 2000:
70).
China’s explosive industrial growth has led to high-speed expansion of energy-in-
tensive industries. By the late 1990s, these accounted for around 36 percent of the
country’s manufacturing value-added, compared with just 23 percent in Japan and
21 percent in the USA (Nolan, 2001a: 700). China has a relatively limited amount
of oil and gas, but has huge reserves of coal. By the mid-1990s, China had overtaken
the USA as the world’s biggest coal producer, accounting for almost thirty percent
of global output. Coal provides a low-cost way to meet a large fraction of China’s
booming demands, accounting for around 70 percent of the country’s primary energy
used in electricity generation (Nolan, 2001a: 699). The ways in which coal is mined,
transported and used as a fuel approximates that of the advanced economies before
the 1950s. This has caused a huge burden of air pollution.

The implications of China’s mode of industrialisation are of the greatest impor-
tance for the physical sustainability of life across the whole planet. China already
is the world’s second largest producer of “greenhouse gases” after the USA (World
Bank, 2001: 292-3). If it follows the U.S. free market approach to industrialisation,
allowing, for example, complete dominance to the automobile, then the prospects for
the world are terrifying. If China’s 1.4 billion people were to sustain their current
growth path and at some point catch up with today’s USA level of per capita income,
and were to use similar technologies, China’s use of commercial energy and emission
of carbon dioxide would be one-fifth greater than those of the entire world today—
a terrifying prospect.

Party and State

Party. The Chinese Communist Party, with 64 million members, is at the heart
of the Chinese state. Leadership by the Communist Party is the foundation of Chi-
nese modernization. However, the Party faces a rising tide of corruption.

In his speech on 1 July 2001 to celebrate the 80th anniversary of the founding
of the Chinese Communist Party Zemin emphasized the possibility of complete sys-
tem disintegration: “To rally the 1.2 billion and more people behind the socialist
modernization drive in a large and multi-ethnic developing country like China, it
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is a must to have the strong leadership of the Communist Party of China. Other-
wise, the country will ... not only fail to realize its modernization but also sink into
a chaotic abyss.” He pointed out the serious danger of loss of power by the Party
if the corrosive trends were not checked: “[W]e must be strict in Party discipline.
We should have a deeper understanding of the loss of political power by some Com-
munist Parties in the world that had long been ruling parties and learn a lesson
from them.” He emphasised that combating corruption and building clean govern-
ment was vital for the survival of the Party. The level at which Party members were
investigated and brought to trial for corruption rose to include many in high posi-
tions, some of whom were sentenced to death.

The reason that so many cases of corruption have come to light, and been written
about in the Chinese press, is precisely the fact that the Chinese leadership is fully
aware of the deep threat that it poses, and is trying hard to do something about
it. Offical reports to the National People’s Congress in early 2003 declared that in
the previous five years, the war against corruption had been substantially stepped
up, with a total of almost 13,000 prosecutions of government officials (SCMP, 11
March 2003).

Reforming the Party itself is a massive task. “Regime improvement” rather than
“regime change” is the only logical way to proceed in order to meet the needs of Chi-
na’s vast population. The massive effort to try to clean up the country’s financial
institutions after the Asian Financial Crisis demonstrated the continued and im-
proved effectiveness of this mighty apparatus. In Guangdong province alone, a vast
clean-up operation involved thousands of Party cadres at every level. They closed
hundreds of local financial institutions, and ensured that their massive obligations
were dealt with in a way that preserved social stability. Such tasks are vital for
the Chinese development effort in the period ahead.

State. China is a vast, poor country with urgent development needs, many of
which can only be met by state action of one sort or another. Huge advances have
been in the technical competence of the Chinese bureaucracy. However, during the
reform period, the state’s budgetary revenue fell from over 31 percent of GDP in
1979 to just 14 percent in 1999 (SSB, ZTN, 2001: 256). This was not only below that
of many developing countries, such as Indonesia and Malaysia, but also below that
of Russia, which is perceived as having experienced “state desertion” during the re-
form period. In this sense, China’s level of “state desertion” during the “transition”
period outstripped even that of Russia, which has “gravely undermined the [Chi-
nese] government’s capacity to promote economic development” (UNDP, 2000: 41).

The state’s greatly weakened fiscal capability has serious implications for social
stability. In order to dampen the impact of large-scale lay-offs, the Chinese govern-
ment has been trying for many years to develop a comprehensive social security sys-
tem. However, such programmes had made very limited progress by the end of the
1990s. While they are being established they require a large infusion of government
funds, but the state’s fiscal weakness made this impossible (UNDP, 2000: 76).

A high degree of responsibility for public action has been devolved to localities,
which now account for around two-thirds of total budgetary expenditure (World
Bank, 2002: 31). They now have responsibility for almost nine-tenths of total budg-
etary expenditure on culture, education and health (World Bank, 2002: 31). Local
governments have increasingly turned to the market to fund welfare provision.

By the end of the 1990s, state budgetary allocations covered just 46 percent of
actual expenditures on education.?2 The increasing use of individual payments to ac-
quire educational services has resulted in a substantial deterioration in the edu-
cational status of the poor. Under the rural people’s communes in the 1970s, around
85 percent of villages had a cooperative medical system, albeit often rudimentary,
but this structure was largely dismantled after de-collectivisation in the early 1980s.
When the agricultural collectives were disbanded in the early 1980s, the financial
basis for risk-sharing was largely eliminated. Today, more than 90 percent of the
rural population are without any coverage from collective risk-pooling schemes. In
1999, the government budget funded just eleven percent of total health expenditure,
while 59 percent came from out-of-pocket payments. These changes have resulted
in highly unequal access to health services.

Finance

China’s participation in the international financial system has been compared to
a boat setting out to sea. What are the prospects for the “weather”? How well con-
structed is the “boat”?

2The information in the paragraph is all from World Bank, 2002.
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What are the prospects for the weather? The concept of free movements of cap-
ital is fundamentally different from that of free trade in goods. Capital flows are
particularly subject to asymmetric information, agency problems, adverse selection
and moral hazard. Keynes (1936: chapter 12) provides the foundation of the modern
critiques of the potentially destabilising effects of uncontrolled financial markets. He
strongly attacked the idea that stock markets and currency markets are efficient,
and based on rational expectations. He famously warned of the negative impact of
speculation, which he likens to gambling: “Speculators may do no harm as bubbles
on a steady stream of enterprise. But the position is serious when enterprise be-
comes the bubble on a whirlpool of speculation. When the capital development of
a country becomes a by-product of the activities of a casino, the job is likely to be
ill-done” (Keynes, 1936: 159).

Keynes’ fears have been amply realised since the 1980s, as controls on capital
movements were liberalised across the developing world. The period has seen an un-
precedented number and intensity of financial crises, affecting radically different
types of economy. These ranged from “small, well-regulated and open” Hong Kong
at one end to huge, state-interventionist, Indonesia at the other. The common factor
was financial liberalisation and asset bubbles provoked by a huge inflow of specula-
tive capital relative to the size of the economy. The bursting of the bubble in each
case had massive social and economic consequences. In the case of Indonesia, this
resulted in “regime-change.” One of the most successful “developmental states” in
the Third World was overthrown in a matter of months from the onset of the Asian
Financial Crisis. China and India, each of which had only limited convertibility of
the national currency, were almost alone among Asian countries in escaping the
worst effects of the Asian Financial Crisis.

China has been well-served by the pragmatic reform philosophy of “groping for
stones to cross the river.” At the end of the 1980s there was intense pressure for
high-speed political reform to precede deepening of economic reform. The USSR’s
collapse provided an object lesson for China. It showed that there were huge dan-
gers in pursuing extensive political reform prior to economic system reform. This re-
ality was quickly understood by everyone in China, and people across the world
(Nolan, 1995). The Asian Financial Crisis provided another deep lesson to China’s
policy makers—the “Financial 4 June.” Financial system reform is the most sen-
sitive and difficult part of the whole process of system change. If mistakes are made
in this area, with its deep roots in everyday lives of the whole population, it threat-
ens the whole socio-political fabric. The Asian Financial Crisis reinforced the need
for China’s policy makers to be incredibly cautious in liberalising capital flows and
moving towards full convertibility of the renminbi.

How strong is the boat? Despite implementing important changes, China’s big
four banks continue to be heavily influenced by government institutions in their
lending decisions. Much of the pressure to continue to make policy loans results
from the intense competitive environment that confronts China’s indigenous large
firms with China’s entry to the WTO (see below). The big four banks continue to
generate huge amounts of non-performing loans (NPLs). Many international experts
believe that the conditions are “ripe for a financial crisis.”

The big four banks face immense difficulties in changing corporate governance
practices. In the late 1990s, the impact of the Asian Financial Crisis on Hong Kong
and neighbouring Guangdong Province helped to bring about the collapse of two
giant local financial institutions, Guangdong International Trust and Investment
Corporation (GITIC) and Guangdong Enterprises (GDE), the flagships of the prov-
ince. The subsequent bankruptcy and restructuring respectively revealed the
shockingly inadequate nature of corporate governance within these two institutions,
which only a few months previously had been held up in international financial ana-
lysts as paragons of financial management. The shock of these events helped to
stimulate a widespread clean-up of both central and local financial institutions. The
“clean-up” itself exposed the depth of the problems that the government faced.

In early 2002, it was revealed that the five bank officials at the BOC branch in
Kaiping city (Guangdong) had stolen the equivalent of around US$500 million. In
its report on the Kaiping scandal, the Chinese financial journal Caijing (5 May
2002) concluded that the Kaiping scandal illuminated the “terrifying complexity and
scale of the challenge facing China”: “Only by drawing a lesson from this bitter ex-
perience and facing reality bravely will the Chinese banking industry be able to
make up for lost time.”

In the past two years, banking officials at the apex of the country’s banking sys-
tem have encountered serious difficulties. Most notable were three of the four “can-
do commanders” hand-picked by Premier Zhu Rongji to lead the country towards
modern, well-run financial institutions. Zhu Xiaohua, former deputy governor of the
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People’s Bank of China and head of management of China’s foreign exchange re-
serves, was arrested and sentenced to fifteen years in prison. Wang Xuebing, for-
merly head, successively, of the China Construction Bank and the Bank of China,
was arrested and dismissed from the Party. He is awaiting trial. Li Fuxiang, also
a former head of the management of the country’s foreign exchange reserves, com-
mitted suicide while under official investigation.

Reform of the country’s financial institutions is being carried out in challenging
circumstances. China’s large financial firms face the prospect of an intense esca-
lation of competition from global financial institutions. Leading financial services
firms, all from the high-income economies, recently have been through a period of
unprecedented merger and acquisition, to take advantage of global markets, and of
economies of scale and scope in respect to research and development, branding,
human resource acquisition, and central procurement (e.g. IT systems). Super-giant
financial services firms, predominantly American, such as Fidelity, Citigroup, JP
Morgan Chase, GE Capital, Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, Merrill Lynch and AIG,
have emerged. Citigroup alone has annual revenues of US$112 billion and profits
of around US$14 billion, many times greater than the entire group of China’s “four
big banks.” They have rapidly acquired dominant positions in the financial markets
of most of Latin America and Eastern Europe. When Citigroup acquired Bannamex,
Mexico’s “national champion” in financial services, the Financial Times commented:
“The acquisition of Bannamex underscored the rapacious appetite of Citigroup for
assets in the developing world.” Citigroup immediately stated: “China is top of our
radar screen.” Experienced U.S. bankers in China believe that is only a matter of
timekbefore the leading global financial institutions take the “cream” of the Chinese
market.

The less that China’s indigenous large financial firms are able to achieve their
own self-reform, the stronger will be the argument made by the global giants to
allow them to “take command of the boat,” as experienced “sailors” who can run the
country’s financial institutions well. Citigroup argues that the big four banks in
China should be “torn apart into small units in order to avoid a financial crisis.”
Undoubtedly this would make it far easier for the global giants to “rout the enemy
one by one” (gege jipo).

International Relations

Maoism comprehensively stressed social equality and the importance of “positive”
freedoms for all social strata. The Communist Party has moved away from the in-
ward-looking anti-capitalist ideology of the Maoist period. However, it is unimagi-
nable that it will embrace a pure free market philosophy, with comprehensive em-
phasis on Hayekian individual “negative” freedoms and a minimal role for the state.
This philosophy achieved a high point in political influence in the USA in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century. However, since the 1960s it has once again
emerged to dominate the U.S. political mainstream. By contrast, China’s leaders are
groping their way towards an ideological “Third Way” between state and market,
which is based on China’s rich historical experience, “using the past to serve the
present” (gu wei jin yong) (Nolan, 2003). In this sense, namely, struggling for the
dominant ideology of the epoch of globalisation, China poses a threat to the current
mainstream of U.S. political thinking. However, it is on common ground with a long
tradition of U.S. political thinking which has emphasised the importance of the
state in enabling the realisation of “positive freedom” for all segments of society
(Foner, 1998).

China’s development policies since the late 1970s have produced a powerful econ-
omy, that is viewed as becoming a serious potential rival for the dominant world
power, the USA, within a relatively short period of time. As we will see in the fol-
lowing sections, China’s industrial firms are still technologically far behind U.S.-
based firms. Those who wish to emphasise the size of the Chinese “challenge” point
to the fact that measured in “purchasing power parity” (PPP) dollars (essentially
using the prices of the USA), China is already the world’s second largest economy,
36 percent larger than Japan, and over one-half the size of the USA (World Bank,
2001: 230-1). However, the PPP figures are highly suspect as a true measure of Chi-
na’s economic might. Using the PPP figures, China uses the same amount of energy
per unit of GDP as the USA itself (Nolan, 2001a: 914), hardly a plausible propo-
sition. Even if one disregards the PPP figures, it is indisputable that, if China main-
tains its high growth rate, at some point it will, indeed, become a serious challenger
to the USA’s dominant position. China’s massive economic potential means that it
will increasingly be a competitor with the USA for access to the world’s major
sources of primary energy and raw materials.

In the above senses, China is viewed by many Americans as a “strategic compet-
itor.” “China’s rise” and its consequences for the USA is the central issue for U.S.
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foreign policy in the twenty-first century. China will be in an immensely vulnerable
position in this relationship for a long time to come.

The USA is the world’s comprehensively dominant military power. The first Gulf
War demonstrated vividly that the USA stood at the centre of the “Revolution in
Military Affairs,” both in terms of the production of the relevant technologies and
the assembly of arms to deliver these technologies in battle. It emphasised the grow-
ing gap between the U.S. and Europe. Successive wars in the former Yugoslavia,
Afghanistan and Iraq have demonstrated that the gap is growing even wider and
will continue to do so as the U.S. military budget rises while that in Europe shrinks.

The USA has made clear its nervousness about China’s growing military capa-
bility. President George W. Bush’s policy statement, “America’s Security Strategy”
(quoted in full in the FT 21 September 2002) warns China: “[A] quarter century
after beginning the process of shedding the worst features of the Communist legacy,
China’s leaders have not yet made the next series of fundamental choices about the
character of their state. In pursuing advanced military capabilities that can threaten
its neighbors in the Asia Pacific region, China is following an outdated path that,
in the end, will hamper its own pursuit of greatness. It is time to reaffirm the essen-
tial role of American military strength. We must build and maintain our defenses
beyond challenge. ... Our forces will be strong enough to dissuade potential adver-
saries from pursuing a military build-up in hopes of surpassing, or equaling, the
power of the U.S.” (emphasis added). As the war against Iraq demonstrates, the
USA’s friends of today can become their enemies tomorrow. The current inter-
national situation is one of the most unstable for a long time. China’s military strat-
egists cannot rule out the possibility that at some point, the object of “regime
change” may even include China.

In the year 2000, the U.S. Congress established the Congressional-Executive Com-
mission on China (CECC) to “monitor China’s compliance with international human
rights standards, encourage the development of the rule of law, establish and main-
tain a list of victims of human rights abuses, and promote bilateral cooperation”
(CECC, 2002). The CECC’s first annual report, in September 2002, was extremely
critical of alleged human rights abuses in China. It made a number of recommenda-
tions to the U.S. Government to expand its activities to identify Chinese human
rights abuses and support the redress of those abuses, especially among migrant
workers and women. Such activities would contribute to increased social and polit-
ical instability at a critical stage in China’s system evolution.

In sum, China faces a fundamentally different position in its international rela-
tions than that which faced Japan, Korea or Taiwan at comparable stages in their
development. Each of these achieved their modern “take-off” as close allies of the
USA in the international struggle against communism, especially the People’s Re-
public of China. The USA tolerated a “developmental state” in each case, which
heavily protected the economy, kept global financial institutions at arms length, and
strongly controlled international financial flows.

The final shape of the USA’s view of how best to “engage” with China is still un-
clear. However, there is a powerful set of interests that believes serious conflict with
China is unavoidable. Henry Kissinger has warned that the hawks in the U.S. Gov-
ernment see China as “a morally flawed inevitable adversary” and believe that the
U.S. should act “not as a strategic partner, but as it treated the Soviet Union during
the cold war, as a rival and a challenge” (quoted in FT' 20 August 2001) (emphasis
added). By distancing itself from the moderating influence of international institu-
tions, including the cautious voices of “Old Europe,” the U.S. constitutes an unpre-
dictable force at the heart of international relations. The increased unpredictability
in the foreign policy of the world’s hegemonic power constitutes a formidable chal-
lenge for China’s own foreign policy.

Conclusion

As China enters the twenty-first century it faces a wide-ranging series of deep
challenges that threaten the entire social, economic and political system. These chal-
lenges arise from both inside and outside the country. It is a period of high-speed
economic and social change. During such periods the potential for political insta-
bility is acute. The Chinese government is working hard to try to increase its risk
management capabilities to meet this challenge.

Due to the number and intensity of the challenges that China faces, there is a
high possibility that at some point a “fire” will break out. It cannot be predicted
where, when, or how. It is highly likely that it will be connected with the financial
system. We have seen that China faces a massive challenge in the financial sector.
During the Asian Financial Crisis, China came close to a major financial and, by
implications, a social and political crisis. Only by bold and effective policy measures
was the country able to survive. With full convertibility of the national currency it
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would be far harder to survive a collapse of confidence by global financial markets
of the kind that has regularly occurred in other developing countries under financial
liberalisation. If the “fire” does not begin with the financial system then it likely
that it will quickly spread into the financial system. If China were to face a finan-
cial crisis of the dimensions of those that have regularly attacked other developing
countries during the epoch of globalisation and liberalisation since the 1980s, it
would be immensely difficult to maintain system stability. The relationship of polit-
ical instability with financial crisis is long-standing. As Karl Marx pointed out in
1853: “Since the commencement of the eighteenth century there has been no serious
revolution in Europe which has not been preceded by a commercial and financial
crisis” (Marx, 1853: 9).

3. China and the Global Business Revolution

China’s Ambitions

China began liberalizing the post-Mao economy in the late 1970s. A consistently
stated goal of China’s industrial policy has been to construct globally powerful com-
panies that can compete on the global level playing field:

In our world today economic competition between nations is in fact between
each nation’s large enterprises and enterprise groups. A nation’s economic might
is concentrated and manifested in the economic power and international competi-
tiveness of its large enterprises and groups. ... Our nation’s position in the inter-
national economic order will be to a large extent determined by the position of our
nation’s large enterprises and groups.

(Wu Banguo, Chinese State Council, August 1998.)

China’s chosen global giant corporations have been supported through a wide
range of national industrial industrial policies, which include: tariffs, which were
gradually reduced during the reform years; non-tariff barriers, including limitations
on access to domestic marketing channels, requirements for technology transfer and
to sub-contract to selected domestic firms as the price for market access; govern-
ment selection of the partners for major international joint ventures; preferential
loans from state banks; privileged access to listings on national and international
stock markets; tax relief; privileged access to land; direct support from R&D from
the government budget; government procurement policy; and government mediated
mergers and acquisitions.

As the reforms have progressed, the Chinese government has made it increasingly
clear that the country intends not only to establish a group of globally competitive
large firms in the manufacturing sector, but also in financial services and tele-
communications. China Mobile and China Unicom, with massive international flota-
tions, as well as China Telecom and China Netcom, were at the forefront of this
process. International flotations of the mainland business of the three leading com-
mercial banks are under intense discussion. The Bank of China’s Hong Kong oper-
ations were floated in 2002. As China entered the WTO, the country’s commitment
to building globally competitive large firms remained undiminished:

The state will encourage big state-owned businesses to become internationally
competitive corporations by listing on domestic and overseas stock market, in-
creasing research and development expenditure, and acquiring other businesses.
The country will develop thirty to fifty large state-owned enterprises in the next five
years through public offerings, mergers and acquisitions, restructuring and co-
operation.

(Bai Rongchun, Director General, Industrial Planning Department, State Eco-
nomic and Trade Commission, July 2001.)

China’s planners carefully studied the industrial policies used by the high-income
economies in their early stages of development. From Britain during the Industrial
Revolution, the U.S. and Continental Europe in the nineteenth century, through to
the East Asian “Tiger” economies of the late twentieth century, almost without ex-
ception, late-industrializing countries used some form of industrial policy to nurture
“national champions” (Nolan, 1995; Chang, 2002). Each of these late-industrialising
countries was able through different methods to nurture a group of globally competi-
tive large firms.

However, the most powerful influence on the thinking of China’s policy makers
was the Japanese experience. During a similar period in Japan’s development, from
the 1950s to the 1970s, Japan’s industrial planners supported the growth of a series
of giant companies that developed into globally powerful firms. In many sectors the
state nurtured just two or three dominant firms that were in an oligopolistic posi-
tion in the domestic market. After two decades of industrial policy, there was a
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whole corps of globally competitive Japanese companies. By the late 1980s, it had
twenty of the largest one hundred corporations in the Fortune 500 list. These com-
panies developed through extensive support from state industrial policies, similar to
those adopted by China forty years later.

As well as continued support for the construction of a “national team” of inter-
nationally competitive firms, local governments at both the provincial and the city
level also are determined to make use of industrial policies to nurture a local
“team.” The best-known Chinese firm internationally is, probably, the consumer
electronics firm, Haier. Apart from the high entrepreneurial capabilities of its CEO,
Zhang Ruiming, its growth owes much to the support given by both the Shandong
provincial government and the Qingdao city government. Shanghai intends that
large local firms such as Shanghai Auto, Shanghai Aerospace, Jinshan Petro-
chemical Company and Baoshan Steel Company, will become global industry lead-
ers. The fact that China has joined the WTO has not dimmed the ambition of local
provincial and city governments to use industrial policy to nurture local champions.
The population of China’s provinces is mostly as large as substantial countries and
the population of most large cities is bigger than city-states such as Singapore or
Hong Kong. The growth of autonomy in devising industrial policies at the level of
the province and the city is a reflection of the weakening capabilities of the central
government and advance in fissiparous tendencies in the Chinese state structure.

China’s Success

In the course of two decades, China’s large enterprises advanced their business
capabilities, undertaking evolutionary institutional changes in key aspects of their
business organisation (Nolan and Wang, 1998). China’s large, state-owned enter-
prises have grown rapidly in terms of value of sales. A group of them has floated
on international stock markets. They have absorbed a great deal of modern tech-
nology. They have learned how to compete in the marketplace. They have substan-
tially upgraded the technical level of their employees. They have learned wide-rang-
ing new managerial skills and gained substantial understanding of international fi-
nancial markets. They have become sought-after partners for multinational compa-
nies. China’s large state-owned enterprises avoided the industrial collapse of the
former USSR. China has become the fastest-growing part of the global industrial
economy.

Under the policies of reform and opening up, China has attracted huge amounts
of foreign direct investment. A “herd” mentality to participate in the “Chinese mir-
acle” developed among global giant corporations. By the year 2002, China had over-
taken the USA as the world’s largest recipient of FDI, with the stock of FDI reach-
ing around US$450 billion. Global corporations now view China as central to their
long-term strategy.

However, despite the evidence of remarkable progress, it is crucially important for
proper policy formulation in the USA to evaluate carefully the extent and nature
of progress in large Chinese firms compared with that of the global leaders.

Benchmarking the Chinese “National Team”

How capable are China’s “national champions” to compete on the “global level
playing field” within the WTO? In the course of the China Big Business Programme,
since the mid-1990s we have tried to answer this question, using detailed case stud-
ies from China’s “national team” in several different sectors, benchmarking them
against the global leaders in the respective sector (Nolan, 2001a and 2001b). So far
these studies have included aerospace, pharmaceuticals, oil and petrochemicals,
power equipment, automobiles and components, steel, consumer electronics, tele-
communications, mining, IT hardware, soft drinks, beer, retail and financial serv-
ices. In each case we have found evidence of intense efforts by Chinese industrial
entrepreneurs and government departments, and highly significant progress in busi-
ness capability. However, in every case we found that deep problems remained. The
micro-level evidence from our case studies suggests that in most key respects, Chi-
?a’s industrial policies have not yet succeeded in building globally competitive large
irms.

At the start of the 21st century, not one of China’s leading enterprises had become
a globally competitive giant corporation, with a global market, a global brand, and
a global procurement system. The Chinese companies included in the Fortune 500
mostly faced huge problems of downsizing. China had no less than five of the top
eleven companies in the Fortune 500 in terms of numbers of employees, a dubious
achievement. All of China’s eleven Fortune 500 companies were either wholly or pre-
dominantly state-owned firms, operating with a high degree of state protection from
international competition. China has just two companies in the FT 500 which ranks
firms by market capitalization. These are CNOOC (China National Offshore Oil
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Company), and China Mobile, each of which operates in a protected domestic envi-
ronment. Moreover, the vast bulk of the high technology IT hardware equipment for
China’s telecoms companies is purchased from the global giants.3 China has only
one company in the world’s top 600 companies by R&D expenditure. China does not
have any representatives in Morgan Stanley Dean Witter’s list of the world’s top
250 “competitive edge” companies. China does not have a single company in Busi-
ness Week’s list of the world’s top 100 brands.

The brutal reality is that after two decades of reform China’s large firms mostly
are still far from being able to compete with the global giants. The gap is especially
marked in the high-technology sectors, including semi-conductors, aerospace, large-
scale power equipment (over 600 MW), IT hardware (especially the high technology
networking equipment sector), and patented pharmaceuticals. For example, in the
critically important high technology sector of semi-conductors, which supplies the
“food” for all other advanced technology industries, China has only negligible capa-
bility. It is estimated that around eighty percent of China’s total consumption of
semi-conductors are imported, and the “domestic” production of semi-conductors is
totally dominated by the local subsidiaries of the global giants. Among the top thirty
suppliers of microchips to the mainland market, there is not one indigenous Chinese
firm (SCMP, 9 September 2003). Moreover, despite intense Chinese government ef-
forts to attract the world’s leading semi-conductor makers to China, most of the
world leaders in the sector are content to export these exceptionally high value
products to China rather than produce within the country.

The gap is marked even in “mid-technology” sectors such as oil and petrochemi-
cals, auto assembly and auto components, large-scale construction and mining
equipment, and elevators for tall buildings. Even in sectors with apparently less ad-
vanced technology, such as steel, beverages, coal, and domestic electrical equipment,
there is a wide gap with leading global companies in the highly branded and/or high
technology, high value-added segments of the market. The challenge is not confined
to the manufacturing sector. China’s four main commercial banks, large accountants
and insurance companies lag far behind the global giants in almost all respects. The
global giants are already well on their way to constructing oligopolistic industrial
structures in the highly branded and high technology parts of the Chinese market
in a wide range of goods and services.

In the two strategic industries of oil and aerospace (see Appendix and Zhang Jin,
2004), China’s national champions lag behind the world’s leading firms. Despite suc-
cess in completing restructuring and flotation within just over one year, PetroChina
and Sinopec are at a disadvantage in terms of the global distribution and quality
of reserves, technology, and financial strength. There remains a deep internal strug-
gle to establish a cohesive corporate culture to integrate their powerful subordinate
companies and establish a truly unified company. In simple measures of revenue
and profit, China’s aerospace companies AVIC 1 and 2 are far behind leading aero-
space sub-systems suppliers such as Honeywell, Pratt & Whitney, and GE engines.
Even taken together, they are minnows compared with system integrators Boeing
and Lockheed Martin. Moreover, they remain highly diversified companies with a
high proportion of revenues coming from non-aviation production.

Why has the result of industrial policy in China been so different from that in
post-war Europe, Korea, Taiwan, or Japan? This was partly due to internal and
partly to external difficulties that were peculiar to China.

Internal Difficulties

Policy inconsistency. As we shall see in the oil and petrochemical industry,
within the same industry, radically different reform policies were pursued at dif-
ferent times. At the same time, completely different policies were pursued in dif-
ferent sectors such as the aerospace, oil and petrochemical industry. For example,
while control was being centralised in the oil and petrochemical industry, AVIC was
being broken up into two separate entities, each of which was even less able than
before to compete with the global giants.

Where is the firm? The foundation of China’s economic reform was to increase
“enterprise” autonomy. The core of most large “enterprises” was a single large pro-
duction unit. This had many benefits, including the development of a strong sense
of corporate ambition at the enterprise level. However, it caused difficulties in the
subsequent attempts to build multi-plant firms with unified central control over in-

3The commoditised, low value-added part of the mobile phone market is being increasingly
penetrated by Chinese consumer electronics firms. However, the global giants (including Nokia,
Motorola, Ericsson, Cisco, Siemens, Alcatel, and Lucent) either through imports or their large
production networks of within China comprehensively dominate the supply of high technology
IT equipment to the Chinese telecoms service industry.
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dividual production units. For example, it involved huge struggle to centralise con-
trol over powerful companies such as Daqing under CNPC and Shanghai Petro-
chemical Corporation under Sinopec.

Impoverished economy. China is still a poor country, with a relatively small
global middle class. In almost all sectors, from power plants to beverages, markets
are highly segmented. Alongside the modern, high value-added, globalized sector,
there is typically a huge, low value-added, commoditized segment, which supplies
goods and services for poor people. A large fraction of domestic demand is for low
price, low value-added products for over one billion peasants, internal migrants and
poor urban residents. Here is a different world of ferocious competition between
myriads of anonymous “perfectly competitive” indigenous firms. Indigenous firms
have to fight a battle on two fronts, on the one hand with global giants in high
value-added products, and on the other hand, with domestic small and medium en-
terprises (SMEs) in low value-added products.

Local protectionism. China has a strong tradition of relatively autonomous local
government. There has been persistent local resistance to cross-regional mergers,
due to fears of downsizing and/or loss of control of a “local asset.”

Inheritance from the planned economy. Unlike the other “late-comer” coun-
tries, China’s large enterprises inherited huge manning levels, which are extremely
hard to reduce without causing social instability. In 2002, CNPC and Sinopec each
still employed around one million people. AVIC 1 and AVIC 2 together employ over
400,000 people, more than twice as many as Boeing and Lockheed Martin do. This
will remain a deep problem for many years.

Incentive to diversify. The inability of China’s emerging large firms to compete
on international markets, plus the fact that they each have a huge workforce, pro-
duced a high incentive for the individual enterprise to diversify. A single large en-
terprise could easily have hundreds of “children” and “grandchildren” subsidiaries
and related companies. For example, AVIC has 116 subordinate enterprises grouped
under 56 “children” enterprises. This gives the “illusion of scale,” but beneath an
apparently large firm there are typically hundreds of uneconomically small firms
and immense problems of corporate governance.

Problems for China’s bureaucracy. China’s bureaucracy lacked the intense na-
tionalist incentive to build large firms successfully that drove Japanese (and Ko-
rean) policy makers. Also, China’s leaders are engaged in an intense drive to root
out corruption from the country’s huge bureaucracy. Corruption undermines the bu-
reaucracy’s ability to lead industrial policy effectively.

Ideological commitment to state ownership. China remained for most of the
reform period committed to state ownership as a goal in its own right, rather than
building powerful corporations by whatever means was suitable. It proved hard to
achieve the separation of government and enterprise that has been advocated for
many years. Even today, the internationally floated former Chinese state-owned en-
terprises are still majority state-owned in all cases, and most domestically listed
firms are still majority state owned. Even the most famous “non-state” firms, such
as Haier in consumer electronics and Legend in computers, have extremely complex
ownership structures, with a substantial degree of state ownership and control.

External Difficulties

China’s attempt to build large globally competitive firms coincided with the most
revolutionary epoch in the world business history, possibly even including the In-
dustrial Revolution. The transformation of global business structures since the
1980s amounted to nothing less than a “business revolution.” This presents a funda-
mental challenge for China’s industrial policy, and amounts to a very different pol-
icy environment from that which faced other late-comer countries in their attempt
to “catch-up.”4

Liberalization of world trade and capital markets. The period since the late
1980s witnessed for the first time the opening up of a truly global market place in
goods, services, capital and skilled labour. The only market which still remains
bound firmly by nationality is the vast sea of unskilled labour. The total stock of
FDI in developing countries rose from $344 billion in 1985 to $2,181 billion in 2001

4For a detailed analysis, see Nolan (2001a), chapter 2, “The challenge of the global business
revolution.”
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(UNCTAD, 2002). China was the main single focus of attention.> The struggle
among the world’s leading firms has deeply penetrated the most developed parts of
the low- and middle-income countries. China is at the centre of this battle.

Explosive M&A and concentration. The period since the 1980s witnessed the
world’s most explosive period of mergers and acquisitions (M&A). The size of the
merger boom of the 1990s eclipses that of any previous epoch. It will leave a long-
lasting imprint on the global business structure. The process of concentration was
most visible at the level of the global system integrators. In sectors as diverse as
large civilian aircraft, military aircraft, integrated oil and petrochemicals, auto-
mobiles, pharmaceuticals, power equipment, semi-conductors, computer systems,
mobile phones, lifts, camera film, electronic games, tobacco, ice cream and soft
drinks, a small number of focused global producers dominates the world market
(Nolan, 2001a, p. 40-42). Competitive capitalism’s inbuilt tendency to concentration
and oligopoly has flowered on a global scale. There appears to be a universal rule
of concentration, namely, that a small number of firms, around three to six, control
around fifty to seventy percent of the total world market, concentrating on high
value-added products in any given sector, while hundreds or thousands of anony-
i{nous, local small- and medium-sized firms battle for the remaining part of the mar-

et.

“Cascade effect.” Not only have the core “systems integrators” experienced an
explosive process of concentration. The deepening interaction between core compa-
nies and supplier companies has created an explosive “cascade” effect that is rapidly
leading to concentration and focus among the first tier suppliers and spilling over
even into second and third tier suppliers. In sector after sector, the “first tier” sup-
pliers are themselves multi-billion dollar companies with “global reach.” For exam-
ple, in the aerospace industry, just three firms produce large jet engines. In the auto
industry, just three firms account for around three-fifths of the entire global market
for tires, and just two firms account for over one-half of the world’s entire supply
of brake systems. In the mining industry, just three firms account for almost the
entire international coal trade, while just two firms account for over one-half of the
global market for large excavation equipment. In the industrial gas industry, just
five firms account for around three-fifths of the global market. In the accountancy
industry, just four firms account for almost all audits conducted among Fortune 500
companies. In banking, just four firms account for almost all investment banking
services for large corporations. In advertising, just three firms account for almost
all advertising services for large corporations. This makes the competitive landscape
even more challenging for firms from developing countries. If they can’t compete as
“systems integrators,” how can they compete with the established giant firms in the
first tier of the global supply chain, or even at lower tiers, where concentration is
also progressing at high speed?

The “external firm.” Through the hugely increased planning function under-
taken by systems integrators, facilitated by recent developments in information
technology, the boundaries of the large corporation have become blurred. Competi-
tive advantage for the systems integrator requires that it must consider the inter-
ests of the whole value chain in order to minimize costs across the whole system.
Far from becoming “hollowed out” and much smaller in scope, the extent of control
exercised by the large firm has enormously increased during the global business rev-
olution. Indeed, one can speak of a new form of “separation of ownership and con-
trol.” In the epoch of the global business revolution, facilitated by advances in IT,
core firms within the value chain exercise tight control over firms across the whole
value chain. Firms that wish to be selected as “aligned” or “partner” suppliers to
the leading systems integrators, must agree to cooperate with the core firms within
the sector in opening their books, planning their new plants, organising their R&D,
planning their production schedules and delivering their products to the core firms.
This is a new form of industrial planning which extends across the boundaries of
formal ownership structures and radically undermines old ideas of the size and na-
ture of the firm.

Dominance of firms based in advanced economies. Firms headquartered in
regions containing a small fraction of the world’s population have comprehensively
dominated the global business revolution (Table 1). The high-income economies con-
tain just 16 percent of the world’s total population. They account for 93 percent of

5 Despite the rapid growth, in 2001, China still accounted for only 18 percent of the total stock
of FDI in developing countries (UNCTAD, 2002), significantly below its share of population.
Latin America’s total stock of FDI in 2001 stood at %693 billion, 75 percent greater than that
of China. Latin America’s population (509 million) is only 41 percent of that of China.
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the world’s total stock market capitalization, 93 percent of Fortune 500 companies,
95 percent of the FT 500 companies, 98 percent of the world’s top 600 companies
by value of R&D spending and 99 percent of the world’s top brands. The USA alone
has with 192 of the Fortune 500 companies, 240 of the FT' 500 companies and 275
of the top 600 companies in terms of R&D expenditure.

Developing countries are massively disadvantaged in the race to compete on the
global level playing field of international big business (Table 1). The whole of the
developing world, containing 84 percent of the world’s population, contains just 37
Fortune 500 companies, 27 FT 500 companies, 15 of Morgan Stanley’s list of the 250
leading “competitive edge” companies, one of the world’s top 100 brands, and just
ten of the world’s top 600 companies by R&D expenditure, of which seven are in
Korea and Taiwan. Across the whole of the rest of the developing world, there are
just three firms in the world’s top 600 firms by R&D spending. There is just one
each in China and Brazil. Most dramatically, there is also just one in Russia, which
built a vast storehouse of high technology under Soviet Communism. These data
vividly illustrates the fantastic inequality in the global distribution of technological
prowess: “Large MNCs are the chief repositories of the world’s stock of knowledge,
and all the screaming in the world will not change this” (Martin Wolf, FT, 17 No-
vember 1999).

Table 1. Dominance of Firms Based in High-Income Countries of the
Global Big Business Revolution

Top 600

Fortune 500 FT 500 companies | Stock mar-

companies | companies by R&D ket cap-
Popu- GNP, 1999 | GNP, 1999 (2003) (2003) spend italization

lation (a) (b) (c) (d) (2002) (1999)
billion | % $b. % $b. % No. % No. % No. % $b. %
HIEs 926 | 16 | 22,921 | 78 | 21,763 | 56 463 93 473 95 590 98 | 33,603 | 93
L/MIEs 4,903 | 84 6,311 | 22 | 17,324 | 44 37 7 27 5 10 2 2,427 7
(e) (€3] (g)

Sources: FT, 28 May 2003; World Bank, 2001: 274-5, and 304-5; Fortune, 28 June 2003; DTI, 2002.
Notes: (a) at prevailing rate of exchange
(b) at PPP dollars
(c) ranked by sales revenue
(d) ranked by market capitalization
(e) of which: Korea = 13, China = 11, Brazil = 4, Russia = 3, Mexico = 2, Taiwan = 1, Singapore = 1,
India = 1, Malaysia = 1
(f) of which: Hong Kong = 9 (of which, Mainland Chinese companies = 2, Brazil = 2, Taiwan = 3, Singa-
pore = 2, Mexico = 1, India = 1, Korea = 4, Saudi Arabia = 3, Russia = 2
(g) of which: Korea = 4, Taiwan = 3, China = 1, Brazil = 1, and Russia = 1.
HIEs = High Income Economies
L/MIEs = Low/Middle Income Economies

Paradox of the big business revolution. The past fifteen years or so has wit-
nessed an unprecedented increase in the degree of global concentration of business
power. However, alongside this has emerged a result that is extremely problematic
from the perspective of traditional mainstream economics. Far from the intensity of
competition weakening as almost all mainstream economists would have predicted,
the period has seen a greatly increased intensity of oligopolistic competition between
giant firms, alongside an increase in the extent of concentration within each sector
and sub-sector. This period saw unprecedented concentrations of expenditure by
giant firms on technical progress through R&D spending, global procurement, mar-
keting, human resource development and on spreading best practice techniques
across the whole value chain. In sector after sector the period witnessed the paradox
of falling prices and improved product quality to meet consumer wants alongside the
intense growth of oligopoly.

Conclusion

China’s rapid move towards “close” integration with the world economy is occur-
ring at a time of revolutionary change in the global business system. Large Chinese
firms are far from ready to compete on the “global level playing field.” This presents
an extreme challenge for China’s industrial strategy. Privatisation of China’s large
enterprises will not be sufficient to make them globally competitive. If China’s firms
cannot generally compete at the level of “system integrator,” it is hard to see either
how in most industries they will be able to compete at the level of first tier supplier.
China’s entry to the WTO greatly reduces the scope for industrial policy. Strict ap-
plication of the rules of the WTO Agreement at every level of Chinese business and
government would drastically limit the state’s actions to support indigenous firms
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in their efforts to “catch-up.” For a substantial period ahead, China would have to
accept that, under the terms of the WTO Agreement, its best hope would be to be
a workshop “for” the rest of the world, housing the production facilities for global
giant firms and the leading parts of their supply chain, headquartered in the high-
income countries, rather than a workshop “of” the world as Britain was in the mid-
nineteenth century.

To devise a strategy to deal with the today’s overwhelming imbalance in business
power requires great skill and leadership ability. China’s leaders at both the na-
tional and local level are trying simultaneously to juggle two contradictory forms of
“industrial policy.” On the one hand, they are trying to encourage multinational in-
vestment by offering a wide range of incentives to produce a “good investment envi-
ronment.” On the other hand, they are trying to nurture local and national “indus-
trial champions.”

China is becoming increasingly “dependent” in the classical sense used by the
Latin American economists in the 1950s (Frank, 1967). In every case, successful
late-comer industrialising countries, from the USA in the late nineteenth century
to South Korea in the late twentieth century, have produced a group of globally
competitive firms. China is the first successful late-comer not to have done so. It
is remarkable that China reached a position in which it had the world’s sixth larg-
est economy ® and was the seventh largest exporter without having a group of inter-
nationally competitive large firms. This is highly significant in the history of eco-
nomic development. Already, over 30 percent of industrial profits, and one-half of
China’s export earnings are generated by foreign-invested firms.” If the “bubble” of
foreign direct investment in China were to burst, it would have serious con-
sequences for the growth path and for the country’s socio-political stability. There
is intense debate at all levels of Chinese society about the significance of this phe-
nomenon. Many popular books and articles draw comparisons with the dependent
nature of Chinese economic development from the mid-nineteenth century until
1949.

This presents a big challenge for China’s policy makers. China faces far greater
global industrial concentration and competition than any previous late-comer coun-
try. Given the drastic inequality in competitive power between its own firms and
the global leaders, China has to find a different strategy from that adopted by other
}_ate-comer countries, if it is to build a substantial group of large globally competitive
irms.

4. Conclusion

U.S. foreign policy played an important role in the collapse of the USSR. Through
the instrument of the international institutions, especially the IMF,® the USA also
played an important role in the disastrous choice of policies which plunged post-
communist Russia into prolonged economic crisis, which has been only partially alle-
viated by the current high price of oil (Nolan, 1995). Through intense efforts within
the IMF, U.S. foreign policy played a central role in pushing developing countries
to liberalise the flow of short-term capital. It is now widely recognised, even within
the IMF itself,° that premature liberalisation of financial flows in developing coun-
tries has been extremely harmful to developing countries. In extreme cases, such as
Indonesia, the consequential financial crisis helped precipitate “regime change,” and
socio-economic chaos. Even the paragon of the free market and well-regulated bank-
ing, Hong Kong, was deeply affected by the crisis. It is still far from a full recovery.

The unfolding disaster in Iraq serves as a salutary reminder of the dangers for
U.S. foreign policy of “state collapse,” from whatever cause, in geopolitically signifi-
cant countries.

Despite many appearances to the contrary, China’s political economy is at a crit-
ical and fragile stage in its evolution from the planned economy (Nolan, 2003). Its
own leaders have warned of the dangers of system collapse. This is not an idle
warning to justify continued one-party rule. It reflects a realistic evaluation of the
magnitude of the development challenge that confronts the new leadership. Collapse
of the former USSR was a disaster for the Soviet people, and was harmful to global
prosperity and stability, not least through the effect on terrorism. Financial insta-

61t is the second largest measured in terms of PPP dollars (World Bank, 2001), but as dis-
cussed elsewhere, this greatly overstates the true size of China’s national product.

7In addition, a substantial fraction of China’s huge exports of electrical goods ($85 billion in
2001) were produced by indigenous Chinese firms acting as “Original Equipment Manufacturer”
suppliers to the global giants.

8%“The International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Trade Organisation can be said to
represent “global” interests, and their constituency may be construed as the world. In reality,
however, they are heavily American dominated.” (Brzezinski, 1997: 27).

9 See, for example, Prasad, et al., 2003.
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bility across wide swathes of Latin America, East and Southeast Asia, has also
harmed the prospects for global economic progress and stability. The consequences
of the disintegration of China’s political economy would dwarf these. This outcome
would be disastrous, not just for China, but for the USA also.

There are numerous channels through which such an outcome could be triggered,
most obviously through the financial sector. Intense international pressure in re-
spect to industrial policy is another possible (and closely related) channel. China’s
large firms face a severe challenge in competing on the “global level playing field”
with the world’s leading system integrators in manufacturing, as well as with the
leaders in the first tier of suppliers. The gap in competitive capability is at least
as wide in that part of the service sector which meets the needs of global firms and
the global middle class. Strict application of the WTO rules, enforcing the “global
level playing field,” would make it impossible for most large Chinese firms to com-
pete with the global leaders.

All of the group of large Chinese firms which are groping their way towards be-
coming globally competitive, such as CNPC, Sinopec, CNOOC, Baoshan Steel, China
Telecom, China Netcom, China Unicom, China Mobile, Haier, Huawei, and Legend,
owe a great deal to state industrial policy. Even for these firms, and even with con-
tinued state industrial policy, the long-term outlook is far from certain. The chal-
lenges facing China’s aspiring global giants are far greater than those that faced
any previous late-comer country. Without sustained industrial policy large Chinese
firms will mainly fail in their efforts to catch up with the world’s leading firms. The
example of Brazil, which has a per capita income far above China’s, illustrates viv-
idly the likely outcome in the absence of state industrial policy.1® Over one-half of
Brazil’s leading firms (by sales revenue) are global giants.11

In almost every case, successful late-comer countries, from Britain and the U.S.
in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, to Korea and Japan in the late twen-
tieth centuries, used one form or another of industrial policy to nurture their own
“national team” of large, globally competitive firms. China’s ambitions are no less
intense. To deny China the chance to use the same mechanisms that they them-
selves used is tantamount to “pulling up the ladder” through which they themselves
developed globally competitive firms (Nolan, 1995; and Chang, 2002). Indeed, the at-
tempt by high-income countries to pressurise poor countries, such as China, to give
up national industrial policy, is itself a form of industrial policy, since it amounts
to clearing the ground for competitive success for the dominant firms headquartered
in the high-income countries.

It may be argued that it no longer matters that a firm is “American” or “Chinese,”
because production systems are global. It may be argued that in the long-run large
global firms will become “Sinicised” due to the growing role of Chinese institutional
and individual shareholders and Chinese people working within the global corpora-
tion. It may be argued that in the long-run there is a powerful incentive for high
technology activities to be increasingly located in China, close to the world’s greatest
concentrations of highly qualified, relatively low-paid employees.

However, these are speculations about the long run. Today, under the WTO rules
of the “global level playing field,” China’s large firms face an intense threat. That
competitive threat had already become clear well before China was admitted to the
WTO, since it had already relaxed numerous constraints on FDI in the preceding
years. However, the terms of China’s admission to the WTO, if fully applied, amount
to a comprehensive dismantling of Chinese industrial policy, which greatly intensi-
fies that threat. The pace of growth of FDI by global giant firms in China is accel-
erating sharply.

The pressure from within China to continue with industrial policies arises from
at least three directions. In part it arises due to nationalist feelings. This is far from
unique to China. In the USA in the 1970s and 1980s national sensibilities were in-
flamed by the rapid penetration of Japanese firms. Similar sensibilities are aroused
in China at the explosive intrusion of global giant firms, often U.S.-based, in that
country. It would be naive not to draw attention to the surge of anti-American feel-
ing in developing countries associated with the U.S.-led globalisation process. Such
feelings erupted in China after the bombing of the Chinese embassy in Belgrade.

10Tn fact, Brazil has not totally abandoned industrial policy. Some of its most successful firms,
such as Embraer, CVRD Ambev, and Petrobras, only exist due to past and present actions by
the Brazilian state to nurture “national champions.” Without such policies, the degree of domi-
nance by global giants in Brazil would be even greater than it is.

11 Among the top 25 “Brazilian” firms in 2001, fourteen are global giants, including (in de-
scending order of revenue within Brazil in 2001) Volkswagen (2), GM (3), Fiat (5), Unilever (7),
Bunge Foods (9), Phillip Morris (10), Nestle (11), Ford (12), Cargill (13), Daimler Chrysler (16),
Siemens (20), Ericsson (21), BASF (22), and Motorola (24).
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The incentive to continue with industrial policy arises also due to concern at the
ferocious pressure that unconstrained opening up to global giant firms would exert
upon employment in the Chinese state-owned sector. Explosive growth and domina-
tion of large segments of the modern economy by global giants is already helping
to press forward high-speed downsizing of employment in Chinese state-owned
firms, providing fuel to the fire of social discontent.

The attempt to nurture indigenous national champions is also perceived as impor-
tant by Chinese policy makers because of the implications for national security. The
U.S. Government has long supported the U.S. aerospace industry through industrial
policies for precisely the reason that it is a key to the generation of a wide network
of new technologies. The oil and petrochemical industry has long been regarded as
a “strategic industry” in the USA, with intimate inter-twining of business interests
and international relations in a form of industrial policy the goal of which is to se-
cure primary energy supplies to the USA.12 In industries such as these, which it
considers are of special strategic significance, it is to be expected that Chinese policy
makers will continue to try hard to nurture indigenous national champions.

China’s high-speed move towards becoming the world’s largest manufacturing
base is giving rise to understandable anxiety not only in the USA, but across all
the high-income countries, not least among China’s immediate Far Eastern neigh-
bours, including Taiwan. This has caused ferocious domestic debate about
“hollowing out” of these economies.

In order that there is a balanced policy response towards China’s industrial poli-
cies to nurture its indigenous firms, it is necessary to appreciate the intensity of
the competitive threat that confronts large Chinese firms on the global level playing
field of the WTO. At a meeting in Beijing in the Great Hall of the People in 2001,
one U.S. Representative said: “Competition from abroad will help the Chinese to
raise their level of efficiency, just as the U.S. car industry did in the 1980s in the
face of Japanese competition.” To compare the indigenous Chinese auto industry
today with Chrysler, Ford and GM in the 1980s shows little appreciation of the true
nature of the competitive structure of global big business and the magnitude of the
inequality between large firms from the high-income countries and those from devel-
oping countries.

In order to produce a balanced policy response it is also vital to appreciate the
wider setting of the fragility of the entire system of Chinese political economy. Ex-
cessive pressure upon China to capitulate to U.S. demands to enforce in the strictest
terms the WTO regulations and essentially abandon industrial policy could make a
serious contribution to destabilising the entire system of political economy. This re-
sult would ultimately be in no one’s best interests, either in China or in the USA.

In sum, given the immense imbalance in global business power, especially in high
technology sectors, it is easy to understand why China might wish to continue to
support indigenous firms through various measures of industrial policy at both the
national and the local level. If these measures were, indeed, to be implemented suc-
cessfully, then they might contribute to global peace and prosperity by helping to
stabilise China’s political economy.

APPENDIX: CATCH-UP IN CHINA’S STRATEGIC INDUSTRIES
Al. Oil and Petrochemicals

The Global Setting

Crude oil and natural gas remain central to global political economy. However,
the regional distribution of world oil and gas reserves, production and consumption
are highly uneven. This is of special importance for global political economy. China
is poorly endowed with oil and gas. Its share of the world oil and gas reserves
amount to only 2.3 percent and 0.9 percent respectively (BP, 2001). In 2000, China
was the third largest oil consuming country after the United States and Japan.
After 1993, China became a net crude oil importer. Oil imports in 2000 was equiva-
lent to 31 percent of China’s total oil consumption.

At the end of the 1990s, among the world top 25 oil companies ranked by oper-
ating performance, fourteen (fifteen if Petrobras is included) 13 were state-owned na-
tional oil companies (NOCs), all based in developing countries (Petroleum Intel-
ligence Weekly, 18 December, 2000). These NOCs own the majority of the world oil
and gas reserves and are the world’s largest oil producers. However, they are rel-

12See, for example, the discussions of oil, U.S. energy security and U.S. foreign policy in
Brzezinski, 1997, and Yergin, 1991.
13 Petrobras (Brazil) is partially privatized.
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atively weak in downstream refining and marketing. There have been no cross-bor-
der mergers among the NOCs.

(i) Mergers and Acquisitions

Extensive privatisation of the oil and petrochemical industry opened up new op-
portunities for mergers and acquisitions in both the advanced and developing coun-
tries. In the late 1990s, a frenzy of consolidation began to sweep through the global
oil majors. This fundamentally changed the competitive landscape in the industry.
The mergers and acquisitions include BP’s trans-Atlantic merger with Amoco and
its takeover of Atlantic Richfield Company (Arco), securing BP’s position as one of
the top “big three” western oil companies; Exxon’s merger with Mobile, the new
company created overtaking Royal Dutch/Shell as the largest western oil company;
the merger between TotalFina, created through French Total’s takeover of the Bel-
gian PetroFina, and EIf Aquitaine; the merger between Chevron and Texaco. The
consolidation process accelerated among the mid-sized integrated oil and petro-
chemical companies. The merger between Conoco and Phillips in 2001 created the
world’s sixth largest energy company in terms of reserves and production. In Feb-
ruary 2003, BP combined its Sidanco holdings with Tyumen Oil (TNK) for $6.75 bil-
lion, creating Russia’s third largest oil and gas company, together with Alfa Group
and Access-Renova (AAR). Only two months later, Russia’s largest oil producer, the
Yukos Oil Company, took over Sibneft, the fifth Russian oil company for $13 billion.
The new company YukosSibneft became the world’s fifth largest publicly traded oil
company in terms of production. At 2.4 million barrels of oil a day, the new company
ranks behind Exxon Mobil, Royal Dutch/Shell, BP and Chevron Texaco. In August
2003, BP agreed to purchase a quarter of Slavneft for $1.35 billion. If realised, the
deal will position BP as the world’s second largest publicly traded oil and gas pro-
ducer, ahead of Royal Dutch/Shell (FT, 2 August 2003).

The Middle East, the Caspian Region, and the West Africa are the terrain to bat-
tle for hydrocarbon resources. In March 2003, the Saddam Hussein regime was over-
thrown and the world embarked on a post Iraq War era. Before the War, global ma-
jors called for a “level playing field” for all oil companies in the post-Saddam Iraq.
The Russian, Italian, French and Chinese oil companies have made deals with Sad-
dam Hussein’s government, amounting to $38 billion.14

(ii) The “Cascade” Effect

The consolidation of the global large oil companies promoted the “cascade” effect
in each sector from upstream to downstream: Halliburton and Schlumberger in oil-
field service; ABB Lummus and Amec in petrochemical process technologies and
construction; GE and Rolls-Royce in pipeline pumps; Acelor and POSCO in pipeline
steel. The consolidation of the big oil companies also helped to promote the oil ship-
ping companies to consolidate.

(iii) Repsol-YPF

During the period of large-scale mergers among the western major oil companies,
Spain’s Repsol successfully launched a hostile bid for Argentina’s YPF in 1999. YPF,
Argentina’s “national champion,” was privatised, restructured, and subsequently
listed in the stock exchanges in Buenos Aires and New York in 1993. It was then
the largest publicly traded oil company in Latin America. The deal is highly signifi-
cant in that it is the first time that a large privatised western oil company has
taken over a major, formerly state-owned oil and petrochemical company from a de-
veloping country.

(iv) Competitive Obstacles for Firms Based in Developing Countries

The mergers in the world’s oil and petrochemical industry during the global busi-
ness revolution have created a group of new super-giants that stand in a position
of greatly enhanced competitive advantage compared to potential competitors from
developing countries. These new super-giants greatly increased their size and their
assets base. They have constructed a portfolio of high quality oil and gas reserves
distributed around the world. They are able to invest large amounts in R&D to sus-
tain and extend their technical lead over other companies. They have the resources
to invest in large-scale information technology systems that can better integrate
their extended internal value chain, stretching from exploration to the petrol sta-
tion. They have developed marketing systems with immensely powerful global
brands. They have built massive multi-billion dollar central procurement capabili-
ties with large consequent cost-savings. MSDW estimates that the super-majors,
namely Exxon Mobil, Shell and BP, have a capability to sustain their competitive

14FT, 25 February 2003.



118

edge in the industry for at least fifteen years (MSDW, 1998). Not one integrated oil
and petrochemical firm based in a developing country has been able to challenge
the global giants in this sector. By far the most successful example was YPF. How-
ever, as that case vividly illustrated, privatisation, liberalization and high quality
management, are far from a guarantee of independent survival.
China’s Response

In the same period that the merger frenzy swept through the global major oil
companies, China’s oil and petrochemical industry underwent massive restruc-
turing. After an intense debate on how to reform the oil and petrochemical industry,
the Chinese government created two large integrated oil companies through admin-
istrative measures.

(i) The 2000/1 Flotations of PetroChina, Sinopec and CNOOC

In April 2000, PetroChina, created on the basis of the core businesses of CNPC,
listed in New York and Hong Kong (China) Stock Exchange. The parent company
CNPC held a 90 percent of PetroChina’s total equity. BP became PetroChina’s stra-
tegic investor. In October 2000, Sinopec, established on the core businesses of the
oil Sinopec (now known as Sinopec Group) listed in the stock exchanges in New
York, Hong Kong and London. Sinopec Group controlled 56 percent of Sinopec’s eq-
uity. Exxon Mobile, BP, Shell and ABB Lummus became Sinopec’s strategic inves-
tors. Equity involvement by the global super-majors was crucial to their successful
listing of PetroChina and Sinopec. After the failure in international flotation in
1999, CNOOC Ltd., China’s small/medium-sized offshore producer, was eventually
listed in New York and Hong Kong in February 2001.

(ii) Business Capabilities

¢ Reserves and Output

PetroChina’s oil reserves and production were close to the level of the world’s
leading companies. Sinopec is similar to ENI in terms of oil reserves and oil
production. In terms of gas, PetroChina follows behind the “big three” and
Sinopec lags considerably behind the global majors (Table Al). However, the
two leading Chinese oil companies have a crucial difference with the global gi-
ants in terms of global distribution and the quality of the portfolio of oil and
gas assets. PetroChina and Sinopec produce entirely within China.l5 Daqing, at
which 50 percent of PetroChina’s oil reserves are located, is declining seriously.
About one-third of PetroChina’s gas reserves are in the Tarim Basin in
Xinjiang. It will require advanced technology and involve high transportation
costs to produce and transport the gas from Tarim to the main consuming areas
in the eastern part of the country (xi qi dong shu). Less than five of
PetroChina’s oil fields can make a profit when the oil price is at $10-15 per
barrel, the benchmark price at which the global giants can still make a profit.
* Refining

China’s refining sector needs revamping, upgrading and expanding.
PetroChina and Sinopec between them only have four refineries with capacities
greater than 10 million tons. With more than half of the oil imports from the
Middle East, most of China’s refineries need to add capabilities to process sour
crude oil. In addition, more stringent environmental regulations for refined
products calls for high-conversion refineries. With tariff reduction due to Chi-
na’s terms of admission to the WTO, few of PetroChina’s refineries can survive
in near-open competition with imported refined products.
o Marketing Petroleum Products

Only around one quarter of the service stations owned by each of PetroChina
and Sinopec (Table Al) were franchised retail outlets bearing the companies’
brands, “PetroChina” and “Sinopec” respectively. Neither refined products sup-
plies nor the price of refined products are centrally controlled, nor are accounts
centrally consolidated, even for the network of service stations owned and oper-
ated by the two companies themselves. The two companies’ wholesale entities
have no effective coordination of supply, price or customers. PetroChina and
Sinopec still have a long way to go before they develop the logistics expertise
of the global giants or possess a comparable brand based on the safe and low-
cost operation of a huge logistics system. This is a crucial part of the develop-
ment of the brand for globally competitive oil and petrochemical company.
Moreover, the Chinese companies still must face the challenge of rationalising

15Tn January 2003, PetroChina expressed its intention to make overseas acquisitions to meet
the company’s oil and gas production targets at an annual rate of 5 percent for three years to
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the market. It is estimated that in 2001 the average annual throughput per
service station in China was 750 tonnes/year, only 27 percent of the average for
other ten countries 16 (Yin and Dong, 2002). However, the number of service sta-
tion per hundred kilometres in China was 5.7, compared with the average 2.8
for the other ten countries. In 2002, Sinopec reported the annual throughput
for its service stations was 1,560 tonnes per station, compared with approxi-
mately 2,400 tonnes for ENT’s service stations.
o Petrochemicals

The average annual capacity of petrochemical sites is just 400,000 tonnes,
only half of that of the global majors. Instead of having a small number of
giant, low-cost integrated sites situated in a few concentrated areas, as the glob-
al giants do, these 18 ethylene crackers are located at 16 sites in 15 cities. For
petrochemical production, high value-added products only account for 30 percent
of China’s total production. Imports of petrochemicals account for up to 50 per-
cent of the Chinese market (Sinopec, 2001). With further reductions in import
tariffs since China’s entry to WTO, even these low value-added petrochemical
products face intense competition not only from global majors but also from low-
cost producers in the Middle East and the South East Asia. China’s downstream
sector will experience severe impact after 2006 when China’s phase-out period
for WTO finishes.
e R&D

The technological capabilities of PetroChina and Sinopec both upstream and
downstream are relatively backward. A Chinese industry expert pointed out
that the country’s low level of technological innovation upstream would pose “a
great constraint on the industry’s competitiveness and efficiency” (China Petro-
leum, January 1999). In petrochemical production, backward technology re-
sulted in a high level of energy consumption and a low percentage of chemicals
for further processing and utilisation (Chen, 1998: 29). In terms of R&D spend-
ing, the global majors are able to spend more in absolute terms due to the sheer
size of their sales revenue (Table A2). Moreover, they are able to purchase
greater amounts of the R&D “embedded” in the products of specialist suppliers
to the oil and petrochemical industry.1?

Table Al. Operating Data Compared: Global Majors Versus PetroChina
and Sinopec, 2002

Proved Petro-
reserves Production Refinery 0Oil chemical
through- | product | produc- Service
0Oil Gas 0il Gas put sales tion station
Company (bd) | (bef) | (mmboe/d) | (befid) | (mmb/d) | (mmb/d) (mmt) number
Exxon Mobil 12.6 | 55,718 2.5 10.5 5.5 7.8 26.9% 42,000
Royal Dutch/Shell 10.1 | 53,438 2.4 9.4 4.1 7.4 21.4% 46,000
BP 7.8 | 45,844 2.0 8.7 3.1 6.6 27.0 30,000
TotalFinaElf 7.2 | 21,575 1.6 4.5 2.3 3.2 16.47 16,600
Chevron Texaco 8.7 | 19,335 1.9 4.4 2.1 3.9 — 20,400
ENI 3.8 | 18,629 0.9 3.1 0.65 1.0 — 10,700
Repsol YPF 2.0 | 18,205 0.58 2.6 1.2 1.0 3.5 6,600
PetroChina 11.0 | 38,817 2.1 1.7 1.6 1.1 3.5 13,000
Sinopec 3.3 3,329 0.74 0.49 2.1 14 10.5 28,000
CNOOC Ltd. 1.4 3,548 0.3 0.27 — — — —

Note: *Sales 1 Capacity
bb = billion barrels, bef = billion cubic metres, mmboe/d = million barrels of oil equivalent per day, bef/d
= billion cubic feet per day, mmb/d = million barrels per day, mmt/y = million barrels per year, mmt =

million ton

nes

Sources: Compiled from company reports

16 They are the USA, UK, Germany, France, Italy, Switzerland, Japan, Canada, Mexico, and

Singapore.

17For example, Schlumberger spends more on R&D than Shell (£324 million compared with
£313 million), while Haliburton spends more than ENI (£160 million compared with £146 mil-

lion) (DTI, 2000:

54).
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(iii) Financial Performance

e Revenue. Their sales revenue places PetroChina and Sinopec alongside the
leading second tier of global oil and petrochemical companies, but far short
of the industry leaders, Exxon Mobil, Shell and BP. Even the combined rev-
enue of PetroChina, Sinopec and CNOOC at $71.9 billion is less than that of
Chevron Texaco (Table A2).

e Profit. In 2002, the combined net profits of PetroChina and Sinopec were
$7.6 billion, just 36 percent of the combined net profits of the top two global
giants, Exxon Mobil and Shell (Table A2). Profits per worker at PetroChina
and Sinopec are minuscule compared to those at the global oil giants. CNOOC
is a “lean” company and its profit per employee significantly exceeds even
that of the industry leader Exxon Mobil. However, the Chinese companies are
still operating in a protected situation. Moreover, the Chinese companies have
huge demands on their profits. For example, they have to finance their own
downsizing but also that of their parent companies, which still have huge
workforces (Table A2).

e Market Capitalisation. If one assumed that the whole company was floated,
then at the share price as of 4 January 2001, the market capitalisation of
PetroChina and Sinopec would be $47 billion and $19 billion respectively,
only a fraction of the $251 billion for Exxon Mobil, $166 billion for Royal
Dutch/Shell and $160 billion for BP (Table A2). Of course this greatly over-
states the true market capitalisation of Chinese floated companies, since the
value of the non-traded shares is typically considerably below that of the trad-
ed shares.!® The low level of operational efficiency and the high level of un-
certainty in their performance after China’s accession to the WTO are serious
concerns among industry experts and analysts.

Table A2. Financial Indicators Compared: Global Majors Vs